



UN Integration and Humanitarian Space

An Independent Study Commissioned by the UN Integration Steering Group

Victoria Metcalfe, Alison Giffen and Samir Elhawary

December 2011

About the authors

Victoria Metcalfe is a Research Fellow in the Humanitarian Policy Group, where she leads research and public affairs projects on civil—military coordination, protection of civilians and forced displacement.

Alison Giffen is a Research Fellow and the Deputy Director of the Future of Peace Operations Program at the Stimson Center in Washington DC. She is responsible for leading the Program's efforts to increase global preparedness to prevent and respond to violence against civilians in war-torn societies.

Samir Elhawary is a Research Fellow in HPG, researching the evolving role of humanitarian action in conflict-affected emergencies, with a particular focus on the interface between humanitarianism and politics.



STIMSSN

Humanitarian Policy Group Overseas Development Institute 111 Westminster Bridge Road London SE1 7JD United Kingdom

Tel: +44(0) 20 7922 0300 Fax: +44(0) 20 7922 0399 Website: www.odi.org.uk/hpg Email: hpgadmin@odi.org.uk Stimson Center 1111 19th St., NW, 12th Washington DC 20036 United States

Tel: (+1) 202 223 5956 Fax: (+1) 202 238 9604 www.stimson.org

© Overseas Development Institute, 2011

Readers are encouraged to quote or reproduce materials from this publication but, as copyright holders, ODI requests due acknowledgement and a copy of the publication. This and other HPG Reports are available from www.odi.org.uk/hpg.

Contents

Acknowledgements	iii
Acronyms	V
Executive summary	1
Chapter 1 Introduction	5
1.1 Structure of the report	5
1.2 Methodology 1.3 Terminology	5 6
Chapter 2 UN integration: concept and policy	9
2.1 Origins and introduction (1990s)	9
2.2 Articulating the policy and early implementation (1998–2004)	9
2.3 Review, revision and context-driven implementation (2005–2011)	10
Chapter 3 UN integration in practice	13
3.1 Understanding of the concept and policy	13
3.2 Implementation of the concept and policy	16
Chapter 4 The impact of UN integration arrangements on humanitarian space	25
4.1 Security of humanitarian workers	25
4.2 Humanitarian access	28
4.3 Engagement with non-state armed actors	30
4.4 Perceptions of humanitarian actors	32
4.5 Humanitarian advocacy	34
Chapter 5 Contextual factors impacting on humanitarian space	39
5.1 Conflict and the political environment	39
5.2 The historical role and mandate of the UN	41
5.3 Challenges related to the humanitarian system	42
Chapter 6 Conclusions and recommendations	45
6.1 Conclusions	45
6.2 Recommendations	49
Bibliography	53
Annex 1 Secretary-General Decision No. 2008/24 – Integration	57
Annex 2 Terms of Reference	61

i

Acknowledgements

The research team would like to thank the numerous individuals and institutions that provided background research, insights and resources to this study. The engagement of stakeholders at every stage of the research was evidence of the high level of interest in and commitment to the issues explored in this study.

Thanks to the members of the UN Integration Steering Group at principals and working levels for their consistent and constructive engagement throughout the course of this study. The authors are also grateful to the individuals, departments and agencies at the UN that facilitated field visits to Afghanistan, the Democratic Republic of Congo (DRC) and Kenya, and trips to Geneva and New York. Thanks too to the many individuals who participated in interviews for this study, and to the Inter-Agency Standing Committee (IASC), the International Council of Voluntary Agencies (ICVA) and Interaction for organising consultations with their members on the draft of the report.

The authors would also like to recognise the significant time and resources that the management team at the Department of Political Affairs (DPA), Department for Peacekeeping Operations (DPKO) and the Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs (OCHA) invested in the study.

The authors would also like to thank colleagues in the Humanitarian Policy Group (HPG) and the Stimson Center Future of Peace Operations Program for their support: at HPG, Matthew Foley, Ellen Martin, Sara Pantuliano, Simone Haysom, Ashley Jackson and Judith Kunert; and at Stimson, Guy Hammond, Nicole Dieker, Rebecca Wallace, Ellen Laipson, Cheryl Ramp and Elizabeth VanDerWoude, and a number of Stimson interns.

Finally, the study would not have been possible without the financial contributions of the Permanent Mission of Denmark to the United Nations, OCHA's Policy Planning and Analysis Section and DPA's Policy and Mediation Division. Thanks also to HPG donors for their support for background research and the completion of the literature review that served as a foundation for the study.

Acronyms

ACBAR Agency Coordinating Body for Afghan Relief

AMIS African Union Mission in Sudan

AMISOM African Union Mission in Somalia

ANSO Afghan NGO Safety Office **ASC** Area Security Coordinator

ASMT Area Security Management Teams

BONUCA United Nations Peacebuilding Office in the Central African Republic

BINUCA United Nations Integrated Peacebuilding Office in the Central African Republic

CAP Consolidated Appeals Process

CAR Central African Republic

CHAP Common Humanitarian Action Plan
CHD Centre for Humanitarian Dialogue
CIMIC UN Civil-Military Coordination

CNDP Congrès national pour la défense du peuple **DDR** Disarmament, demobilisation and reintegration

DFS Department of Field Support

DHA Department for Humanitarian Affairs

DO Designated Official

DOCO Development Operations Coordination Office

DPA Department of Political Affairs

DPKO Department for Peacekeeping Operations

DRC Democratic Republic of Congo

DSRSG/RC/HC Deputy Special Representative of the Secretary-General/Resident Coordinator/

Humanitarian Coordinator

ECHA Executive Committee on Humanitarian Affairs

ERC Emergency Relief Coordinator

FARDC Forces Armées de la République Démocratique du Congo

FDLR Forces démocratiques de libération du Rwanda

HCT Humanitarian Country Team
 HOC Humanitarian Operation Centre
 HRR Humanitarian Response Review
 IASC Inter-Agency Standing Committee

ICG International Crisis Group

ICRC International Committee of the Red Cross

ICU Islamic Courts Union (Somalia)
IDP Internally displaced person

IFRC International Federation of the Red Cross

IHL International Humanitarian Law

IMPP Integrated Missions Planning Process

IMTF Integrated Mission Task Force

IO Integrated Office

ISAF International Security Assistance Force (Afghanistan)

ISF Integrated Strategic Framework

ISG United Nations Integration Steering Group

ISSSS International Security and Stabilisation Support Strategy

JAPU Joint Analysis and Policy Unit
JMAC Joint Mission Analysis Centre

JOC Joint Operation Centre
JPU Joint Planning Unit

LRA Lord's Resistance Army (Uganda)

MACCA Mine Action Coordination Center of Afghanistan

MINURCAT United Nations Mission in the Central African Republic and Chad

MONUC United Nations Organisation Mission in the DRC

MONUSCO United Nations Organisation Stabilisation Mission in DRC

MOSS Minimum Operating Security Standards

NRC Norwegian Refugee Council

OCHA Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs

ONUMOZ United Nations Operation in Mozambique

ONUSAL United Nations Observer Mission in El Salvador

PRT Provisional Reconstruction Team

RCO United Nations Resident Coordinators Office

RR Resident Representative

RSG Representative of the Secretary-General

SF Strategic Framework

SG Secretary-General of the United Nations

SLA Sudan Liberation Army
SLS Security Level System

SMT Security Management Team

SMG-P Senior Management Group Protection

SMG-PP Senior Management Group Protection Provincial

SPG Senior Policy Group

SRSG Special Representative of the Secretary-General

STAREC Stabilisation and Reconstruction Plan for War-Affected Areas

TAM Technical Assessment Mission

TFG Transitional Federal Government (Somalia)

UNAMA United Nations Assistance Mission in Afghanistan
UNAMID African Union/United Nations Mission in Darfur

UNCT United Nations Country Team

UNDAFUnited Nations Development Assistance FrameworkUNDSSUnited Nations Department of Safety and Security

UNHAS United Nations Humanitarian Air Service

UNHCR Office of the UN High Commissioner for Refugees

UNICEF United Nations Children's Fund
UNMIH United Nations Mission in Haiti
UNMIL United Nations Mission in Liberia
UNMIS United Nations Mission in Sudan

UNOSOM United Nations Operation in Somalia

UNPOS United Nations Political Office for SomaliaUNSOA United Nations Support Office for AMISOM

UNTAC United Nations Transitional Authority in Cambodia

UNTAG United Nations Transitions Assistance Group (Namibia)

Executive summary

The benefits and risks of UN integration for humanitarian space have been intensely debated for many years. Some UN humanitarian staff, and many staff in non-UN humanitarian organisations, remain deeply sceptical that UN integration can benefit humanitarian action. Many NGOs are opposed to UN integration on principle, arguing that integration arrangements blur the distinction between humanitarian, military and political action, subordinate humanitarian priorities to political prerogatives and therefore place humanitarian action at significant risk. Conversely, many in the UN political and peacekeeping community stress the need for enhanced coherence and highlight the positive experiences of UN integration and the significant progress made in policy development and practice in recent years.

Against this background, this independent study was commissioned by the UN Integration Steering Group (ISG) to explore the impact of UN integration arrangements on humanitarian space and make recommendations towards the improved management of this impact. This study focused on three main case studies (Afghanistan, the Democratic Republic of Congo and Somalia), complemented by a desk review of the Central African Republic, Darfur (Sudan) and Liberia.

The study found that, despite reforms to the policy of integration over the last decade, the debate remains polarised and stakeholders — including UN departments, funds, agencies and programmes — should redouble their efforts to promote greater awareness and consistent implementation of policy provisions that seek to ensure that UN integration arrangements protect humanitarian space. They should also do much more to build confidence across the political, peacekeeping and humanitarian communities to help ensure that the potential benefits of UN integration for humanitarian operations are maximised, and the risks minimised.

Evolution and implementation of UN integration

The concept of 'integration' is not new in the UN system. Various efforts to achieve greater coherence within the UN predate the formal introduction of the term 'integration' in 1997. The concept has evolved, however, into a formal policy aimed at 'maximiz[ing] the individual and collective impact of the UN's response, concentrating on those activities required to consolidate peace' (UN, 2008). The policy is now applicable to all conflict and post-conflict settings where the UN has a Country Team and a multi-dimensional peacekeeping operation or country-specific political mission/office. Current policy provisions also seek to address concerns about the potential impact of UN integration on humanitarian space, specifying that integrated arrangements 'should take full

account of recognized humanitarian principles, allow for the protection of humanitarian space, and facilitate effective humanitarian coordination with all humanitarian actors'. Recent policy decisions not only seek to prevent or mitigate potential negative impacts of integration arrangements on humanitarian space, but also to offer advantages, stating that 'an integrated approach and integration arrangements can yield significant benefits for humanitarian operations' (UN, 2008).

Another change in policy that sought in part to address humanitarian concerns was a greater emphasis on the strategic elements of integration, which include a shared vision of the UN's strategic objectives; closely aligned or integrated planning; a set of agreed results, timelines and responsibility for the delivery of tasks critical to consolidating peace; and agreed mechanisms for monitoring and evaluation among UN actors. As outlined in current policy and guidance, the country-level arrangements created to support these strategic elements should be determined by the context.

Despite these developments, the research team found that the concept of UN integration remains poorly understood amongst UN and non-UN staff and has been inconsistently applied in practice, including with respect to the provisions on humanitarian space. These deficiencies stem from a general lack of awareness on the part of some UN and non-UN staff of the content of the policy; limited ownership by some UN agency and Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs (OCHA) staff of the policy more broadly; limited understanding amongst some Department for Peacekeeping Operations (DPKO) and Department of Political Affairs (DPA) staff of the operational relevance of humanitarian principles; and a lack of transparency in decision-making processes and of accountability for noncompliance with the policy, including as it relates to humanitarian space. These factors have contributed to a climate of mistrust and negativity, and have entrenched the positions of supporters and detractors of UN integration.

The impact of UN integration arrangements on humanitarian space

Drawing on field and desk research, this study assessed the impact of UN integration arrangements on five areas of humanitarian space as outlined in the terms of reference developed by the ISG: humanitarian worker security, access, engagement with non-state armed actors, perceptions of humanitarian actors and humanitarian advocacy. Whilst the study discusses each of these five areas separately, they are closely inter-connected; impact in one area affects the other areas.

The research findings indicate that UN integration arrangements have had both positive and negative impacts on these five areas. There are also differences in impact, both positive and negative, for UN humanitarian actors (UN agencies and OCHA), and for non-UN humanitarian actors.

Security of humanitarian workers

The contexts reviewed for this study are among the most threatening places in the world for humanitarian workers. Security incidents affect UN agencies and NGOs, international and, especially, national staff. Violence against humanitarian workers has various and often overlapping economic, criminal and political causes. Individual and organisational factors, such as the behaviour and nationality of individual staff, the quality of humanitarian programming and the source of donor funding, are also key factors determining the risk to humanitarian workers.

The research team found no clear evidence of a direct link between UN integration arrangements and attacks on humanitarian workers in the contexts reviewed. Nonetheless, most security analysts interviewed for this study agreed that, in particular environments, the association of humanitarian actors with political actors, including the UN, can be an additional risk factor. This association is particularly problematic in highrisk environments, where the UN mission is implementing a political mandate that is opposed or contested by one or more of the conflict parties, and where those parties are willing and able to distinguish between international actors. In these contexts, highly visible integration arrangements may blur this distinction and therefore pose an additional risk to the security of humanitarian personnel.

At the same time, however, integration arrangements can offer some security benefits. In DRC, certain integrated practices and coordination mechanisms have facilitated the use of mission assets to enhance the protection of UN, and to a degree non-UN, humanitarian staff. There are also some positive examples in the various cases reviewed of technical cooperation on security assessments and analysis that have been facilitated by UN integration arrangements.

Humanitarian access

In each of the three main case studies, humanitarian actors face serious challenges to accessing populations in need. Access is limited for a variety of reasons including bureaucratic impediments imposed by governments and non-state armed groups, logistical and infrastructure limitations, high levels of insecurity and restrictive operational security management measures.

In some cases, UN integration arrangements have supported increased access for UN and some non-UN humanitarian actors by facilitating the use of mission logistical assets, the provision of area security by UN peacekeeping forces and the use of UN military escorts. Humanitarian organisations,

however, remain concerned about the use of UN military assets becoming the default option rather than a last resort in conflict contexts. There are also concerns that certain UN integration arrangements are related to a more risk-averse approach in UN operational security management policies and practices, which in turn impacts upon access for UN humanitarian actors and their partners. The extent of this relationship is unclear and requires further exploration.

Engagement with non-state armed actors

Humanitarian engagement by UN actors with non-state armed actors such as the Taliban in Afghanistan, al-Shabaab in Somalia and certain groups in DRC is limited by a number of factors. The principal constraints to humanitarian engagement in these contexts include high levels of violence; the ideology, objectives, tactics and capabilities of non-state armed actors; and legal and bureaucratic restrictions imposed by donor and host governments, including in relation to counterterrorism strategies. Many humanitarian actors, particularly in Afghanistan and DRC, are at a loss as to how to overcome these challenges.

The research team did not find evidence of official UN 'no contact' policies relating to humanitarian engagement in any of the contexts studied, or of a widespread practice of political interference in humanitarian engagement with nonstate armed actors. However, there were some examples where individual UN mission leaders sought to limit such engagement when this was deemed to be detrimental to political objectives at a particular time. In one instance this had an operational impact, as well as undermining the relationship between humanitarian actors and the UN political or peacekeeping mission. There remains confusion within the humanitarian community, including amongst UN humanitarian actors, about the existence of 'no contact' policies in the UN, suggesting a need for greater clarity and leadership from the UN mission and UNCT to reinforce the importance of humanitarian engagement with all conflict parties. The research team did identify instances when UN political or peacekeeping missions shared information and analysis with UN humanitarian actors that helped facilitate engagement with non-state armed actors, but these were relatively limited and more could be done in this regard.

Perceptions of humanitarian actors

The perceptions of humanitarian actors by local stakeholders are extremely dynamic; they vary over time and location and are influenced by a number of factors. These perceptions are important as they determine the extent to which humanitarian actors can gain the acceptance that is necessary to access populations in need. Earning this acceptance is contingent upon acting in a manner that demonstrates that humanitarian organisations are distinct from and do not support political and military actors, and that they will provide assistance only on the basis of need. It also requires investment in good-quality programming,

transparency in identifying beneficiaries and engagement with all appropriate stakeholders.

It was not possible, within the scope of this study, to engage directly with local communities and non-state armed actors; therefore the analysis provided here is informed by the views of national and international respondents interviewed for this study and the secondary information available on this issue. How UN humanitarian actors are perceived is influenced by the manner in which the UN political or peacekeeping component is perceived. Although this is to some extent independent of the existence of UN integration, highly visible integration arrangements in particular contexts may exacerbate the perception that they are associated. It is therefore crucial that UN integration arrangements are determined by an informed understanding of how political, peacekeeping and humanitarian actors are perceived, and what influence UN integration arrangements may have in this regard. Although the issue of perception was a significant concern among both UN and NGO humanitarian staff interviewed for this study, there has been little discussion in UN integration policy fora on how to assess and analyse perceptions for planning and evaluation purposes, or how to otherwise mitigate or overcome tensions between stakeholders on this issue.

Humanitarian advocacy

Advocacy on behalf of populations in need is a key component of any humanitarian response and can be an effective means of achieving positive humanitarian outcomes. In the contexts reviewed for this study, humanitarian advocacy was subject to a range of limitations, including the capacity, ability and willingness of humanitarian and political actors to undertake such efforts, the attitude of host states and non-state armed actors and weaknesses in developing common positions among humanitarian actors.

The research team found that, in a number of contexts, UN integration arrangements have facilitated complementary advocacy efforts amongst UN humanitarian and UN peacekeeping and political actors. In a number of instances, these efforts have been effective in influencing external stakeholders on key issues such as the protection of civilians and humanitarian access. The extent to which the UN mission can be an effective advocate on humanitarian issues is largely determined by its relationship with advocacy targets and its leverage over them. The study also found instances where UN integration arrangements have strengthened the influence of humanitarian considerations in decision-making processes within the UN integrated presence.

There are examples where UN mission leadership or senior staff have sought to limit humanitarian advocacy when it was deemed to have a negative impact on political priorities. There are also instances where the UN mission leaderships' reluctance to augment advocacy by UN humanitarian actors undermined their ability to effectively influence advocacy

targets. These cases mainly related to individual UN mission staff, and the research team did not find evidence of widespread practice in this regard.

Contextual factors affecting humanitarian space

This study also explored some of the key contextual factors affecting humanitarian space in the cases reviewed. Although existing guidance indicates that UN integration arrangements should be appropriate to the context in which they are operating, it does not articulate what variables present in the context should be taken into consideration when assessing how UN integration arrangements could positively or negatively impact upon humanitarian space. The research for this study indicates that the conflict and political environment; the historical role and mandate of the UN; and the way the humanitarian system itself operates are key contextual factors that may impact upon the relationship between UN integration arrangements and humanitarian space.

Conflict and the political environment

The nature and intensity of the conflict, and how this is analysed by the UN system and others, has a bearing on the extent to which UN integration arrangements affect humanitarian space. Moreover, the ability of humanitarian actors to provide assistance and protection to affected populations is highly dependent on the strategies and objectives of state and non-state actors, particularly their willingness or capacity to recognise humanitarian concerns and adhere to international humanitarian and human rights law. Finally, the geopolitical context and the agendas of international political actors can also significantly impact upon humanitarian space. Each of these factors should at minimum be assessed to identify whether and how proposed integrated arrangements could be designed and managed to prevent or mitigate any potential negative impact on humanitarian space, and ideally how they could create opportunities to realise potential benefits.

The historical role and mandate of the UN

The way the UN has acted in various contexts in the past is highly relevant to how it is perceived today, and to the impact of UN integration arrangements on humanitarian space. The UN often has a long history of engagement in the contexts in which it intervenes. This legacy can impact upon levels of acceptance and support from different stakeholders.

UN mission and agency mandates and how they are implemented also have a significant impact on how the UN is perceived by national and international stakeholders, and this needs to be factored into any analysis of UN integration arrangements and humanitarian space. In contexts where the UN mission, and at times UN development agencies, are mandated to support the host state, peace agreements or electoral processes which have limited credibility amongst national stakeholders, UN integration arrangements may make

it more difficult for UN humanitarian actors and their partners to maintain perceptions of neutrality and impartiality.

Challenges related to the humanitarian system

Humanity, neutrality, independence and impartiality are fundamental principles underpinning humanitarian action. In the contexts studied, however, adherence to humanitarian principles has been inconsistent and investment in acceptance strategies has often been weak. There is also a lack of consensus in this sector on how to manage the fact that some humanitarian organisations have multiple mandates (e.g. humanitarian, development and peacebuilding) in ongoing conflict environments. Too often there has been a failure to achieve consensus within the broader humanitarian community on key issues or standards relating to humanitarian principles in these complex environments. Protecting humanitarian space in UN integrated contexts requires greater consistency among humanitarian actors.

Conclusions and recommendations

The study found evidence that UN integration arrangements have had both positive and negative impact on humanitarian space. In order to prevent or mitigate the negative impact and to increase potential benefits to humanitarian space, more efforts are needed to ensure that the context determines the design of UN integration arrangements. This should be facilitated through a more comprehensive and inclusive assessment of the context and the various risk factors prevalent in it, including in relation to humanitarian space.

In high-risk environments, where the UN political or peacekeeping mandate and activities are challenged or contested, violent conflict is likely or ongoing and actors are able and willing to distinguish between humanitarian and other entities, greater caution in establishing certain integrated structures is required. Particular integration arrangements, such as the integration of OCHA into the mission or the creation of the triple-hat DSRSG/RC/HC function, may not be appropriate in such environments, and a more distinct identity for UN humanitarian programming and coordination may be necessary to ensure more effective operations. Irrespective of the extent of structural arrangements, strategic integration is deemed important in all contexts to ensure a more informed and coherent approach to the UN's objectives and to maximise the collective and individual impact of the UN presence.

The benefits of UN integration arrangements for humanitarian actors are most evident in relation to shared objectives between humanitarian, political and peacekeeping components, such as the protection of civilians and support to durable solutions for displaced populations. These shared objectives provide a common platform on which to build confidence and integration arrangements can assist in identifying the

respective contributions that each component of the UN integrated presence can make in realising those objectives. It is important to ensure that the division of labour is based on the respective competencies of the various components of the UN, thereby avoiding duplication of effort and resources.

The benefits of integrated arrangements for humanitarian action in large part depend on effective leadership at all levels of the UN system. Decisions and risks must be informed, shared and supported by all leaders, from the Secretary-General and Under-Secretaries-General and heads of agencies, funds and programmes, down through all levels of management at headquarters and in the field. In particular, senior UN staff operating in UN integrated presences (in missions, in OCHA and in UN agencies) should have the appropriate skills and competencies to lead or support an effective humanitarian response, including the ability to manage and negotiate competing priorities.

Current guidance on UN integration should be amended to clarify how, in practical terms, integration arrangements should take account of humanitarian principles and allow for the protection of humanitarian space. This amended guidance should also specify the need for more consistent and strategic engagement from UN humanitarian actors in the design, implementation, monitoring and review of UN integration arrangements. The ISG should also develop a more streamlined package of policy and guidance and a more comprehensive dissemination strategy for all UN staff. Greater sensitisation of non-humanitarian UN staff on the operational relevance of humanitarian principles may also help mitigate the continuing tensions and disagreements that have arisen in relation to UN integration between UN and non-UN humanitarian staff and those from the UN political and peacekeeping community.

The importance of overcoming the tensions and disagreements related to integration is underscored by the fact that, in Afghanistan, some in the NGO community have begun withdrawing from UN humanitarian coordination mechanisms, and some are threatening to do so in other contexts, most notably Somalia, unless UN integration arrangements are seen to be better protecting humanitarian space. This could have serious operational implications for UN agencies, which rely on NGO partners for delivery in these contexts.

This study sets out more detailed recommendations for managing the relationship between UN integration and humanitarian space in each of the areas analysed in the study. If UN integration is to be successful, UN leadership, and particularly the ISG which commissioned this study, must consider how its members can implement these recommendations in practice and build confidence and trust among the humanitarian (UN and non-UN) and political/peacekeeping communities, both at the HQ level and in the field.

Chapter 1 Introduction

In June 2008, the United Nations Secretary-General (SG) reaffirmed that 'integration' is the guiding policy for all conflict and post-conflict situations where the UN has a Country Team and a multi-dimensional peacekeeping operation or political mission/office (Secretary-General Decision No. 2008/24 (SG Decision 2008 – see Annex 1). Noting the concerns expressed by many in the humanitarian community, the SG Decision of 2008 also stated that integration arrangements 'can yield significant benefits for humanitarian operations ... should take full account of recognised humanitarian principles, allow for the protection of humanitarian space, and facilitate effective humanitarian coordination with all humanitarian actors' (UN, 2008: para i (e)). Intense debate has, however, continued within both the UN system and the Inter-Agency Standing Committee (IASC) on whether UN integration supports or undermines humanitarian space.2 This debate has tended to focus on principled arguments rather than an analysis of empirical evidence. In order to address this, in its meeting of 12 March 2010 the UN Integration Steering Group (ISG) agreed on the need for an independent analytical study to assess the impact of UN integration arrangements on humanitarian space based on evidence collected at the country level.³ The decision was welcomed by the IASC and the various consortia of non-governmental organisations (NGOs).

In January 2011, on behalf of the ISG, the Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs (OCHA), the Department of Political Affairs (DPA) and the Department for Peacekeeping Operations (DPKO) commissioned the Humanitarian Policy Group (HPG) at the Overseas Development Institute and the Stimson Center to jointly undertake this study, noting their research and policy expertise in the fields of humanitarian action and peacekeeping, respectively. The research team comprised HPG Research Fellows Victoria Metcalfe and Samir Elhawary, and Alison Giffen, Research Fellow at the Stimson Center.

1.1 Structure of the report

This report is structured as follows. Chapter 2 begins with an introduction to the concept and policy of UN integration at the strategic level and outlines how the policy has evolved.

- 1 The Decision listed 19 UN missions in Africa, the Middle East, Asia, Europe and the Americas. Uganda, Nepal and Chad are no longer UN integrated contexts due to the draw-down of the missions and the situations in Libya and South Sudan have subsequently become UN integrated presences, bringing the current total to 18.
- 2 The IASC is an inter-agency forum for coordination, policy development and decision-making involving the key UN and non-UN humanitarian actors. It was established in 1992 and endorsed in UN General Assembly Resolution 48/57 in 1993.
- 3 The ISG comprises DPKO, DFS, DPA, OCHA, PBSO, OHCHR, DOCO, UNDP, UNICEF, UNHCR and WFP.

Chapter 3 provides an overview of how the concept and policy of UN integration is understood and implemented in the field. Chapter 4 assesses how integration arrangements in the various contexts have impacted upon humanitarian space, either positively or negatively. Chapter 5 identifies additional factors that impact humanitarian space and which should be taken into consideration when assessing the impact of UN integration arrangements. Chapter 6 offers conclusions on the impact of UN integration on humanitarian space in relation to the evidence collected, and highlights headquarter and field experiences that have yielded positive practice in terms of supporting humanitarian space. This final section also proposes steps that stakeholders could take to more effectively manage the risks and maximise the opportunities of UN integration arrangements on humanitarian space.

1.2 Methodology

The research for this study used both qualitative and (where available) quantitative data. It included an initial review of existing literature and available data pertaining to UN integration and humanitarian space generally, and consultations with key UN actors and international NGOs. Three primary case studies were then selected, in consultation with the ISG, IASC and the research team – Somalia (UNPOS), the Democratic Republic of Congo (MONUSCO) and Afghanistan (UNAMA). The case studies were selected using a number of criteria, including: contexts in which debates about the impact of UN integration were ongoing; geographic and contextual diversity; the presence of different types of integration arrangements; different mission types (political, peacekeeping); and the agreement of the UN mission and agency senior managers in the field to participate in the study.

Although the research team considered the entire history of the UN integrated presence in each of these cases, the primary focus was on the period from the SG Decision of 2008 to the present. Field trips were undertaken to Afghanistan, DRC and Kenya (for Somalia) between May and July 2011. In both DRC and Afghanistan, the research team was able to make a short visit to field locations (Bunia and Goma in DRC; Jalalabad in Afghanistan). Additional interviews were conducted with key stakeholders via telephone, including a number of former Special Representatives of the Secretary-General (SRSGs) and Deputy Special Representatives of the Secretary-General/Resident Coordinators/Humanitarian Coordinators (DSRSG/RC/HCs).

The research team also undertook a limited desk review of additional UN integrated presences in Liberia (UNMIL, 2003–2008), the Central African Republic (BONUCA/BINUCA, 2008–11) and Darfur (UNMIS, 2005–2007). These reviews were

complemented by telephone interviews with key stakeholders. The purpose of these reviews was to supplement data collected from the three main case studies.

Over the course of the study, the research team conducted over 150 semi-structured interviews (one-on-one and group interviews) with staff from DPKO, DPA, UN agencies, international NGOs, national NGOs, independent experts, national authorities and donors. In order to encourage frank and open discussions interviews were confidential, and interviewees were advised that there would be no attribution in the report. A list of research questions (available on request) was used by the research team to guide the interviews.

A number of challenges were encountered during this study, including the limited availability of quantitative data on many of the issues covered. In addition, the terms of reference were developed by the ISG and required the research team to document the positive and negative impact of UN integration arrangements on humanitarian space. The terms of reference did not however allow for comparison between UN integration and non-integrated contexts. The field work was restricted to an average of ten days per case, with time available for interviews further limited by movement restrictions related to the security situation in some of the contexts studied. The research team did not conduct interviews with affected communities or with non-state armed actors due to security and time restrictions. A small number of interviews were conducted with government officials in Afghanistan and DRC. As such this report does not offer a comprehensive analysis of how humanitarian actors are perceived by national stakeholders and the extent to which these perceptions are influenced by UN integration arrangements. The analysis provided in relation to this issue is based on available perceptions surveys, secondary information provided by national NGOs and national staff of international organisations and other available primary data including press releases and press statements issued by state and non-state armed actors.

Box 1: Objectives of the study

As per the terms of reference (Annex 2), the objectives of this study are as follows:

- Analyse HQ and field practices in an effort to document the positive and negative impacts of integration arrangements on humanitarian space.
- Identify practices whereby integrated approaches have yielded significant benefits to humanitarian operations, and conversely where they have negatively affected humanitarian operations.
- Establish a shared understanding of concerns related to integration and humanitarian space.
- Make recommendations towards the improved management of the positive and negative impacts of integration arrangements on humanitarian space.

Prior to finalising the report, extensive consultations were undertaken to discuss the draft findings and recommendations. This process included group consultations with the ISG (working level), the IASC and NGO consortia in Geneva, New York and Washington DC. A draft of the report was also circulated for comment to all current DSRSG/RC/HCs as well as DPKO, DPA, OCHA, UN agency and NGO stakeholders at UN headquarters and in the field in the country studies concerned. As the commissioning body, the ISG (principals level) was consulted on a revised version of findings and recommendations. All comments received were reviewed and considered in the final draft of the report.

1.3 Terminology

For the purposes of this study, the term 'UN integration' refers to efforts to 'maximise the individual and collective impact of the UN's response'. As articulated in the SG Decision of 2008, it is the 'guiding principle for all conflict and post-conflict situations where the UN has a Country Team and a multi-dimensional peacekeeping operation or political mission/office, whether or not these presences are structurally integrated'.⁴ The defining elements of integration are explored in Chapter 2.

There is no commonly accepted definition of 'humanitarian space', even within the IASC.⁵ However, for the purposes of this study the ISG asked the research team to focus on five priority areas:

- The security of humanitarian workers.
- · Access to and of beneficiaries.
- The ability of humanitarians to interact with non-state armed groups.
- Perceptions of humanitarian actors among beneficiaries, states and non-state actors.
- Humanitarian advocacy or 'humanitarian voice'.

A number of other terms used in this study also merit definition. The core principles of humanitarian action, humanity, impartiality, neutrality and independence will be used frequently. These terms are generally taken to mean the following (see for example OCHA, 2003; OCHA, 2010; IFRC/ICRC, 1996):

• *Humanity:* the provision of humanitarian assistance wherever it is needed and in a manner that respects and protects the dignity and rights of the individual.

4 This refers to country-specific political missions and does not, therefore, include UN political offices with regional mandates such as the UN Office for West Africa (UNOWA) and the UN Regional Centre for Preventive Diplomacy for Central Asia (UNRCCA).

5 The concept of humanitarian space has been subject to many interpretations, including the physical access that international aid agencies and their partners have to populations in need; the space aid agencies require to enable them to adhere to the core principles of humanitarian action; the nature of the 'operating environment' that agencies work in, particularly security conditions; and the ability of populations themselves to access assistance and protection (HPG, 2010).

- Impartiality: the provision of humanitarian assistance without discrimination among recipients and guided solely by needs, with priority given to the most urgent cases of distress.
- Neutrality: the provision of humanitarian assistance without engaging in hostilities or taking sides in controversies of a political, religious or ideological nature.
- Independence: the provision of humanitarian assistance in a manner that is autonomous from the political, economic, military or other objectives of any actor engaged in the areas where humanitarian action is being undertaken.

'Impartiality' is also one of the three basic principles⁶ of international peacekeeping, though it has a different meaning in such contexts. The 2008 United Nations Peacekeeping Operations Principles and Guidelines (the Capstone Doctrine) describe impartiality as follows:

United Nations peacekeeping operations must implement their mandate without favour or prejudice to any

6 Three basic principles have long served as a foundation for UN peacekeeping operations. They include consent of the parties (strategic consent is required by the main parties of a conflict to deploy and operate a UN peacekeeping operation), non-use of force except in self-defence and defence of the mandate, and impartiality (UN DPKO DFS, 2008).

party. Impartiality is crucial to maintaining the consent and cooperation of the main parties, but should not be confused with neutrality or inactivity. United Nations peacekeepers should be impartial in their dealings with the parties to the conflict, but not neutral in the execution of their mandate (UN DPKO DFS, 2008).

In this regard, 'not neutral' means 'not condon[ing] actions by the parties that violate the undertakings of the peace process or the international norms and principles that a [United Nations] peacekeeping operation upholds' (*ibid.*).

DPA-led UN Political Missions currently do not have guiding principles like those outlined in the Capstone Doctrine, though a recent independent review suggests that impartiality should be included in any future development of principles. The review stated that the UN political mission should operate in a way that engenders trust and allows the mission to serve as an 'honest broker among all parties and deliver tough messages when necessary'.⁷ A 'political mission cannot be seen as serving the agenda of any party to a conflict, outside actor, or special interest' (Gowan, 2010).

7 Like the Capstone Doctrine, the review asserts that impartiality 'does not mean neutrality in the sense of passivity or equal treatment of all parties in the face of abuses' (Gowan, 2010).

Chapter 2 UN integration: concept and policy

Following the end of the Cold War, UN Member States began to search for more effective responses to intra-state conflicts. Starting in the late 1980s, the UN Security Council increasingly authorised multi-dimensional peacekeeping missions combining political, military and civilian actions to support transitions to independence or from war to peace. In 1997, the concept of 'integration' was introduced by the Secretary-General to reflect evolving practice on the ground. It aspired to ensure a higher degree of coherence among UN entities to help achieve these ambitious peacekeeping and peacebuilding goals. This chapter provides an overview of the UN's pursuit of coherence and the evolution of the concept of UN integration.

2.1 Origins and introduction (1990s)

The UN emerged from the Cold War as a central mechanism for preventing and resolving conflicts. It assumed this responsibility by more broadly engaging in conflict-affected countries, many of which were characterised by large-scale violence against civilians and humanitarian crises. The Security Council began authorising a surge in the number and scale of UN missions. Unlike the 'first generation' of peacekeeping - consisting of missions primarily deployed to monitor ceasefires or maintain buffer zones – UN operations were being tasked with the ambitious goal of managing transitions from war to sustainable peace (Eide et al., 2005). In pursuit of this goal, missions became more multidimensional in their mandates and approach, expected to simultaneously draw on political, military and civilian capacities. This included military, police and civilian components within missions and closer cooperation with the UN Country Team (UNCT) in relevant areas.

Tensions emerged between UN actors involved in these multidimensional presences, for example around the prioritisation of shorter-term political and peacekeeping objectives over the longer-term objectives of development agencies (Minear, 1997: 54). Meanwhile, a lack of political will to effectively engage in some contexts saw humanitarian action substituting for greater political and/or military involvement, such as in Bosnia and Rwanda. These tensions and shortcomings were believed to result from the absence of a coherent strategy to sequence and manage interventions. The need for coherence was highlighted in Secretary-General Boutros Boutros-Ghali's 1995 Supplement to the Agenda for Peace, and was also a central finding of the 1996 Joint Evaluation of Emergency

8 Minear (1997) gives an example of the Secretary-General overruling UNDP and FAO recommendations for a longer-term timetable for land transfers in El Salvador in favour of the shorter-term political objectives of the UN Observer Mission (ONUSAL), including relieving fiscal and political pressure on the Salvadoran government. A similar example relates to UNTAC in Cambodia.

Assistance to Rwanda. Secretary-General Kofi Annan's 1997 report Renewing the United Nations: A Programme for Reform reinforced the message, calling for 'unity of purpose' and recognising the need to 'act coherently' both at headquarters and in the field (UN, 1997).

The experiences of the 1990s also demonstrated to the humanitarian community the potential of humanitarian action to fuel or sustain conflict, and led to a new concern to 'do no harm'. There was a perception that the nature of conflict was changing, and that humanitarian organisations were ill-equipped for the challenges associated with 'complex emergencies' (Kaldor, 1999; Duffield, 2001). There was subsequently much debate and discussion on the need to integrate humanitarian action with military, diplomatic, political and commercial interventions (Macrae and Leader, 2000; CHD, 2003). Whilst there was no consensus on the ideal relationship between humanitarian action and other policy spheres, there was a general acceptance that complex emergencies required more comprehensive (and ultimately political) solutions than the simple provision of relief.

2.2 Articulating the policy and early implementation (1998–2004)

Early examples of 'integrated' arrangements preceded the introduction of the term 'integration' in 1997. For example, in UNTAG (Namibia, 1989-90), an Office of the UN High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR) reported to the Special Representative of the Secretary-General (SRSG) (UN, 2001a). The first instance of a combined DSRSG/RC/HC was in UNMIH in Haiti in 1994 (UN, 1996). During the 1990s and early 2000s the UN Secretariat began to reflect these practices – many originating in the field – in policy, and spearheaded several reforms to foster greater coherence within the UN system. One such policy articulated the leadership responsibilities of the SRSG, who was given the 'authority and the responsibility to establish the political framework for, and provide overarching leadership to, the UN team in country' (UN, 2000b).9 Strategic frameworks were introduced in some countries to link the UN's political, humanitarian and development actors into one coherent strategy (Macrae and Leader, 2000). In Afghanistan (1998) and then in Sierra Leone (2000), the process sought to translate the lessons from the 1990s into practice and 9 The 2000 Guidance also specifies the following: 'The SRSG/RSG will be responsible for giving political guidance to the overall UN presence as well as providing the impetus for a coordinated and coherent approach by all the UN components in the country. The RC/HC will be responsible for the coordination of development and humanitarian operations. The SRSG/RSG will chair a regular inter-agency meeting at which the political, humanitarian, human rights and development situations will be reviewed. The SRSG/RSG and the RC/HC will copy all relevant substantive communications to one another as necessary.

ensure that political and humanitarian programmes were 'informed by and informed' each other (CHD, 2003). An alternative approach to developing common strategic plans for UN integrated presences, known as the Integrated Mission Concept, was first implemented in Kosovo in 1999, where one of the pillars of UNMIK was led by UNHCR and oversaw the humanitarian response. ¹⁰

The Report of the Panel on United Nations Peace Operations (UN 2000a, also known as the Brahimi Report) reflected on these early initiatives and proposed additional ways to harness UN resources for peace consolidation, including the creation of Integrated Mission Task Forces (IMTFs). IMTFs were intended to serve as a standard vehicle for integrated planning and support to specific peace operations. The mechanism was first established to support planning for Afghanistan in October 2001, and was used in the planning of subsequent integrated peace support operations (Eide et al., 2005). In 2001, the second DSRSG/RC/HC position was created (in Sierra Leone). This 'triple hat' function was 'expected to serve as the principal interface between the mission and the UN Country Team' (UN, 2006a). Humanitarian offices or pillars were integrated into missions under the lead of UNHCR or DHA¹¹ (e.g. in UNTAG, ONUMOZ and UNMIK); these developments were the earliest and most visible expressions of integration arrangements. These practices continued with the integration of OCHA¹² offices into the UN mission in UNAMA in Afghanistan in 2002, and UNMIL in Liberia in 2004.

As discussed further in Chapter 3, the structural link between the mission and the HC function has been contentious, however, because the role of the HC and of OCHA is to provide coordination and services for the broader humanitarian community – beyond the UN humanitarian system. HCs are appointed by the UN Emergency Relief Coordinator (ERC), in consultation with the IASC, when a new emergency arises or when an existing one escalates. ¹³ The HC represents the wider humanitarian community (UN and non-UN humanitarian actors) and is 'responsible for leading and coordinating humanitarian action of relevant organisations in country with a view to ensuring that it is principled, timely, effective and efficient, and contributes to longer-term recovery' (IASC,

10 The Integrated Mission concept is described as 'a common strategic plan and a shared understanding of the priorities and types of programme interventions that need to be undertaken at various stages of the recovery process' that would seek to 'maximize the UN system's contribution to peacebuilding in countries emerging from conflict' (Annan, quoted in De Coning, 2007).

11 The Department for Humanitarian Affairs (DHA) was established by the Secretary-General in 1993 to support the newly created post of Emergency Relief Coordinator and Under-Secretary General for Humanitarian Affairs. 12 In 1998, the DHA was reformed as the UN Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs (OCHA). OCHA's mandate includes the coordination of humanitarian response, policy development and humanitarian advocacy.

13 The first Humanitarian Coordinator was appointed in 1992 by the Secretary-General to coordinate the humanitarian system in Somalia. The IASC formalised the role in 1994 (IASC, 1994).

2009).¹⁴ Some humanitarian actors, particularly non-UN, have raised concerns about the practice of combining the HC role with both the RC function¹⁵ (IASC, 2005) and, relevant to this study, the DSRSG role. They have also asserted that the DSRSG role adds additional political responsibilities and reporting lines that humanitarian actors need to distance themselves from, particularly in conflict situations, in order to maintain their independence and neutrality. Similarly, when OCHA is integrated inside the mission, many non-UN humanitarian actors feel that its services are subsumed under an umbrella that includes political and developmental objectives. They have subsequently expressed concern that their participation in UN humanitarian coordination mechanisms in these instances can then be connected to and affected by UN development or political processes and decision-making, something which would not occur with a separate OCHA office.

2.3 Review, revision and context-driven implementation (2005–2011)

In 2005, an independent assessment of UN integration (Eide et al., 2005) was commissioned by the Expanded Executive Committee on Humanitarian Affairs (ECHA) Core Group. ¹⁶ This influenced a series of guidance notes that aimed to improve the effectiveness of UN integration and determine its most appropriate form in different circumstances, including how best to manage the interface between peacekeeping, humanitarian action and development.

One of the key pieces of guidance was the 2006 guidelines on the Integrated Missions Planning Process (IMPP). In contrast to the previous emphasis on structural integration, these guidelines highlighted the critical principle of 'form follows function', whereby 'structure is derived from an in-depth understanding of the specific country setting; of the evolving security, political, humanitarian, human rights and development imperatives in that particular country; and of the particular mix of assets and capacities available and/or required to achieve the desired

14 Revised TORs for HCs were issued in 2003, and most recently in 2009. The 2009 TOR presents a narrower mandate for the HC role than previous IASC guidelines. The 2003 Revised TOR details the HC's reporting, management and coordination functions, specifically highlighting the HC's role in ensuring a comprehensive response to internal displacement and strategic coordination functions such as contingency planning, advocacy, promoting humanitarian accountability and cooperating with entities tasked with reconstruction activities (IASC, 2003). The 2009 TOR sets out a more limited set of responsibilities related to specific tools of humanitarian preparedness and response such as the CHAP, cluster system and funding pools (IASC, 2009).

15 Often the role is assigned to the existing Resident Coordinator, creating an RC/HC. In some instances a standalone HC may be appointed or a UN agency may be designated as the lead in a humanitarian response, in which case the head of that agency is appointed as the HC.

16 The Secretary-General created the ECHA to enhance coordination between UN agencies in various humanitarian sectors. The ECHA is chaired by the Under-Secretary-General of Humanitarian Affairs; it 'brings together UN humanitarian agencies and the political, peacekeeping and security departments of the UN Secretariat to address issues related to humanitarian crises'. See http://ochaonline.un.org/ocha2005/Pt%20Il%20iasc.htm. The ECHA Expanded Core Group comprises DPKO, DPA, OCHA, UNICEF, UNDP, UNHCR and WFP.

impact through mutually supportive action' (UN, 2006b: 3). The guidelines revised the mission planning process to facilitate greater engagement of UN humanitarian agencies in decisions on integrated arrangements. ECHA and the UN Development Group were consulted on these guidelines, and agreed to establish standing capacity to engage with DPKO in mission planning at UN headquarters and in the field.

Also in 2006, the SG issued a Guidance Note on Integrated Missions. This further defined the roles and responsibilities of the SRSG and the DSRSG/RC/HC, describing the SRSG as 'the senior UN Representative in the country', with 'overall authority over the activities of the United Nations' (UN, 2006a). The Guidance Note outlines the SRSG's responsibility to foster inter-agency coordination through existing and new forums. Of particular note to this study, the Guidance Note states that 'the SRSG will uphold humanitarian principles (as outlined in GA 46/182) in the implementation of the mission's mandate and support the creation of an effective humanitarian operating environment' (UN, 2006a: para 10). The Guidance Note also makes clear that the DSRSG/RC/HC, under the SRSG's overall lead, retains the coordination roles inherent in his/her RC and HC roles and that he/she has a secondary reporting line to the UNDP Administrator and ERC in these capacities.

Much of the debate surrounding integration up until 2008 focused on the role of the DSRSG/RC/HC, and whether OCHA was inside or outside the political or peacekeeping mission. This, many believed, distracted discussions at HQ and in the field away from a much-needed focus on achieving coherence and greater collective impact through a shared vision and common objectives (HPG and Stimson, 2011). In an effort to clarify and consolidate pre-existing guidance on integration, the Secretary-General issued Decision No. 2008/24 in 2008, following the recommendation of his Policy Committee. This Decision included several important developments.

First, the SG Decision stated that the purpose of UN integration was to 'maximize the individual and collective impact of the UN's response, concentrating on those activities required to consolidate peace'. Coherence became subordinated to this overall purpose, rather than being an end in itself. Second, it explained that UN integration should be applied in both conflict and post-conflict settings. Although in practice integrated arrangements had been applied in conflict contexts, previous guidance referred only to 'post-conflict' settings; as such, the new language reflected realities on the ground. Third, integration was explained as applying to all contexts in which there was a UN country-specific political or peacekeeping mission and a UN Country Team. This was an important clarification, as the language used in the 2006 IMPP guidelines and the SG's 2006 Guidance Note had led to the misconception that integration applied only to DPKO-led mission contexts. Fourth, integration was clearly linked to the UN's efforts towards peace consolidation, rather than encompassing all UN

activities, including purely humanitarian ones. This has shifted the emphasis towards integrating UN mission and development activities which are seen as critical to consolidating peace, such as institution-building and early recovery efforts. Lifesaving humanitarian activities are now seen as largely outside the scope of activities aimed towards peace consolidation – and therefore integration mechanisms such as the Integrated Strategic Framework (ISF – see Chapter 3.2.3).

The SG Decision also sought to clarify minimum standards or requirements for UN integration. It indicated that 'there should be an effective strategic partnership' between the UN mission and the UNCT under the leadership of the SRSG. The SG Decision stated that this should be achieved through the development of shared objectives, closely aligned planning and agreed results, and mechanisms for monitoring and evaluation. These minimum requirements are referred to as 'strategic' integration throughout this report. The SG Decision also reemphasised the principle of flexibility in the country-level structural arrangements that should be established to support strategic integration.

Box 2: The Secretary-General's Policy Decision No. 2008/24

The Secretary-General's Policy Decision No. 2008/24 outlines four defining elements of a UN integrated presence:

- The main purpose of integration is to 'maximize the individual and collective impact of the UN's response, concentrating on those activities required to consolidate peace'.
- An effective strategic partnership should exist between the UN mission/office and UN Country Team under the leadership of the SRSG to ensure that 'all components ... are operating in a coherent and mutually supportive manner, and in close collaboration with other partners', such as INGOs and host governments.
- Country-level arrangements can take different structural forms, but all integrated presences should include a shared objective, closely aligned or integrated planning, agreed results and agreed mechanisms for monitoring and evaluation among UN components.
- UN integration arrangements can 'yield significant benefits for humanitarian operations' and should 'take full account of recognized humanitarian principles, allow for the protection of humanitarian space, and facilitate effective humanitarian coordination with all humanitarian actors'.

The provision that UN integration arrangements 'should take full account of recognised humanitarian principles, allow for the protection of humanitarian space and facilitate effective humanitarian coordination with all humanitarian actors' is of particular relevance to this study. It is an acknowledgement that tensions can emerge between the UN's responsibilities related to humanitarian action and its support to peacekeeping and

peace-building, and that these tensions need to be managed. It also makes clear that integration arrangements should not subordinate humanitarian concerns but 'take full account' of them instead. Although not explicitly stated, this could be viewed as an implied minimum requirement for the consideration of humanitarian action in UN integrated arrangements. The statement in the SG Decision that integration arrangements 'can yield significant benefits for humanitarian operations' does not suggest that integrated arrangements and decision-making will always prioritise or benefit humanitarian action.

In 2009, UN humanitarian and development actors joined DPKO and DPA in updating the IMPP guidance to outline the role of UN headquarters in implementing the SG Decision No. 2008/24, and in 2009 and 2010 further guidance was developed to explain the role and responsibilities of field staff (mission and UNCT) in implementing the SG Decision (UN, 2009c; 2010a).¹⁷ Also in 2009, OCHA developed a policy instruction on 'OCHA's Structural Relationships within an Integrated UN Presence' to complement the SG Decision (OCHA, 2009). This sought to address some of the concerns within the humanitarian community regarding the impact of UN integration on humanitarian coordination functions. The policy instruction stated that '[t]here is nothing inherent in the concept of an integrated UN presence that is contrary to humanitarian principles'. It also explained that the relationship of the HC and OCHA to the integrated UN presence should be determined by a 'careful analysis of the political and security contexts, and three additional and related factors: the role of non-UN humanitarian actors; the role of national authorities; and the likely external perceptions of the peacekeeping or political mission within an integrated presence'. On that basis, the policy instruction outlined three possible models for this relationship:

 One foot in and one foot out: A DSRSG/RC/HC is appointed, but OCHA maintains a clearly identifiable presence outside

- the mission. This is considered appropriate for situations in flux, and is the default relationship.
- Two feet out: Includes a clearly identifiable OCHA presence outside the UN mission and an RC/HC role separate from the UN peacekeeping or political mission. This approach is appropriate for exceptionally unstable situations.
- Two feet in: A DSRSG/RC/HC is appointed and an OCHA office is integrated into the UN mission. This is appropriate for stable, post-conflict settings.

The 2009 OCHA policy instruction represented a step forward because it recognised the complexity of conflict and post-conflict settings and noted the importance of considering other factors beyond simply the status of the conflict in determining structural arrangements. However, the policy instruction only addressed the position of the HC and OCHA in the UN integrated presence. As will be explored in Chapter 3, structural arrangements established to support strategic integration are related to more than just these two functions.

In May 2011, Secretary-General Decision No. 2011/10 'strongly reaffirm[ed] the principle of integration' and reemphasised the importance of strategic-level integration, which it said should be achieved through a shared vision of the UN's strategic objectives (UN, 2011a). This Decision also restated that 'country level arrangements can take different structural forms, reflecting the specific requirements and circumstances'. It also reflected the commitment of the ISG principals to 'ensure more consistent and effective implementation within their own department/agency' by sending clear messages and guidance to staff at headquarters and in the field, and articulated that the ISF should be 'embedded in core strategic processes, such as resource allocation and mandated reporting'. The SG Decision also stated that 'delivery against ISF priorities will also form an element of major accountability mechanisms, including but not limited to SRSG Compacts and Reports of the Secretary-General to the Security Council'.

¹⁷ These guidelines were developed by an inter-departmental and interagency IMPP Working Group convened by DPKO.

Chapter 3 UN integration in practice

This chapter outlines how the concept of UN integration is understood and implemented in practice *specifically* as this relates to humanitarian space. The focus is on the three main case studies (Afghanistan, DRC and Somalia – see Boxes 3, 4 and 5 for summaries of the country contexts), though this analysis also draws on the experiences of UN integration in the three desk review contexts (CAR (2008–11), Darfur (2005–2007) and Liberia (2003–2008)).

The research for the study has identified a number of factors affecting both how the concept of UN integration is understood, and how it is implemented in practice with regard to the protection of humanitarian space. These factors include a general lack of awareness on the part of some UN and non-UN staff of the content of the policy on UN integration, including as it relates to humanitarian space; limited ownership by some UN agency and OCHA staff of the policy more broadly; limited understanding amongst some DPKO and DPA staff of, or appreciation for, the operational relevance of humanitarian principles; a lack of transparency in decision-making processes which impact on humanitarian considerations; and a general lack of accountability for non-compliance with the policy on UN integration, including the provisions relating to humanitarian space.

These factors are interconnected – limited understanding of the provisions relating to humanitarian space, for example, has resulted in problems in implementation, which in turn have reinforced perceptions amongst some humanitarian staff that UN integration subordinates humanitarian priorities to political concerns. The implementation of the policy is itself affected by the polarised positions of the various communities of actors involved, undermining the spirit in which UN integration is meant to be pursued and often obscuring the potential benefits which UN integration arrangements can offer in some contexts.

3.1 Understanding of the concept and policy

Most UN staff (mission, OCHA and agencies) interviewed in this study generally understood that the main purpose of UN integration was to increase coherence within the UN system aimed at maximising the individual and collective impact of the UN system towards peace consolidation. However, beyond this basic familiarity with the concept there was often a limited understanding and awareness of the details of the policy and guidance on implementation. In general, awareness of the concept and policies was lower amongst UN staff in the field than among those at HQ, and those outside the UN system (including NGOs, UN Member States and donors) had, not

Box 3: Afghanistan

Between 1992 and 1996, regional countries sponsored various Afghan factions in an increasingly violent civil war. The Taliban emerged in 1994 and quickly gained power and territory. By 1996, when they entered Kabul, the Taliban were in control of more than half the country. The Taliban were accused of harbouring al-Qaeda in the wake of the September 11 attacks, prompting a US-led intervention in 2001. The end of Taliban rule was formalised with the 2001 Bonn Agreement, which was endorsed by the UN Security Council and created a transitional government and an International Security Assistance Force (ISAF) in Kabul. However, the agreement excluded key powerbrokers, including members of the Taliban and other Pashtun leaders. Meanwhile, continued conflict spurred greater international military intervention. NATO assumed the leadership of ISAF in 2003, which was later tasked with creating a secure and stable environment, supporting reconstruction and development and strengthening governance and the rule of law across Afghanistan. Conflict intensified further in 2006, with the insurgency spreading across the country. Failure to defeat the insurgency, coupled with domestic pressure among NATO countries to withdraw, has prompted a rethink of the international community's strategy. There are now attempts to broker a negotiated end to the conflict with the Taliban ahead of the planned withdrawal of international troops beginning in 2014.

UNAMA, which was established in 2002, was originally intended to have a 'light footprint'. However, in 2008 and 2009, following a major shift in the international coalition strategy in the country, the mandate was significantly broadened to include leading international civilian efforts to support the Afghan government and to facilitate greater political outreach to Afghan leaders. In the latest iteration of its mandate, UNAMA is to 'monitor the situation of civilians, to coordinate efforts to ensure their protection, to promote accountability, and to assist in the full implementation of the fundamental freedoms and human rights provisions of the Afghan Constitution'. It continues to be mandated 'to coordinate and facilitate the delivery of humanitarian assistance, in support of the Afghan Government and in accordance with humanitarian principles, with a view to building the capacity of the Government so it can assume the central and coordinating role in the future' (UN, 2011b). Security Council Resolution 1974 also reiterates 'the synergies in the objectives of UNAMA and of ISAF' and the importance of 'a comprehensive approach in addressing the challenges in Afghanistan to successful transition to Afghan security leadership' (UN, 2011b). ISAF is mandated to 'work in close consultation' with the UN (UN, 2003a). UNAMA is also now tasked to support national reconciliation efforts, including with the Taliban.

Box 4: Democratic Republic of Congo

Between 1996 and 2003 DRC experienced two wars. In the first (1996–97), the Alliance of Democratic Forces for the Liberation of Congo-Zaire, with the backing of Rwandan and Ugandan troops, ended the 30-year rule of Mobutu Sese Seko; the second (1997-2003) involved a number of African governments and armed actors. Although several ceasefire and peace agreements were signed between 1999 and 2003 conflict continued, with various domestic and foreign armed groups resisting disarmament, demobilisation and reintegration (DRR) efforts and re-forming into formidable rebel groups, often supported by neighbouring governments and the profits from illicit resource extraction. National elections were held in 2006; however, there are allegations of corruption within the government, the national security forces are implicated in violence against civilians and a lack of infrastructure and government services contributes to poor humanitarian indicators. Many parts of DRC remain plagued by violence against civilians, including conflict-related sexual violence, and there are approximately 1.7 million conflictrelated IDPs. National elections were underway in November 2011 as this report was being finalised.

The UN Security Council approved a small observer and protection force, MONUC, in 1999. As insecurity persisted MONUC's mandate evolved and its numbers increased, eventually becoming one of the UN's largest multidimensional peacekeeping operations. Under Chapter VII of the UN Charter

the mission was mandated to use force to protect civilians, first in Eastern DRC and then across the entire country. Forces Armées de la République Démocratique du Congo (FARDC) military operations in the East during 2009, some undertaken with MONUC support, resulted in large-scale displacement. During 2010 the DRC government pressed for the drawdown and exit of MONUC, and nearly 1,700 troops have been withdrawn. MONUC has also been renamed the UN Stabilisation Mission in the DRC (MONUSCO), to reflect a greater focus on stabilisation and transition in addition to its priority task of civilian protection.

Under Security Council Resolution 1991 of 2011, MONUSCO's future configuration is dependent in part on the DRC government and MONUSCO achieving the following objectives: '(a) The completion of the ongoing military operations in the Kivus and Orientale Province, resulting in reducing to a minimum the threat from armed groups and restoring stability in sensitive areas'; and '(b) An improved capacity of the Government of the Democratic Republic of the Congo to effectively protect the population through the establishment of professional, accountable and sustainable security forces with a view to progressively taking over MONUSCO's security role' (UN, 2011d). Implementation of the mandate has involved supporting the FARDC in line with the human rights due diligence policy on UN support to non-UN security forces (formerly referred to as the conditionality policy), and support for the electoral process.

Box 5: Somalia

Somalia is in a protracted state of collapse. The end of the Mohamed Siad Barre regime in 1991 marked the start of two decades of civil war, clan conflict and foreign interventions. The Security Council authorised the deployment of a DPA-led political mission, UNPOS, in 1995. Established in Nairobi, UNPOS initially concentrated on monitoring political developments, with minimal engagement in the country. International interest increased following the attacks on the United States in 2001 and the emergence in Somalia of an Islamist insurgency, prompting an Ethiopian military occupation, the deployment of the African Union Mission in Somalia (AMISOM), direct US counter-terrorism operations and international support for the Transitional Federal Government (TFG). Following the Djibouti Peace Agreement of 2008, signed by the government and a faction of the opposition, UNPOS was asked to support the agreement's implementation and to assist in recovery and development efforts. However, fighting has persisted between the TFG and AMISOM and a hard-line faction of the Islamist insurgency, al-Shabaab. Meanwhile, the humanitarian situation has continued to deteriorate, compounded by the emergence of famine in 2011 in many areas of the South.

UNPOS' current mandate is based on Security Council Resolution 1863 of 2009 (most recently reinforced by Security Council Resolution 2010 (UN 2011f)). UNPOS is tasked with strengthening the capacity and reach of the TFG. The UN, specifically UNSOA, is also tasked with supporting AMISOM (authorised by UN Security Council Resolution 1744 (UN, 2007), which is taking a lead in the fighting against al-Shabaab and protecting the TFG in Mogadishu. AMISOM is also mandated to protect UN personnel.

surprisingly, a more limited understanding of the concept, its origins and related policies. Few DPKO, DPA, OCHA or UN agency staff (with the exception of those at HQ who were working on these issues directly) were aware of the main policies related to integration, including the SG Decisions of 2008 and 2011 and their provisions on the protection of humanitarian space. Many

18 This was also a finding of the 2005 Independent Study Commissioned by the Expanded UN ECHA Core Group (Eide et al., 2005).

staff were also unaware that the policy has evolved in part to manage the tensions between UN humanitarian and political/peacekeeping objectives, or that the policy focuses on UN activities aimed at peace consolidation and that UN lifesaving humanitarian activities largely fall outside of this.

In the contexts reviewed in this study, there was often a lack of understanding amongst UN mission, UN agency and NGO staff of what exactly the policy on UN integration arrangements entails. Many were unaware that strategic integration is a minimum requirement and that UN integration arrangements should vary in form and be appropriate to the context and the strategies being pursued (as explained in Chapter 2). With respect to country-level arrangements, there was a common assumption that this referred to the DSRSG/RC/HC function or the location of the OCHA office within the mission, rather than a broad spectrum of arrangements including strategic internal coordination mechanisms and structurally integrated offices and support units. Similarly, the principle of 'form follows function' was often understood as meaning that the DSRSG/RC/HC role was only applicable to post-conflict contexts. Stakeholders in Somalia were more aware of the concept of strategic integration, largely because there has been significant advocacy and high-level policy debate on this issue in recent years.¹⁹ Even so, staff interviewed from UNPOS, OCHA, UN agencies and NGOs still tended to consider integration as two separate operational models - strategic and *structural* integration.

There were also challenges relating to understanding of the concept between UN mission and UN and non-UN humanitarian staff. Some UN humanitarian staff seemed unaware that their own agency or office had been involved in the development of policy and guidance on UN integration - through the Policy Committee and ECHA - and had successfully negotiated provisions related to humanitarian action (HPG and Stimson interviews, 2011). In DRC, for example, a number of UN agency staff believed that integration was a 'DPKO policy' which they had no obligation to implement. Some UN humanitarian and NGO staff suggested that the concept of UN integration was incompatible with the principles of humanitarian action, and that there is an inherent contradiction between the UN's political and humanitarian roles. As noted elsewhere (see for example Ulich, 2010), despite the language in the SG Decisions of 2008 and 2011 and related guidance, some UN humanitarian and NGO staff interviewed, both at HQ and in the field level, believed that the 'hidden agenda' of UN integration was to subordinate humanitarian priorities to political objectives.

This assumption, at least in part, stems from personal or institutional experiences of UN mission staff, at varying levels, seeking to subordinate humanitarian objectives when they were not deemed politically expedient, or instances where UN humanitarian actors have had to agree on a compromise with competing political objectives which may not be acceptable to other humanitarian actors (see Chapter 4.4.3 and 4.4.5). Many UN humanitarian staff, as well as staff from NGOs, were deeply sceptical that UN integration can benefit humanitarian action, and felt that the costs and risks of working in a more integrated manner (e.g. the impact on how they are perceived) were high 19 Some INGO representatives working on Somalia had taken steps to raise awareness amongst the broader INGO community in Nairobi about existing UN policies on integration in preparation for joint advocacy on UNPOS' proposed structural integration.

and that the benefits, if any, were limited. As a result, many UN and non-UN humanitarian staff are still reluctant to buy in to the concept and process of UN integration.

For their part, some DPA and DPKO staff interviewed in this study had a limited understanding of humanitarian principles, or did not appreciate that they are important in helping to ensure humanitarian actors can safely and effectively deliver humanitarian assistance and protection to populations in need. Furthermore, some UN mission staff did not recognise the potential tensions between political and humanitarian objectives and felt that UN integration should align the UN's humanitarian and political or peacekeeping objectives. In Afghanistan, for example, some mission staff expected UN agencies to provide assistance to particular populations (including those affected by pro-government military operations) in support of their stabilisation objectives and, in one instance, failed to consult UN agencies before making commitments to ISAF in this regard;²⁰ in Somalia some UNPOS staff have voiced an expectation that UN humanitarian agencies would provide assistance to affected populations explicitly to help consolidate territorial gains made by AMISOM and the TFG. In addition, some DPKO and DPA staff, at HQ and in the field, were apparently unaware of the critical role NGOs play as implementing partners for UN agencies, and therefore were not able to appreciate the significance of the position that some NGOs have taken in Afghanistan (and others have threatened to take in Somalia) in distancing themselves from the whole UN system because of their concerns about UN integration (as discussed in Chapter 4). Mission staff cannot successfully 'take full account of recognized humanitarian principles, allow for the protection of humanitarian space, and facilitate effective humanitarian coordination with all humanitarian actors' (UN, 2008) if they are not sufficiently aware of humanitarian principles or do not understand how humanitarian organisations operate.

Understanding of humanitarian principles and their importance among some mission staff was also, in part, confused by how humanitarian actors themselves behave. For example, a number of DPKO staff highlighted that, in Afghanistan, multi-mandated UN agencies and NGOs were undertaking recovery and development programming (sometimes in support of state institutions), whilst continuing to advocate for humanitarian space (also see Collinson et al., 2010). In both DRC and Darfur, several mission staff highlighted what they felt were contradictory positions among some humanitarian actors who had called for military intervention to protect civilians and facilitate humanitarian access, but were then unwilling to engage with UN peacekeeping staff on the ground (HPG and Stimson interviews, 2011).

There are evidently significant gaps and problems in the way the concept and policy on UN integration is understood and 20 One UN agency asserted that this illustrated the lack of understanding or appreciation by some UNAMA staff of the importance of humanitarian principles and the need for a distinction between the UN's humanitarian and political objectives. They also felt that in this instance UN integration mechanisms had not been utilised to facilitate decisions on this issue.

implemented. In part this relates to the complexity of the guidance and policy documentation on this issue and shortcomings in their dissemination. In addition, other reform processes, such as UN security management, humanitarian reform²¹ and 'delivering as one',²² which have a similar focus on greater coherence, have been developed over the last ten years in parallel to the concept and policy on UN integration. UN and non-UN stakeholders have struggled to keep up with these simultaneous developments, and few of these reforms have included guidance on how they relate to UN integration or vice-versa.

3.2 Implementation of the concept and policy

As outlined in Chapter 2, UN integration requires strategic integration that is built upon shared objectives, closely aligned planning and a strategic partnership between the UN political or peacekeeping mission and the UN Country Team. The guidance provides for flexibility in country-level arrangements to support this strategic partnership, including in relation to leadership structures, and the research team found a range of country-level arrangements across the case studies. This section reviews these arrangements as they relate to humanitarian space. First, it looks at the Integrated Mission Planning Process which is used to support the establishment of new missions and the transition or withdrawal of existing missions and to determine the leadership arrangements. These are both largely HQ-driven processes as they relate primarily to the design and planning for new missions or review of existing missions in the event of a major change in mandate or context. Second, it outlines country-level arrangements which the field effectively has responsibility for determining. These include a diverse array of strategic and/or thematic coordination processes, mechanisms and frameworks. Finally, this section briefly reviews integrated operational support functions that have been established in order to facilitate sharing of assets and other operational issues. The range of arrangements identified in the course of this study is depicted in Figure 1.

3.2.1 The Integrated Mission Planning Process The IMPP process²³ provides the framework for designing new

21 Following the Humanitarian Response Review (HRR) in 2004, the Humanitarian Reform agenda was launched by the ERC. It aims to enhance the effectiveness of humanitarian response by ensuring greater predictability, accountability and partnership. The three pillars of the reform are the cluster approach, humanitarian financing and strengthening of humanitarian coordinators. See http://oneresponse.info/Pages/default.aspx.

22 In 2007, the UN launched the pilot initiative *Delivering as One* in eight countries, none of which had a UN peacekeeping or political mission. The purpose of the initiative was to explore how the UN system could deliver development aid in a more coordinated and effective manner, including in partnership with and serving the needs of the country concerned and in order to meet the Millennium Development Goals. The initiative resulted from a 2006 report of the Secretary-General's High-Level Panel on UN System-wide Coherence (UN, 2006c). The eight pilot countries were Albania, Cape Verde, Mozambique, Pakistan, Rwanda, Tanzania, Uruguay and Vietnam. See http://www.undg.org/?P=7.

23 In 2006, the Secretary-General endorsed the Guidelines for Integrated Missions Planning Process (IMPP) and established it as 'the authoritative basis for the planning of all new integrated missions, as well as the revision of existing integrated mission plans for all UN departments, offices, agencies, funds and programmes' (UN, 2006b).

UN integration arrangements and reviewing existing ones. The current IMPP guidelines²⁴ provide for the participation of UN humanitarian actors, and to a degree non-UN humanitarian actors, in the planning and review of UN integrated missions. The participation of UN humanitarian actors is required in both the headquarters process (the Integrated Mission Task Forces in DPKO-led missions and Integrated Task Forces in DPA-led missions), and at the country level, through the integrated field coordination bodies, often called an Integrated Mission Planning Team (working level) or a Senior Policy Group (senior leadership level), which should include UNCT leadership.²⁵

Practice varies, but in general OCHA and the main UN humanitarian agencies participate in both the HQ and countrylevel IMPP processes in countries where they have a presence. However, respondents in this study noted that, because the mechanisms were led by DPA or DPKO, UN humanitarian actors often found it difficult to have their concerns taken into account, including but not limited to final decisions on the structures and mechanisms for UN integration. Respondents also noted several instances where agreements reached during the IMPP process were later changed or altered by the lead department at headquarters. For example, in the lead-up to the transition to a UN Integrated Peace Building Office in CAR (BINUCA), an inter-agency strategic assessment, led by DPA as the lead department for this integrated presence, was undertaken. While the process was generally inclusive, towards the end DPA made recommendations on the mission structure that had not been agreed by others involved, including UN humanitarian actors.²⁶ In Somalia there was agreement in the Strategic Assessment of 2008 and 2010 that UN integration would not include integrated reporting lines (e.g. the combining of the DSRSG and RC/HC roles). However, without consultation the SG report on the situation in Somalia in April 2011 stated that structural integration would be pursued in the shortest time possible (UN, 2011c). This did not change the structure on the ground but it did undermine confidence in the negotiations between UNPOS and the UNCT at country level and between DPA and other UN actors at HQ.

In both these instances, a lack of transparency in the process between UN mission and UNCT members in-country and staff at headquarters led to a perception that the concerns of UN humanitarian actors are not given due consideration in key decisions about UN integration arrangements. In contrast, the strong and continued engagement of OCHA and UN agencies at headquarters and at the country level in the IMPP for UNAMID was instrumental in influencing decisions on leadership structures, including maintaining a separate RC/HC and a 24 As per the requirement for regular review of guidance, the 2010 IMPP guidelines (UN, 2010a) were being reviewed at the time of the writing of this study.

25 SG Decision No. 24/2008 called for a 'shared analytical and planning capacity as well as an integrated strategic framework (ISF) at the field level to articulate a shared vision of the UN's strategic objectives and an associated set of agreed results, timelines and responsibilities for tasks critical to the consolidation of peace' (UN, 2010a).

26 Internal UN documents seen by the study.

Figure 1: Common Characteristics/Capacities of Structural Integration

The Main Purpose of Integration:

To 'maximise the individual and collective impact of the UN's response, concentrating on those activities required to consolidate peace'

Strategic Integration

APPLIES TO ALL contexts where the UN has a country team and multidimensional peacekeeping operations or political mission/office.

THIS SHOULD INCLUDE 'an effective strategic partnership between the UN mission/office and the country team, under the leadership of the SRSG (or ERSG)'.

Minimum Requirements of Strategic Integration

The minimum requirements of a UN integrated presence include:

- A shared vision of the UN's strategic objectives
- Closely aligned or integrated planning
- A set of agreed results, timelines and responsibility for delivery of tasks critical to consolidating peace
- Agreed mechanisms for monitoring and evaluation

Five Mechanisms that Support Strategic Integration HQ-Level Planning and Coordination

- 1. HQ-Level Integrated Mission Planning Process (IMPP) and Integrated (Mission) Task Forces (I(M)TFs)
 - Provides a 'basis for the planning of all new integrated presences and the revision of existing integrated presences'
 - Supported at UNHQ by a DPKO-led Integrated Mission Task Force (IMTF) or a DPA-led Integrated Task Force (ITF) and at the country level by Integrated Field Coordination Mechanisms (described below)

Country-Level Arrangements

2. Integrated Planning and Coordination

Each UN field presence should have a standing coordination body or bodies that bring together the Mission and the UNCT to provide strategic direction and planning oversight to the joint peace consolidation efforts of the UN field presence. Examples include Strategic Policy Groups and Integrated Strategy and Planning Teams.

3. ISF: Integrated Strategic Framework

Each integrated presence should undertake an ISF, which is a short, internal UN, strategic-level planning tool that includes:

- Shared vision and analysis
- Strategic objectives, results, timelines, responsibilities
- Coordination and implementation arrangements
- Monitoring

4. Shared Analytical and Planning Capacity

The IMPP and ISF should be supported in the field by a shared analytical and planning capacity. This can be accomplished through strategic-level integration but should include shared, dedicated staff capacity.

Shared analytical and planning capacities may include structural arrangements such as an integrated office or unit.

5. Optional Thematic Mechanisms

Thematic mechanisms include strategic-level processes and frameworks (UN system-wide strategies or working groups) that foster better coordination and planning on thematic issues such

as protection of civilians or objectives/pillars agreed in the ISF. Thematic mechanisms may also include structural arrangements such as staff dedicated to supporting the implementation of joint strategies, joint offices/units and sometimes joint programmes.

Gradations of Structural Arrangements

CONTEXT-SPECIFIC arrangements (in addition to the minimum requirements of strategic integration) that have integrated reporting lines and/or joint offices, assets, or resources. These may provide *Analytical and Planning Capacity (4)* or support *Optional Thematic Mechanisms (5)*. Structural arrangements may or may not include a triple-hat (DSRSG/RC/HC) and/or integration of humanitarian coordination or other pillars.

This diagram reflects the following policies: Decisions of the Secretary-General No. 24/2008 and existing IMPP Guidelines endorsed by the Secretary-General as of 2010 as well as practices observed in the cases reviewed for this study.

separate OCHA office, and minimising mission capacities and tasks that overlapped with the mandates of UN humanitarian actors (HPG and Stimson interviews, 2011).²⁷

UN staff also noted that the planning process focused on mission start-up, rather than planning for the duration of the UN integrated presence, and that consideration of humanitarian concerns arising from changes in the context or the UN mission mandate was at times inadequate. Many interviewees highlighted the experience of Afghanistan, where despite a serious deterioration in the situation from 2006 onwards, and substantial changes in the mandate of UNAMA in 2008, there was a reluctance to adapt existing arrangements to better protect humanitarian principles, for example through the establishment of a separate OCHA office. Similarly, in DRC, some UN humanitarian staff expressed concerns about the lack of a review of UN integration arrangements in relation to MONUC's new focus on stabilisation.²⁸

3.2.2 Leadership structures and accountability

Leadership structures vary in the contexts reviewed in this study. In Afghanistan, DRC, Liberia and CAR, the RC/HC is also the DSRSG. These 'triple hats' report, in relation to their respective responsibilities, to the SRSG (for performance of their DSRSG responsibilities), to the ERC (for performance of their HC responsibilities) and to the UNDP Administrator (for performance of their RC responsibilities).²⁹ The purpose of integrating the DSRSG/RC/HC role in the mission structure is to ensure greater coherence of the UN effort and leadership, to facilitate a complementary approach amongst senior managers of the UN integrated presence and to ensure effective management of the competing priorities assigned to the mission. The RC/HC role has been kept separate from UNPOS³⁰ in Somalia, and in Darfur the RC/HC is separate from UNAMID.31 These structures were agreed following concerns expressed by humanitarian actors that a more distinct humanitarian leadership/coordination function was required in these contexts because of the nature and dynamics of the conflict parties, the risks relating to association of humanitarian actors with political

27 A number of interviewees expressed concerns that these early 'successes' were subsequently eroded as the humanitarian liaison unit in UNAMID has been significantly expanded in both size and scope, thereby overlapping with existing capacities and mandates of the UNCT.

28 However, a number of respondents also highlighted that the differences with MONUC's mandate and activities were small, and that the introduction of an explicit 'stabilisation' strategy merely formalised existing activities.

29 The DSRSG/RC/HC is also usually assigned the function of Resident Representative of UNDP.

30 In Somalia, the decision to maintain a separate RC/HC was based on a recommendation from the 2008 and 2010 Strategic Assessments, and reaffirmed in a principals level meeting convened by the Chef de Cabinet of the SG.

31 During the time period reviewed for this study (2005–2007), the RC/HC in Sudan was also the DSRSG for UNMIS, with a Deputy RC/HC focusing primarily on Darfur. The Deputy RC/HC was maintained when UNAMID was established in 2008, but continued to report to the existing RC/HC and kept separate to the Joint Special Representative of UNAMID. In 2011, following the referendum that resulted in the creation of an independent Republic of South Sudan, UNMIS was withdrawn and the former Deputy RC/HC function has now been combined in one RC/HC position for the Republic of Sudan, including Darfur.

or peacekeeping agendas and the need for dedicated capacity to lead the humanitarian response.

The integrated leadership structures (e.g. the combining of the DSRSG and RC/HC roles) have become one of the major points of tension and confusion between UN political/peacekeeping actors and the humanitarian community. In the design of new mission structures respondents involved in the planning process asserted that there was a tendency on the part of the lead department (DPA or DPKO) to view the DRSRG/RC/HC as the default leadership option in UN integrated presences. Many humanitarian actors argue that, in some contexts, integrated leadership on humanitarian issues is not appropriate as there is a need for a distinct identity for the HC, separate from the UN mission, to minimise the influence, or the appearance of influence, of the UN's political objectives on its humanitarian efforts. In addition, they argue that there is a need for dedicated capacity to lead the humanitarian response – many respondents noted that it was not possible for one manager to dedicate appropriate attention to all of these competing tasks and that invariably the humanitarian responsibilities were de-prioritised as a result. However, the SRSGs, DSRSG/RC/HCs and DSRSGs (political) interviewed for this study highlighted the advantages of this combined role, arguing that the position was able to more effectively influence internal mission planning and decisionmaking processes, as well as external actors (including host state governments), to the benefit of humanitarian action (HPG and Stimson interviews, 2011).

This study found that reluctance to establish a separate HC is not always a function of the opposition of lead departments. In March 2011, motivated by the need for increased leadership and capacity dedicated to the negotiation of humanitarian access and humanitarian advocacy, the Humanitarian Country Team (HCT) in Afghanistan requested the creation of a stand-alone HC, yet this request was never considered by the relevant HQ mechanisms (e.g. the Afghanistan IMTF).32 Although there may have been additional reasons, humanitarian respondents in Afghanistan indicated that some HCT members did not consult their headquarters before making their request to the ERC and that this was identified as one reason why the request was not backed at the global level. This example illustrates that implementation of UN integration is also influenced by existing challenges in the relationship between the field and HQs, not just within the UN secretariat but also within UN agencies, funds and programmes.

The debate on the combined DSRSG/RC/HC function cannot be entirely separated from long-standing policy debates on combining the RC and HC functions. As noted, these debates have focused on concerns that one manager cannot realistically pay sufficient attention to, or balance tensions between, each of these important roles and that as a result the humanitarian tasks have tended to be de-prioritised in favour of longer-

32 Letter from the Humanitarian Country Team (Afghanistan) to Valerie Amos, Emergency Relief Coordinator, 6 March 2011, unpublished document.

term development priorities. However, others, in particular UN development and multi-mandated agencies, have argued that a separation would undermine the important links between humanitarian and development/recovery strategies and would undermine the authority that the RC role can bring to the HC role in relations with national stakeholders (HPG and Stimson interviews, 2011).

SRSGs and DSRSG/RC/HCs interviewed in this study also highlighted the importance of a 'leadership team' (though this is not solely reliant on combining the DRSG/RC/HC roles), which could utilise the different roles, authorities or competencies to ensure stronger humanitarian leadership, as was the case in Darfur and CAR during the periods reviewed. In these cases, OCHA had consistently strong heads of office that could assume similar responsibilities to the HC, when necessary and as appropriate (see Chapter 4.5). A number of humanitarian respondents also highlighted the weaknesses of some individual mission leaders and shortcomings in the relationship between mission leaders, and stated that the potential added value of these complementary roles is often lost or has, in some instances, undermined humanitarian priorities. In this regard, maintaining and ensuring the appropriate use of the reporting lines of the DSRSG/RC/HC to the SRSG, the Emergency Relief Coordinator (ERC) and the UNDP Administrator was seen as crucial in ensuring appropriate consideration of humanitarian priorities in UN integrated contexts.

Discussions of structural arrangements have also been shaped by the debate on the location of humanitarian coordination functions, and whether a standalone OCHA office should be established or whether these functions should be integrated into the UN mission structure. This has been a source of tension and frustration in the planning and review of missions in several contexts, including Afghanistan and Liberia. In the former, the pre-existing OCHA coordination functions were folded into the mission structure when it was established in 2002. However, as noted earlier, the lead department (DPKO) and mission leadership were reluctant to review this arrangement when the context changed and humanitarian needs began to increase after 2006. NGO-led calls for a separate OCHA office intensified after UNAMA's mandate changed in 2008. NGOs argued that a separate UN humanitarian coordination function was needed to address gaps in programming and information that resulted because UNAMA did not have sufficient expertise or capacity to perform the necessary roles (various NGOs, 2008). Agreement was finally obtained in late 2008 for the creation of a separate OCHA office, which was established on 1 January 2009.

Of particular concern to many humanitarian respondents in this study was the lack, or perceived lack, of accountability for senior mission managers who failed to comply with the UN integration policy as it relates to protection of humanitarian space. Noting that there are concerns regarding the efficacy of performance management systems in the UN more generally, the examples in Somalia in particular (see Chapter 4.3 and

4.5) were highlighted in this regard. Many respondents noted that, even where it seems generally known that a mission manager has taken action that clearly undermined humanitarian principles, there is little evidence of them being held to account, or of corrective action being taken. This has contributed to a general perception amongst many humanitarian actors, UN and non-UN, that the policy and its provisions relating to humanitarian space are not taken seriously by lead departments or the senior management of the UN system more broadly.

3.2.3 Country-level arrangements

As noted earlier, decisions on country-level arrangements, with the exception of leadership and lines of accountability, have effectively been delegated to the country level (mission and UNCT). These arrangements include the development of the ISF and the establishment of strategic, thematic and operational coordination mechanisms and structures, as discussed below.

Integrated Strategic Framework (ISF)

In order to foster the development of the strategic partnership, the SG Decision of 2008 requires all UN integrated presences to develop an Integrated Strategic Framework (ISF). Subsequent IMPP guidance explained that the ISF should include a shared vision of the UN's strategic objectives; closely aligned or integrated planning; a set of agreed results and timelines and the allocation of responsibility for the delivery of tasks critical to consolidating peace; and agreed mechanisms for monitoring and evaluation. ISF support missions have commonly been deployed from the IMPP working group at headquarters, and have included staff of the lead department, OCHA, DOCO and UN agencies. The ISF for Somalia was developed in late 2010 and early 2011, and in Afghanistan it was completed in July 2011. A first draft of the ISF for DRC was developed in 2009–2010, and a new process was underway at the time this study was undertaken. An ISF was completed in CAR in 2010-2011.33 The ISF process should assist in determining the appropriate arrangements to support the achievement of the strategic vision (discussed below) and is also a product of these coordination arrangements since the strategic planning mechanisms are generally used to develop and revise the ISF. ISFs are intended to be revised on a regular basis to ensure appropriate strategic objectives and coordination between the UN integrated presence and the UNCT.

In Somalia and Afghanistan, UN respondents felt that the process of developing the ISF had been as important, if not more so, than the final product. Both UN humanitarian and political/peacekeeping staff generally felt that the process had brought them together at senior and working levels, a relatively unusual occurrence, and had increased mutual awareness of their respective priorities and challenges. Many noted that this was the start of a process of confidence-building, and that this type of discussion should continue. Views on the final document in Afghanistan and Somalia varied, but most 37 The time periods reviewed in Darfur (2005–2007) and Liberia (2003–2008) preceded the policies and guidelines that required the development of an ISE

UN humanitarian actors felt that their considerations and priorities had been dealt with appropriately. In Afghanistan, humanitarian perspectives were included in the context analysis, but humanitarian actors argued against including a specific humanitarian objective because they felt that the ISF was focused on activities aimed towards peace consolidation, and that it was important therefore to make a clear distinction between the ISF and the UN's humanitarian aims; the document points readers to the Consolidated Appeals Process (CAP) as the principal humanitarian strategy. In Somalia, the process and the final draft were generally viewed positively by humanitarian actors, though many noted that further work is required to resolve outstanding areas of disagreement.

Key challenges remain in relation to the ISF process, particularly in DRC. During the first ISF process in 2009, MONUSCO staff argued that the ISF should be an internal UN planning document as per the IMPP guidance, whereas some UNCT members (including multi-mandated humanitarian agencies) felt that the process should include the host government. Some UNCT respondents interviewed for this study also expressed concerns that, following a Technical Assessment Mission to DRC, the 'final' ISF document was changed by the lead department at headquarters, adding benchmarks for transition that were perceived as more relevant for the peacekeeping mission than for UN agencies. These disagreements over process and substance stalled finalisation of the document. The 2009 ISF was ultimately rejected by the DRC government. At the time of the research visit, MONUSCO was initiating a new process.

In addition, despite guidance in the 2010 IMPP, there was a lack of clarity across the three main case studies as to how the ISF should relate to existing planning processes and frameworks, specifically CAPs and the UN Development Assistance Framework (UNDAF). UN agency staff interviewed in a number of contexts noted that, because no funding was tied to the ISF, there was little incentive or value for UN agencies to participate in an additional planning process. In CAR the ISF was considered an intermediary step between the existing UNDAF and the forthcoming 'UNDAF Plus', and was felt to have usefully filled a gap in terms of strategies covering early recovery, governance and national capacity-building. In Somalia, some NGOs also expressed concern about the lack of transparency in the process, and were unclear whether it was internal to the UN or whether they should have been consulted (HPG and Stimson interviews, 2011).

Integrated Coordination Mechanisms

As noted earlier, IMPP guidance on implementation of UN integration requires a minimum level of coordination between the UN mission and UNCT to support the development and achievement of the UN's vision and agreed strategic objectives (often identified in the Strategic Assessment and/or ISF). The 2010 IMPP guidelines specify that mechanisms must be in place at the 'strategic, coordination and planning levels' (UN, 2010a), but allow for flexibility in how this is achieved. The research team identified a variety of country-level arrangements across the case

studies. These include strategic coordination mechanisms used to facilitate senior level 'strategic direction and planning oversight' (both at the beginning and throughout the life of the integrated presence) such as Senior Policy Groups (SPGs), thematic coordination between the UN mission and UNCT (often on agreed objectives identified in the ISF process) and, in some cases, operational support mechanisms have been, or are, required to support integration. In some instances, arrangements have included dedicated staffing structures and capacities and in others they took the form of strategic coordination mechanisms.

In the main case studies considered in this research, coordination mechanisms are in place to support planning and the achievement of strategic objectives, including both strategic coordination and formal structural arrangements. It should be noted that, according to the IMPP guidelines, these arrangements should exist throughout the duration of the mission, and are meant to constitute a senior leadership team, as called for in multiple fora, not solely for the purpose of specific planning processes such as the ISF.

In Somalia, an SPG was established as a strategic coordination mechanism in 2011. The SPG is led by the SRSG and includes the RC/HC and head of UNSOA. The SPG has to some degree facilitated coordination, including in relation to humanitarian advocacy (see Chapter 4.5). In DRC there are a number of integrated senior-level strategic arrangements to support planning and implementation of strategic objectives, including a Strategic Planning Group and an Integrated Mission Planning Team, which involves MONUSCO, OCHA and UN agencies.

In addition to these coordination mechanisms, the 2010 IMPP guidelines also call for a 'shared analytical and planning capacity' (UN, 2010a) and these are in place in varying forms in each of the three main contexts. In Somalia a Joint Planning Unit (JPU) was established in 2010,34 as a working-level virtual integrated unit, with staff from UNPOS and the UNCT, tasked with ensuring regular information exchange between its core members (UNPOS, OCHA, the Resident Coordinator's Office (on behalf of UNCT), UNDSS and UNSOA), facilitating more informed planning and providing a forum to discuss, negotiate and resolve tensions between UN agencies and UNPOS.35

MONUC (now MONUSCO) established an Integrated Office (IO) in 2005. The IO is an integrated unit with dedicated civilian staffing from the mission and UNCT. It reports to the DRSRG/RC/HC and 'works with UN agencies and MONUSCO sections to

34 The establishment of the JPU was delayed by two years, which may have reinforced existing perceptions that UNPOS and UN integration did not offer any added value to the humanitarian community. The delay in the establishment of the unit was due to the timing of budget cycles, a slow recruitment process, obstruction from the then SRSG and overall lack of capacity within UNPOS (HPG and Stimson interviews, 2011).

35 Originally the JPU was meant to engage with the various thematic working groups that were to be established under the ISF to facilitate cooperation between UNPOS and the UNCT on the objectives identified in the ISF. Discussion regarding the form of these working groups is ongoing.

identify concrete objectives that can be better achieved through joint action' (United Nations Organisations in the DRC, 2011). Many respondents asserted that it has facilitated more effective and appropriate efforts in support of joint UN and mission objectives, including protection of civilians and combating sexual violence.³⁶

In line with DPKO internal guidance, DPKO-led missions will also usually have a Joint Mission Analysis Cell (JMAC)³⁷ to gather, analyse and disseminate information from across the UN system and from external sources, including non-UN humanitarian actors (UN DPKO, 2006). A JMAC was established in DRC in 2005, comprising analysts from diverse backgrounds including humanitarian work.³⁸ At times, the JMAC has included a secondment from OCHA and it was noted that this had proved particularly useful in ensuring access to humanitarian information and, in turn, the inclusion of this information in the analysis provided to support senior-level decision-making. In Afghanistan a Joint Analysis and Policy Unit (JAPU) has been created to perform similar functions to the JMAC. The JAPU is currently expanding outreach to UN humanitarian actors to collate information and share analysis.

Thematic and programmatic processes and mechanisms As noted above, the IMPP guidance encourages UN missions to establish integrated strategies, processes and mechanisms to support specific objectives agreed in the ISF. The study team found a range of these 'thematic' strategies, processes and mechanisms in the cases studied, many of which were 'bottom-up' initiatives designed to address challenges the integrated presence was facing on the ground. The 2010 IMPP guidelines encouraged country-level arrangements to build upon existing thematic coordination mechanisms, including humanitarian clusters, as appropriate, which was the case in some contexts.

In Afghanistan, CAR, DRC and Liberia, civilian representatives of the UN mission participated (as observers or members) in the humanitarian cluster system or similar mechanisms dealing with shared or common goals, such as civilian protection and early recovery. In Afghanistan, protection of civilians is to some extent a shared objective between the mission and agencies and NGOs. Although UNAMA does not have an

36 The IO is also tasked with supporting joint objectives in relation to the stabilisation of Eastern DRC and peace consolidation in the western provinces, inclusive operations management, security measures and transitional activities.

37 In DPKO-led missions, a Joint Operations Centre (JOC) and a JMAC is required at the in-country headquarters to support head of mission decision-making. JOCs are 24-hour information centres that provide daily situation analysis based on information gathered from across the UN system. A JMAC collects and synthesises information (including from beyond the UN system) to provide medium- to long-term context analysis. At the time of this study, political missions had not yet established a comparable policy on the establishment of information gathering and analysis capacities. See DPKO Policy Directive, 'Joint Operations Centers and Joint Mission Analysis Centers', 1 July 2006. Available at http://www.peacekeepingbestpractices.unlb.org.

38 It should be noted that having a humanitarian background does not necessarily mean that individuals are representing humanitarian interests or concerns.

explicit protection mandate, it does have a human rights component that monitors and reports on civilian casualties. The UNAMA Human Rights Unit has in the past been a co-lead of the Protection Cluster with UNHCR, and it continues to share information and analysis and identify trends and areas of priority. As outlined in Chapter 4.5, this strategic arrangement has facilitated collaboration and complementary advocacy efforts on protection of civilians, which were deemed to have improved protection outcomes.

New strategic arrangements have also been created in Afghanistan. Each ISF objective or pillar has a corresponding UN integrated working group led by UN agency and/or UNAMA representatives and supported by the Resident Coordinators Office. These mechanisms do not include NGOs, and are primarily focused on recovery and development issues; however, some, such as maternal health and protection and rule of law, cover issues of humanitarian concern, and as a result a number of UN humanitarian agencies are engaging in them. Discussions are ongoing in Somalia between UNPOS and the UNCT on establishing integrated thematic units relating to the objectives identified in the ISF. Again, these are largely linked to development, governance and recovery issues.

Strategic arrangements in DRC include thematic strategies and coordination forums, complemented by structural arrangements. MONUSCO facilitates these processes and dedicates additional civilian resources to them, while seeking to avoid overlap with UN agencies and clusters.³⁹ Many of these structures relate to the development of joint coordination mechanisms, strategies and assessments on protection of civilians. 40 Although protection of civilians has been a mandated task for most UN peacekeeping missions since 1999, in 2008 the Security Council asserted it as the priority objective of MONUSCO. Protection is also a key objective of the humanitarian community, as asserted in the Humanitarian Action Plan. Collaboration between MONUSCO and the UN humanitarian community and partners on this issue has become more formal in recent years, drawing on the comparative advantages of the mission (civilian (including police) and military) and the wider humanitarian community.

In consultation with the protection cluster, in 2009 MONUSCO developed a UN System-Wide Strategy on the Protection of Civilians, and created mechanisms to facilitate coordination between MONUSCO (civilian and military components) and

39 Some UN agencies and NGOs were concerned that MONUSCO was taking over responsibilities and activities that should be led by the UNCT, while others recognised that the mission had a distinct role in providing protection from physical violence, as well as a comparative advantage in terms of access to resources. Some respondents also noted that the protection cluster had struggled over the years to maintain consistent leadership capacity and resources, and that this was affecting collaboration between the mission and the cluster.

40 There are also structural links between MONUSCO and the UN agencies in relation to combating conflict-related sexual violence. The DSRSG-ROL is the UN lead for combating sexual violence.

the UNCT/HCT. These include the Senior Management Group-Protection (SMG-P)⁴¹ at the national level and the Senior Management Group-Protection Provincial (SMG-PP).⁴²

The SMG-P includes mission personnel (civilian and military), OCHA and UNHCR, thus linking to the protection cluster.⁴³ Meetings are facilitated by the IO. The SMG-PPs were just being established in provincial mission offices at the time of the research visit but have, or are intended to include, similar representation at the provincial level and are supported by the Civil Affairs Section. The Civil Affairs Section, which also reports to the DSRSG/RC/HC, dedicates the bulk of its capacities and resources to support interaction on protection between UN agencies and the various civilian and military components of MONUSCO. In 2006, the protection cluster and the Civil Affairs Section developed a protection matrix outlining the geographic areas they felt should be prioritised for MONUSCO military or other support. Today, the matrices, which cover different geographical areas, include input from NGOs and are used as a basis for discussion in the SMG-P and SMG-PPs on the prioritisation of mission resources for protection of civilians. The SMG-Ps and protection matrices are being used in Kinshasa and in parts of Eastern DRC to develop common strategic approaches, help with joint assessment and analysis and ensure more effective protection responses (see Chapter 4).

There has also been some effort to coordinate within the UN integrated presence on 'stabilisation' strategies. MONUSCO is explicitly mandated to support stabilisation in conflict-affected parts of DRC, and coordination between MONUSCO and the UNCT on this has included integrated strategies, funding and programmes. There are two stabilisation strategies and structures in DRC. The first is the Stabilisation and Reconstruction Plan for War-Affected Areas (STAREC), launched in 2009, which includes humanitarian and social assistance as a key priority. In order to implement STAREC, the mission developed the International Security and Stabilisation Support Strategy (ISSSS) in 2008/9 and established the Stabilisation Unit, an integrated UN structure based in Goma. Two of the ISSSS priorities relate to the role and programmes of humanitarian actors, including sexual violence and return, reintegration and recovery. UNHCR, UNICEF

41 The SMG-P includes the SRSG, DSRSG/RC/HC, DSRSG-ROL, Force Commander, Police Commissioner, the head of OHCHR, the country representative of UNHCR and the OCHA head of country office.

42 Initially the protection cluster was the primary mechanism for communication and coordination in DRC. It was initially co-chaired by UNHCR and MONUSCO. However, MONUSCO was later asked to relinquish this role over concerns that it was not appropriate for the mission to lead a humanitarian coordination mechanism. A Protection Working Group was created in the Kivus to facilitate better communication and coordination between the mission and the humanitarian community. The SMG-P and SMG-PP were modelled on this working group.

43 At the global level, on behalf of the Global Protection Cluster, OCHA is currently leading an initiative to develop guidance on interaction between the Protection Cluster and UN peacekeeping missions (which are integrated where there is a UNCT).

44 The other two priorities of STAREC are security and the restoration of state authority, and economic recovery.

45 The other three core objectives of the ISSSS are security, political dialogue and state authority.

and several NGOs have been involved in the elaboration and implementation of these objectives.

Tensions have arisen between stabilisation's political and security-related objectives (including military tactics that have had a deleterious impact on civilians) and the humanitarian principles of neutrality and impartiality, as well as the principle of 'do no harm'. After careful discussion with UN agencies, the scope of the ISSSS was nuanced to better reflect humanitarian concerns. In this regard, UN agencies explained that they have sought to manage their involvement by undertaking programmes under the stabilisation rubric only where the stabilisation geographical and programme priorities match humanitarian geographical and programme priorities (HPG and Stimson interviews, 2011). Where stabilisation priorities did not match the agencies' analysis of humanitarian needs, they did not engage in the stabilisation programme (HPG and Stimson interviews, 2011). Moreover, humanitarian actors involved in the ISSSS Return, Recovery and Reintegration pillar worked together to ensure that under this pillar, activities were undertaken with due respect for humanitarian principles and the concept of 'do no harm'. In Somalia, there are also attempts by UNPOS to coordinate with the UNCT on stabilisation, a continuing challenge for the UN as outlined in the ISF. However, the UNCT is reluctant to engage in what is considered a highly political area of intervention.

3.2.4 Operational support

The final area of country level arrangements relates to the provision of support for integrated operations including administration and finance, logistics and security management. Mechanisms established in these areas originate in policies and practices that differ from those discussed in Chapter 2, and are not adequately addressed in existing IMPP guidelines. They are however connected to both the practice of UN integration and the impact that integration arrangements may have on humanitarian space.

Administration and finance

In the contexts reviewed integrated coordination arrangements that required an investment of staff and other resources from the UN mission (DPKO or DPA) were constrained by ongoing challenges relating to the lack of integration of administrative and financial systems between the Secretariat and UN agencies, funds and programmes. For example, structural arrangements in DRC were largely supported out of the peacekeeping mission's assessed funds. However, secondments of UN humanitarian staff were funded by OCHA or by the UN agencies concerned, making these positions and resources susceptible to unpredictable changes in voluntary funding. In almost every case reviewed, bureaucracy relating to administrative and financial systems hindered the easy and effective sharing and use of staff and resources in integrated mechanisms, increasing transaction costs and exacerbating tensions between the actors involved.

Logistics

DPKO missions such as MONUSCO in DRC typically deploy large-scale logistical assets including air and other transportation assets. In an integrated mission, these assets are more readily accessible to UN humanitarian actors because of integrated lines of accountability and because the mission is nominally obliged to take into consideration the logistical needs of UN humanitarian agencies and OCHA (see Chapter 4.4.2). However, there remain administrative and financial challenges to the shared use of logistical assets. Some UN humanitarian staff and staff in NGOs felt that they were overlooked in favour of mission staff and were often withdrawn from flights at the last minute. This prioritisation related both to the administrative and financial arrangements mentioned above, and to the understanding of mission staff.

Security

Following the attacks against the UN in Baghdad in 2003, the UN embarked on what it described as a radical reform of its security management, merging the various UN security systems into a single framework under an Under-Secretary-General for security and safety in 2004.⁴⁶ The United Nations Department of Safety and Security (UNDSS) was established in January 2005 to support this function at headquarters and in

46 This decision was taken by the General Assembly in A/RES/59/276, XI, 7–23 December 2004.

country operations, where decision-making responsibilities are delegated to a Designated Official (DO). Security management processes are now part of the integrated UN presence. Current guidance states that, in UN integrated missions, the highestlevel UN authority – usually the SRSG – serves as the DO, with authority transferred to the DSRSG/RC/HC in the SRSG's absence from the country (HPG and Stimson interviews, 2011). The DO function is supported by a Security Management Team (SMT). Outside of the mission headquarters, the DO function is delegated to an Area Security Coordinator (ASC), commonly the head of the local office of the UN mission (where one exists), rather than a representative of the DSRSG/ RC/HC (e.g. senior manager of OCHA or a UN agency). Area Security Management Teams (ASMTs) support the ASC function. The SMT and ASMTs generally include mission security staff, UNDSS staff and representatives of OCHA and UN agencies. In fact, guidance states that the SMT should include representatives of intergovernmental organisations and NGOs that have signed a memorandum of understanding with UNDSS. Other support mechanisms include Security Cells, which undertake assessments and provide analysis to support decision-making by the DO or ASC, and which may involve security officers from agencies and NGOs, as well as Joint Mission Analysis Centers and Joint Operation Centers in DPKO-led missions.

Chapter 4 The impact of UN integration arrangements on humanitarian space

This chapter assesses the impact of specific UN integration arrangements on the five areas of humanitarian space identified for this study: humanitarian worker security, access, engagement with non-state armed actors, perceptions of humanitarian actors and humanitarian advocacy. Whilst this chapter discusses each of the five areas separately, they are closely inter-connected; impact in one area affects another. This is reflected in the analysis below. As per the terms of reference for this study, this chapter will assess first the positive and then the negative impacts in each area of humanitarian space.

The analysis will illustrate that there have been both positive and negative impacts in these five areas, and that these impacts have varied between UN humanitarian actors (UN agencies and OCHA) and NGOs and other non-UN humanitarian actors. It should be noted that this study found that many other factors, in addition to UN integration, directly impact humanitarian action in each context and determine whether and how integration arrangements can enhance or restrict humanitarian space. These factors are discussed in Chapter 5.

This chapter is based on the findings from the three main case studies, supported with data from the three desk review contexts.

4.1 Security of humanitarian workers

To the extent that motivations for attacks on humanitarian workers can be determined, available security analysis, statistical data and incident reporting provide no clear evidence of a direct link between UN integration arrangements and attacks on humanitarian workers in the contexts reviewed for this study. Previous research on this topic has similarly concluded that attacks are the result of various criminal, political and economic interests, and there is no evidence to suggest that attacks against humanitarian workers are more likely to occur in a UN integrated mission context (Harmer, 2008). Even in Afghanistan, for which the most comprehensive data is available, the Afghan NGO Safety Office (ANSO) could identify no cases where there was a clear link between a security incident affecting an NGO and UN integration arrangements (HPG and Stimson interviews, 2011).

Despite the absence of clear empirical evidence, most security analysts interviewed for this study tended to agree that, in particular environments, the association of humanitarian actors with political actors including the UN can increase security risks. Given what is at stake – the lives of humanitarian workers and the effective delivery of lifesaving assistance to those in need (and noting that these incidents occur in volatile and uncertain environments) – it is prudent to take into account these concerns and weigh the risks of certain UN integration arrangements against their potential benefits to humanitarian operations.

4.1.1 Threats to the security of humanitarian workers
Afghanistan, Somalia and DRC are among the most threatening places in the world for humanitarian workers. For the period 2008 to 2010, they accounted for 60% of the total number of humanitarian workers affected by violence (Humanitarian Outcomes, 2011). These incidents affect UN agencies and NGOs, with national staff, particularly of NGOs, bearing the brunt of incidents (Humanitarian Outcomes, 2011; Egeland et al., 2011).

In Afghanistan there has been a significant increase in security incidents since the resurgence of the Taliban in 2006. Last year 126 incidents involving NGOs were reported, including the killing of 28 staff (20 national, eight international) (ANSO, 2011). Despite increased risk-mitigation measures, the fatality rate has remained more or less constant since 2006, which saw the highest number of humanitarian worker fatalities since 1999 (Humanitarian Outcomes, 2011a). In Somalia there were over 150 incidents between 2006 and 2011, with a peak of 86 in 2008 (Humanitarian Outcomes, 2011b). The number of incidents has declined dramatically since 2008 largely because the humanitarian presence in South Central Somalia has been scaled back (HPG and Stimson interviews, 2011).47 In DRC there has been a steady increase in security incidents against humanitarian workers since 2008, with 112 incidents that year, 176 in 2009 and 198 in 2010 (DRC Humanitarian Action Plan, 2011 and OCHA, 2011a). In the year to September 2011 there were 133 incidents in North and South Kivu alone (these provinces usually account for the majority of incidents involving humanitarian personnel) (UN, 2011g).

Available empirical research and interviews conducted for this study suggest various proximate causes for attacks on humanitarian workers, including political, economic and criminal motives, and various root causes, including the blurring of the distinction between humanitarian assistance and military action and counter-insurgency and counter-terrorism strategies (Fast, 2010). In Somalia, many attacks are associated with economic incentives linked to clan dynamics and a widespread

47 The number of humanitarian actors in South Central Somalia increased in 2011 in response to the famine there.

perception at the local level that humanitarian assistance is a resource to be captured or shared (HPG and Stimson interviews, 2011). Many stakeholders also highlighted the dangers of being associated with the TFG, AMISOM, the US government and UNPOS. In Afghanistan, some interviews highlighted the 'blurring of the lines' between ISAF and humanitarian actors as a principal motive for attacks, whilst others suggest that attacks are linked to a broader military tactic by non-state armed actors to demonstrate their power and undermine the state or intervening international forces (HPG and Stimson interviews, 2011; see also Hammond, 2008). In DRC attacks are reportedly predominantly criminal or economic in nature, though there are also reports of humanitarian workers being kidnapped to secure prisoner exchanges (HPG and Stimson interviews, 2011). Individual and organisational factors such as the behaviour and nationality of individual staff, the quality of humanitarian programming, the lack of a coordinated strategy on security and the source of donor funding were also cited as key risk factors (HPG and Stimson interviews, 2011).

The emphasis on particular motives highlights a general tendency to reflect one's own immediate concerns. For example, in an attempt to reinforce the importance of humanitarian principles humanitarian actors tend to stress association with certain political entities or the 'politicisation of assistance' as the primary cause of attacks. Equally, some peacekeeping and political actors tend to emphasise criminal motives and radical ideologies as the primary cause (Fast 2010; HPG and Stimson interviews, 2011). Discussions with security analysts in the contexts studied suggest that there is some truth in most of the explanations put forward for attacks on humanitarian workers, highlighting the multiple causes behind them.

4.1.2 The impact of UN integration arrangements on the security of humanitarian workers Positive impacts

Despite the challenges outlined below, certain practices or mechanisms of UN integration have to a degree enhanced the physical protection of UN and non-UN staff in some of the contexts reviewed. There are also some positive examples of technical cooperation on security assessment and analysis.

UN peacekeeping missions are now regularly tasked with the protection of humanitarian workers (both UN and non-UN), as is the case with MONUSCO and UNAMID. Fulfilment of this task has been supported in some instances by UN integration arrangements. In DRC, for example, a number of respondents noted that the UN integrated environment has helped to ensure that the military component of the mission takes on board the needs of UN humanitarian actors, and to a degree those of their partners in the use of its assets. This has been reinforced by structural arrangements including the DSRSG/RC/HC role, the Integrated Office and the SMG-P and SMG-PPs, which have the authority and access to relevant decision-makers within the UN mission and are able to intervene on behalf of UN humanitarian actors and their

partners. In Haut and Bas Uele in north-eastern DRC, UN agencies and some NGOs rely on MONUSCO for area security and, as a last resort, military escorts. The mission's provision of area security in particular has proved an effective deterrent to the Lord's Resistance Army (LRA) and criminal gangs (HPG and Stimson interviews, 2011). Some respondents highlighted that, in the Kivus, there is a tendency to rely on MONUSCO military escorts as the default risk mitigation strategy, which is not always in line with the principle of last resort provided for in civil—military guidelines (see, for example, IASC 2008).

At the technical level there are some positive examples where integrated security structures had facilitated the sharing of security-related information. Engagement of UN and non-UN security professionals in the Security Cells in DRC and Afghanistan was seen as providing a useful forum for technicallevel collaboration between UN agencies and the mission. This cooperation was felt to have improved assessments of security risks in some areas, and has raised awareness of the different approaches to analysing security used by the humanitarian and the political or peacekeeping components of the UN (HPG and Stimson interviews, 2011). In DRC, some NGOs engage with MONUSCO on area security in order to inform their own security analysis and risk mitigation strategies, and in some cases have asked MONUSCO to deploy patrols after aid distributions in order to protect beneficiaries. UN military leaders in MONUSCO suggested that the UN integrated presence had facilitated their support to the humanitarian community, as they now felt under a greater obligation to offer their services.

In Liberia, representatives of UNMIL's JMAC participated in high-level and some working-level humanitarian coordination meetings to provide security briefings, and provided specialised briefings for new NGO representatives. Mission staff and UN and non-UN humanitarian respondents identified information sharing as one of the primary benefits of UN integration in Liberia. Noting the common reluctance of some lower-level military staff to share information, one of the UNMIL Deputy Force Commanders during the period reviewed (2006–2008) made particular efforts to ensure that security information was shared between his staff and UN and non-UN humanitarian actors. In the case of CAR, BINUCA does not have a JMAC or a Security Cell, but mechanisms including the UNCTs and SMTs and informal meetings are used to share political analysis and security-related information. Respondents reported daily, positive engagement between OCHA and BINUCA staff in this regard. In each of these cases, integrated arrangements have enabled information exchange on security-related issues that has benefited UN and non-UN humanitarian actors, either directly or via OCHA or the UNCT.

Despite these positive experiences, the potential benefits of UN integration arrangements in terms of sharing security-related information have not been fully realised because of the overall tensions around UN integration and humanitarian space and at times the absence of a transparent and accountable framework

for sharing and using information. It should be noted that some information, such as that relating to individual beneficiaries, is highly confidential and it is not appropriate to share (ICRC, 2008). In DRC and Somalia, many humanitarian actors, both UN and non-UN, expressed concerns about sharing security information with parts of the integrated presence for fear of improper use. In the case of DRC, UN agencies and NGOs were worried that the MONUSCO military component would use this information for military operations or share it with the FARDC. For their part, MONUSCO military staff said that their ability to share security information with NGOs was at times restricted because of FARDC concerns about confidentiality. In Somalia, some humanitarian actors were reluctant to share any security-related information with the UN in case it was passed by the mission to the United States, AMISOM or the TFG, potentially leading to accusations that they were spying (HPG and Stimson interviews, 2011). This reinforces the need for transparent and accountable frameworks for sharing and using information, which recognises concerns over the use of sensitive information.

Negative impacts

UN peacekeeping or political missions face increased threats where they have limited legitimacy and credibility or are acting against the interests of particular stakeholders. As discussed in Chapter 5, this lack of legitimacy can stem from the UN's historical role in a country and from its mandate and activities on the ground. In some of the cases studied, the UN mission is perceived to have taken sides in support of the government and against some opposition groups. In Somalia, for example, UNPOS was expelled from al-Shabaab-held areas in July 2009 because it was deemed to be supporting 'the apostate government' and positioning itself 'against the establishment of an Islamic state'48 in alignment with wider international objectives in Somalia. In DRC, targeted attacks by non-state armed actors on MONUSCO troops have in some cases been related to their role in disarming, demobilising and reintegrating fighters, which some groups see as undermining them by persuading their members to break ranks or by confiscating their weapons (HPG and Stimson interviews, 2011).⁴⁹

According to interviews with security analysts (both UN and non-UN), in these contexts association with, and physical proximity to, the UN political or peacekeeping mission and its objectives would mean that UN agencies and, to a lesser degree, other humanitarian actors share the security risks facing the mission. Security of humanitarian actors is in part based on an implicit agreement with the fighting parties: provided humanitarian action is carried out in a neutral and impartial manner, the parties allow humanitarian actors to operate and respond to needs (Leader, 2000). Associating humanitarian agencies with

48 'Press Release Regarding the Status of the Various NGOs and Foreign Agencies Operating in Somalia', Department of Political Affairs and Regional Administrations, Harakat Al-Shabaab Al-Mujahideen, 20 July 2009.

the UN's political or peacekeeping mission (especially when its mandate is contested) can violate this agreement and places the work of humanitarians at risk.

This sharing of risks is more likely to occur when UN integration arrangements are publicly visible, such as through integrated leadership (e.g. DSRSG/RC/HC), joint programming and other structural arrangements, for instance the integration of OCHA within the mission. The risk of association through integration arrangements is also likely to be higher in contexts where external stakeholders or non-state armed actors that pose a threat to the UN presence may be able and willing to differentiate between different UN actors and adhere to international humanitarian law (HPG and Stimson interviews, 2011). For this reason, structural arrangements have not been implemented in Somalia, with UN security professionals suggesting this is an important measure for mitigating security risks for humanitarian personnel.

It is important to note, however, that association with the UN mission is not solely the result of UN integration arrangements. UN agencies can be associated with the political objectives of the UN by virtue of the fact that they are part of the UN system. As highlighted by UNHCR: 'As part of the UN, we have to some extent to live with contradictions. We cannot aspire to the same degree of independence as, for example, the ICRC or a humanitarian NGO. We must recognise that the humanitarian family is diverse, and reconcile our role in building national protection capacity, including the capacity of government institutions (as, for example, in Afghanistan), with our humanitarian mandate' (UNHCR, 2009).

NGOs can be associated because they are part of UN-led coordination mechanisms like the clusters, and some are implementing partners for UN agencies. This is a particular risk where international or national military forces have sought to use humanitarian assistance in their counter-insurgency and stabilisation activities and when groups lack the will or capacity to distinguish between the roles, responsibilities and guiding principles of different UN agencies and NGOs. In Afghanistan, for example, a threat issued by the Islamic Emirate of Afghanistan in June 2011 made no distinction between the UN, NGOs or other foreign organisations, noting that 'they are all funded by the Pentagon under the name "PRT" or "aid organisation", but these are all part of the process of occupying our country, and therefore they are not allowed to function' (Zabihullah Mujahid, 2011). In Somalia, al-Shabaab seems able and willing to distinguish between UN organisations and individual NGOs, expelling particular organisations due to their links with US funding or to certain programming, such as food aid, but does not always choose to do so (HPG and Stimson interviews, 2011).

In such cases, it is clearly important that humanitarian organisations invest in strategies to make and maintain a distinction between themselves and other actors and decisions

⁴⁹ For example, armed men (alleged to be Mai Mai) attacked a MONUSCO base at Rwindi in North Kivu on 23 October 2010. On 18 August 2010, armed men killed three MONUSCO peacekeepers and injured seven at a base at Kirumba in North Kivu (HPG and Stimson interviews, 2011).

on visible UN integration arrangements should be informed by a comprehensive analysis of all risk factors, including those relating to association with the UN mission. UN integration policy, such as the SG Decision of 2008 and OCHA's policy instruction of 2009, emphasises the need for flexibility in the design of structural arrangements partly to mitigate these risks. However, many humanitarian respondents questioned whether flexibility had been demonstrated in relation to the DSRSG/ RC/HC role. Despite requests from the country-level HCT for a separate HC, the combined DSRSG/RC/HC function is still in place in Afghanistan and OCHA, albeit now independent from UNAMA, and is still co-located in some UNAMA compounds for security reasons. Concerned about the security risks of being perceived as associated with UNAMA, many international and national NGOs have stopped or severely restricted their visits to UN offices, particularly common UN premises, and some have as a result withdrawn from UN-led humanitarian coordination initiatives, including individual clusters and discussions at the HCT level (HPG and Stimson interviews, 2011). Although the SG Decision 2008 states that UN integration arrangements should 'facilitate effective humanitarian coordination with all humanitarian actors', these integration arrangements in Afghanistan have impacted upon coordination within the humanitarian community.

4.2 Humanitarian access

As defined by UN General Assembly Resolution 46/182, humanitarian access has two key aspects: the ability of humanitarian actors to reach populations in need of protection and assistance; and the ability of affected populations to access assistance and basic services (UN, 1991). Whilst recognising the importance of the latter, this study necessarily focuses on the former because of constraints in engaging with communities in the course of this study.

Examples collected in the field, and in secondary case reviews, demonstrate that certain UN integration arrangements have supported increased access for UN and some non-UN humanitarian actors, through facilitating the use of mission logistical assets, use of UN military escorts (as a last resort) and provision of area security. There are, however, opportunities to support humanitarian access, including sharing of information and analysis, that are not being exploited. There are also concerns about the extent to which UN integration arrangements have resulted in a more risk-averse approach in UN operational security management policies and practices, which in turn has affected access for UN humanitarian actors and their partners. The extent of this impact was unclear and requires further exploration.

4.2.1 Challenges to humanitarian access

In the three main case studies, humanitarian actors face serious constraints in accessing populations in need. In DRC access is limited in large areas of the country; few humanitarian organisations can operate freely in South Central Somalia; and

in Afghanistan some UN agencies reported having access to only about half of the country. Information collected from the field indicates that access is limited for a variety of reasons, many of them well-known and articulated in detail elsewhere. Constraints include bureaucratic impediments imposed by governments and non-state armed groups, logistical and infrastructure limitations, high levels of insecurity and restrictive operational security management measures (see for example UN, 2009b; Egeland et al., 2011).

4.2.2 The impact of UN integration arrangements on humanitarian access

Positive impacts

In several of the contexts studied, UN integration arrangements have enabled increased humanitarian access for UN agencies and some of their partners through the provision of logistical and security assets, such as passenger and cargo transportation, shared residential and office accommodation and the use of UN military assets for escorts and area security. Although UN peacekeeping missions are commonly mandated by the Security Council to facilitate humanitarian access, as is the case of MONUC,50 UNAMID51 and UNMIL,52 UN mission and humanitarian staff explained that having a mandate is not in itself sufficient to ensure actual support on the ground. The DSRSG/RC/HC function in particular was deemed crucial in ensuring that, to the extent possible, UN mission staff allowed timely and appropriate access to mission logistical and air assets for UN agencies and, where relevant, their NGO partners (HPG and Stimson interviews, 2011). In DRC the former DSRSG/ RC/HC was able to use his authority as a senior manager within the mission to intervene with mission logistics staff. In CAR, the DSRSG/RC/HC also used his position within the mission to call for DFS/DPKO logistical support to transport crucial humanitarian supplies from the UN logistics hub at Entebbe, Uganda. BINUCA covered the financial costs of transportation (HPG and Stimson Interviews, 2011).

MONUSCO air assets have been crucial for many UN agencies and NGOs in DRC as only around a fifth of the country is accessible by road (DRC Humanitarian Action Plan, 2009) and the UN Humanitarian Air Service (UNHAS) programme is insufficient to meet agencies' needs (HPG and Stimson interviews, 2011). As noted earlier, MONUSCO has played a key role in securing access to populations in Haut and

- 50 Security Council Resolution 1906 (2009) required MONUC to 'Ensure the effective protection of civilians, humanitarian personnel and United Nations personnel and facilities' (UN, 2009d).
- 51 Security Council Resolution 2003 requires UNAMID to 'ensur[e] safe, timely and unhindered humanitarian access, and the safety and security of humanitarian personnel and humanitarian activities, so as to facilitate the unimpeded delivery of humanitarian assistance throughout Darfur; and requests UNAMID to maximise the use of its capabilities, in cooperation with the UN Country Team and other international and non-governmental actors, in the implementation of its mission-wide comprehensive strategy for the achievement of these objectives' (UN, 2011e).
- 52 Security Council Resolution 1509 (2003) required UNMIL to support 'Humanitarian and Human Rights Assistance: [and] to facilitate the provision of humanitarian assistance, including by helping to establish the necessary security conditions' (UN, 2003a).

Bas Uele in Province Orientale by providing aircraft, area security and military escorts as a last resort.⁵³ In Afghanistan DPKO/DFS logistical assets, including access to residential or office accommodation, have been used by OCHA and some UN agency staff to access remote areas where the general security situation is extremely difficult.

UNMIL in Liberia was explicitly mandated to assist with the provision of humanitarian aid, including ensuring access for humanitarian agencies, and the integrated mission was used as the mechanism through which the military and civilian components of UNMIL engaged with UN humanitarian actors to plan and coordinate this support. In the early years of UNMIL, weekly integrated Humanitarian Operation Centre (HOC) meetings were held between UN humanitarian agencies and UNMIL's CIMIC and humanitarian coordination staff. UNMIL CIMIC seconded an officer to the HOC and the JMAC also attended to provide security briefings. These HOC meetings were used to coordinate UNMIL patrols which were aimed at facilitating humanitarian assessments, as well as protecting the civilian population (Fiawosime, 2005). In addition, UNMIL military engineers along with civilian components were involved in the construction of infrastructure to facilitate the movement of humanitarian assistance and the return of refugees (HPG and Stimson interviews, 2011).

In Darfur in 2006 and 2007, negotiations on the extension of the formal agreement between the government of Sudan and the UN to enable humanitarian access, the Joint Communique, were led by OCHA and the DSRSG/RC/HC of UNMIS. Most respondents highlighted that the fact that the RC/HC was also the DSRSG (a senior manager in a large UN peacekeeping mission) was crucial in brokering this agreement and in subsequent discussions on access because it lent him significant additional authority and leverage vis-à-vis the government.

Although many humanitarian actors recognised the potential benefits to access presented by integration arrangements, concerns were raised about the consistency of UN mission support in this regard. Some UN agency staff in DRC reported difficulties in consistently getting use of mission aircraft (particularly for regular flights), and OCHA staff in Afghanistan were unable to secure UNAMA residential accommodation in some field locations despite repeated requests (HPG and Stimson interviews, 2011). In each study location, the research team also found differing views amongst non-UN humanitarian actors on the appropriateness of using UN integrated mission assets to access populations in need. Some NGOs do so as a last resort, or because of convenience or financial considerations (UN mission flights are provided free of charge). Other non-UN humanitarian actors do not, as a matter of policy, use UN civilian or military assets and 53 It should be noted that there are far fewer MONUSCO troops in these areas than in North and South Kivu. Given the threat posed by the LRA and other groups, humanitarians asserted that they had argued for increased MONUSCO military deployments to provide area security in Haut and Bas Uele in Province Orientale (HPG and Stimson interviews, 2011).

would prefer to see an increase in the capacity of UNHAS or other comparable non-mission assets (HPG and Stimson interviews, 2011).

Negative impacts

Many respondents highlighted problems with the UN's operational security management system, specifically that it tends to emphasise protective rather than enabling approaches to managing security risks. There has been a problem historically within the UN system in that there has been a tendency towards avoiding risk, rather than seeking to more effectively manage it.54 This is not directly related to UN integration arrangements. However, as discussed in Chapter 3, in UN integrated contexts the DO or ASC functions are often conferred on mission staff, and where this has been the case many UN humanitarian actors interviewed felt that this has compounded a risk-averse approach. In Afghanistan and DRC, UN agencies explained that, coupled with limited capacity and resources within UNDSS, the integrated mechanisms for discussing security risks, including the SMTs, ASMTs and integrated policy fora, were at times dominated by the military (in the case of DRC) or political perspectives on risk (in the case of Afghanistan). UN humanitarian agencies tend to be more risk-tolerant because they seek to balance security risks with the humanitarian imperative and use their acceptance as a humanitarian actor to reach populations in need (see Metcalfe et al., 2011). Respondents suggested that UN military or political actors generally take a more risk-averse approach because they do not have to consider the humanitarian imperative. Because the UN operates under a common security framework, the decisions taken by the DO and ASC apply to all UN staff and in some instances their implementing partners. In Somalia, the fact that the DO function sits with the RC/HC is deemed to have helped facilitate access, with UN operational security management shifting to a more enabling approach focused on helping UN agencies and their partners to deliver critical programming (HPG and Stimson interviews, 2011; HPG and SOAS, 2011).

The focus on 'protective' rather than 'enabling' approaches to security management has meant tighter restrictions on movement of staff (convoys, military/security escorts) and 'bunkerisation' of office and residential accommodation. These measures have made it more difficult for OCHA and UN agency staff to actively and consistently engage with locals in order to negotiate access. They have also affected inter-agency assessments, as some NGOs will not travel in a convoy using MONUSCO military escorts. As one interviewee asserted: 'The main problem here is with MONUSCO and the UNDSS/MONUSCO agreement, where MONUSCO makes the 54 As of January 2011, a new security management framework and Security Level System (SLS) is being rolled out across the UN system. This new system is based on an *enabling* approach – which shifts the emphasis from assessing risk and limiting activities accordingly to a focus on programme goals and the need to utilise all possible measures to facilitate safe delivery against these goals. See for example Egeland et al., 2011. The system was being rolled out in the countries considered in this study although many interviewees from across the UN system noted that it would take some time to change the working culture to reflect this new approach.

decision, not UNDSS ... They are curtailing access based on their mandate and take a more risk adverse approach' (HPG and Stimson interviews, 2011).

The extent to which risk-averse approaches within the UN system relates to UN integration arrangements versus other factors, such as increased accountability for security decisions and high-profile attacks on the UN system in recent years, was not clear from the research conducted in the course of this study. However, the examples documented underline the importance of strengthening the capacity of UNDSS to undertake independent security assessments, including ensuring sufficient deployment of UNDSS staff and vehicles. The experiences in DRC also highlight the importance of active UN agency and OCHA engagement in the SMT and ASMT to ensure that humanitarian considerations are sufficiently reflected in the decision-making process, including adherence to existing civil—military guidelines on the use of military assets.

NGO concerns over their association with the UN mission through integration arrangements have, in some instances, led to their withdrawal from discussions with UN humanitarian actors on access. Regardless of whether this is a decision based on the need for adherence to humanitarian principles or one based on assessed risk, it has an operational impact on the effective coordination of the humanitarian community, and consequently could negatively impact upon humanitarian access strategies. In Afghanistan, for example, the NGO consortium ACBAR rejected a request to participate in a joint HCT strategy on access on the grounds that their own access negotiations would be jeopardised by association with OCHA, which 'is not an independent organisation since it is part of an integrated mission'.55 Likewise in Somalia, NGOs have warned that they will be forced to curtail strategic and operational engagement with UN humanitarian agencies on access if the UN proceeds with structural integration (Somalia NGO Consortium, 2010).

4.3 Engagement with non-state armed actors

The research team did not find evidence of official UN 'no contact' policies with respect to humanitarian engagement in any of the contexts studied, or of a widespread practice of political interference in humanitarian engagement with non-state armed actors. However, the research for this study identified some examples where UN mission leaders used their authority in the UN integrated presence to limit humanitarian engagement with non-state armed actors when this was deemed to be detrimental to political objectives at a particular time. In one case this had an operational impact, and also, more broadly, it undermined the relationship between humanitarian actors and the UN political or peacekeeping mission. There remains confusion within the humanitarian community, including amongst UN humanitarian actors, about the existence of 'no contact' policies in the UN, which suggests a need for greater clarity from the managers

55 Feedback from ACBAR members to the HCT on a joint UN/NGO advocacy strategy, 12 May 2011, unpublished document.

of UN integrated presences, including the DSRSG/RC/HC or RC/HC, on the importance of humanitarian engagement with non-state armed actors.

4.3.1 The challenges of engaging with non-state armed actors The principle that humanitarian actors can and should engage with all parties to a conflict to facilitate humanitarian action, and specifically humanitarian access, is inherent in the provisions of international humanitarian law, and was endorsed by the UN General Assembly in Resolution 46/182 of 1991 (UN, 1991). This principle has subsequently been reiterated by the Secretary-General in his reports on the Protection of Civilians in Armed Conflict (UN, 2009b; UN, 2010c). Yet in practice, humanitarian engagement by UN actors with non-state armed actors such as the Taliban in Afghanistan, al-Shabaab in Somalia and the Forces démocratiques de libération du Rwanda (FDLR) and other groups in DRC has been limited, particularly at a senior level (e.g. with the central shura (council) of al-Shabaab). This has undermined efforts to obtain the security guarantees necessary for accessing populations in need, and has limited opportunities to undertake humanitarian advocacy, including on protection of civilians (HPG and Stimson interviews, 2011).

The research for this study indicates that the principal constraints to humanitarian engagement in the contexts reviewed for this study are the high levels of violence; the ideology, objectives, tactics and capability of non-state armed actors; and legal and bureaucratic restrictions imposed by donor and host governments, including in relation to counter-terrorism strategies (some of these wider issues are explored in more detail in Chapter 5). Many humanitarian actors, particularly in Afghanistan and DRC, are at a loss as to how to overcome these challenges, and have made inadequate investment in engagement strategies (HPG and Stimson interviews, 2011). Research for this study also found that more comprehensive assessments of the wider context and barriers to engagement are necessary to address these challenges, including through UN integration arrangements.

4.3.2 The impact of UN integration arrangements on engagement with non-state armed actors
Positive impacts

This research found some examples where UN mission staff have supported humanitarian engagement with non-state armed actors. In the DRC this included support from MONUSCO Child Protection Advisors in facilitating direct contact and engagement of UN humanitarian actors with certain non-state armed actors on the release of child soldiers. Respondents noted that this support was valuable because the mission had relations with some of these actors that humanitarian actors did not, and that integration arrangements, including the DSRSG/RC/HC role, helped facilitate this support. In parts of Afghanistan, some UN humanitarian actors at the local level have requested support, in specific circumstances, from local UNAMA political affairs staff in obtaining contacts for or making discreet introductions to local non-state armed actors,

to facilitate access or to negotiate the release of hostages. In this case, respondents felt that the increased coordination and communication between the mission and UN humanitarian actors related to UN integration arrangements identified specific competencies of mission staff that could be used to provide this support. These examples were not widespread and there was concern among many humanitarian actors that support of this kind should only be provided in specific, agreed, circumstances. In other instances such as in CAR, the UN leadership (SRSG, DSRSG/RC/HC, OCHA head of office) has ensured ongoing engagement with non-state armed actors on humanitarian issues, even where the host state was sensitive to high-level UN contact with certain groups.

Some UN staff, both humanitarian and from the mission, acknowledged that there were benefits in sharing analysis of non-state armed actors to inform UN humanitarian engagement strategies. They also suggested that integration arrangements such as the DSRSG/RC/HC function, the strategic and operational coordination mechanisms such as SPGs and JPUs and planning processes could facilitate the appropriate exchange of information and analysis. Respondents highlighted that both MONUSCO and UNAMA were able, because of their political/peacekeeping roles and capacities, to develop analysis of non-state armed actors, including their dynamics and power relations at various levels, which could inform the development of humanitarian engagement strategies for UN agencies and OCHA. In Afghanistan, some UNAMA staff noted that their recently expanded role in relation to national reconciliation processes had enabled them to assess the appetite of armed non-state actors for engagement on humanitarian issues and identify key opportunities which UN humanitarian actors may be able to capitalise upon. A strategic discussion on how UN integration arrangements could support increased humanitarian dialogue with non-state armed actors is crucial given both the importance and the challenges of humanitarian engagement in Afghanistan, and the other contexts reviewed.

Negative impacts

On occasions the senior managers within a UN integrated presence have asked UN humanitarian actors not to engage on humanitarian issues with certain non-state armed actors. This is largely related to groups that are considered 'spoilers' to a peace process or political process and engagement was limited so as to ensure that it would not confer some level of legitimacy on these groups. In the most notable example, in Somalia humanitarian actors (UN and NGO) asserted that, in 2008, the then SRSG pressed UN agencies and NGOs not to engage with al-Shabaab, calling on them instead to dedicate their efforts to building the capacity and legitimacy of the TFG (HPG and Stimson interviews, 2011). This message was reinforced publicly by the SRSG, who went as far as saying that 'those who claim neutrality can also be complicit. The Somali Government needs support – moral and financial – and Somalis ... as well as the international community, have an obligation to provide both' (Ould Abdallah, 2009). The SRSG later reportedly modified his position, indicating that he was simply asking that humanitarians inform the mission when and why they were engaging with non-state armed actors (HPG and Stimson, 2011). This did not have an operational impact since UN and non-UN humanitarian actors continued to engage with al-Shabaab where possible, but the incident undermined relations between UNPOS and the humanitarian community at large. This incident, referred to by many humanitarians outside Somalia, has also reinforced negative views of UN integration more broadly.

In one case in DRC, in 2007–2008 the political leadership in MONUC (now MONUSCO) strongly discouraged high-level engagement with Congrès national pour la défense du peuple (CNDP) leader Laurent Nkunda on the screening and release of child soldiers. This was during the Amani peace process, and MONUC was keen to ensure equitable engagement with all the armed actors involved. Engaging with the CNDP leader on this issue at that particular time, it was argued, would raise the group's profile, which would in turn undermine the UN's political strategy. As a result, pressure was placed on those involved in the initiative and the screening process was ultimately suspended, albeit with an agreement to raise the issue during the course of the peace process and resume screening at a later date. However, the peace negotiations stalled and the opportunity to screen children in the CNDP was subsequently lost. Some respondents highlighted the difficult position of the DSRSG/ RC/HC in this instance, with responsibilities to both support the effective implementation of MONUC's political strategy and ensure positive humanitarian outcomes. The positive relationship between the then DSRSG/RC/HC and UN agency staff was deemed fundamental in brokering an agreement at the country level between UN actors, rather than necessitating an HQ-level process in which humanitarian stakeholders may have had less influence over the outcome because the decision-makers were further removed from the complexity of the context (HPG and Stimson interviews, 2011). However, the decision reached was not likely to have been acceptable to many humanitarian actors, including those outside the UN system.

Despite these incidents, UN senior management at HQ and in the field interviewed for this study indicated that there is no official or institutional UN policy of 'no contact' with non-state armed actors for humanitarian purposes. The experience in Somalia in particular indicates a lack of sensitisation of some UN mission leaders and/or a reluctance to acknowledge the importance of humanitarian engagement with all warring parties in a conflict. In the contexts reviewed in this study, the research team found that there was sometimes a lack of effective leadership from the UN integrated presence, particularly the DSRSG/RC/HC, in promoting the importance of humanitarian engagement with all parties to a conflict, including non-state armed actors. As a result, many UN humanitarian actors and their partners were working under the assumption that there was a *de facto* policy of 'no contact' with certain non-state armed actors, particularly the Taliban and al-Shabaab. In Afghanistan some UN agencies and NGOs were limiting their efforts or were operating a 'don't ask, don't tell policy', whereby international staff assumed or knew that national staff were engaging with local-level Taliban but without the explicit authorisation or support of their organisation, or were engaging more strategically but were unwilling to share this with UNAMA staff (either for information purposes or to share analysis and lessons learnt).

The research indicates that the checks and balances in UN integration arrangements, such as the integrated policy fora and the reporting line of the DSRSG/RC/HC or RC/HC to the ERC, are not always sufficiently effective in protecting humanitarian principles. The lack of accountability for mission leadership in the Somalia case example was highlighted as a concern by many humanitarian respondents (see Chapter 3.2.2).

As with issues of access and security, UN agencies highlighted that being politically or generally associated with the UN mission, through highly visible UN integration arrangements, hampers efforts to engage non-state armed actors. This was the case in DRC during periods when MONUC and now MONSUCO actively supported or engaged in FARDC military operations against non-state armed groups. As one respondent noted, 'it's difficult to create a relationship with the FDLR when MONUSCO is partnering with the FARDC to hit them on the same day' (HPG and Stimson interviews, 2011). As discussed above, in some instances, UN operational security management decisions linked to UN integration arrangements are deemed to have also placed restrictions on the scope for UN agencies to engage non-state armed actors. In DRC and Afghanistan, military or security escorts were required for travel to most areas of the country, including areas controlled by non-state armed actors, even when UN humanitarian staff felt that this was not necessary. In Afghanistan, preliminary efforts by OCHA to contact the Taliban in some parts of the country were effectively curtailed because staff were not able to travel to meet Taliban representatives without security escorts. However, as noted in Section 4.1, the extent to which this risk-averse approach to managing security is linked to UN integration arrangements, as opposed to other factors inherent in the security management system, is unclear and requires further investigation.

4.4 Perceptions of humanitarian actors

This section focuses on the perceptions that the general population, non-state armed actors and governments have of humanitarian actors, and how these may be influenced by UN integration arrangements. It should be noted that the perceptions of these actors are difficult to assess in most contexts as they are extremely fluid and vary across time and place. A comprehensive survey of perceptions amongst national actors was not possible within the scope of this study. ⁵⁶ The analysis ⁵⁶ The budget and time-frame necessary to undertake methodologies required to asses perceptions (such as surveys) were not available to the research team. The research team also had only limited access to national authorities in Afghanistan and DRC, and despite attempts, no engagement with the TFG in Somalia.

provided here is informed by the views of other respondents, including national staff of international organisations and national NGOs, and by the secondary information available on this issue, including perception studies and public statements by non-state armed actors and governments.

From this information, it is evident that how UN humanitarian actors are perceived is influenced by the manner in which the UN political or peacekeeping component is perceived. This is independent of the existence of UN integration arrangements, though in contexts where the UN mission is contested and local actors distinguish between different UN actors, highly visible UN integration arrangements may compound perceptions that UN humanitarian actors are aligned with the UN political or peacekeeping mission. It is therefore crucial that UN integration arrangements are determined by an informed understanding of how humanitarian actors are perceived and what influence these arrangements may have in this regard.

4.4.1 Challenges of perception for humanitarian actors The perceptions that local stakeholders have of humanitarian actors are important as they determine the extent to which humanitarian actors can gain the acceptance that is necessary to access populations in need. Earning this acceptance⁵⁷ is contingent upon acting, and being seen to act, in a manner that demonstrates that humanitarian organisations are distinct, in terms of their objectives, principles and operations, from political and military actors, that they do not support these other actors, either directly or indirectly, and that they will provide assistance to all who need it. In practice, earning this acceptance also requires investment in good-quality programming, transparency in identifying beneficiaries, engaging with all appropriate stakeholders and in some circumstances keeping a low profile (Egeland et al., 2010; HPN, 2011).

Humanitarian actors sometimes find it difficult to control how they are perceived. As noted by one commentator, 'in Afghanistan, whether they like it or not, aid agencies are seen as embedded in an externally-driven nation-building process that is being attacked by insurgents and that ... is deeply flawed and unpopular' (Donini, 2006). Many respondents in DRC noted that, in volatile environments where contact between international humanitarian actors and local communities or other local actors is often restricted, rumours and allegations can thrive, undermining previously positive perceptions of humanitarian actors.

At times, host governments have been critical of the aid endeavour and have attempted to undermine humanitarian organisations in the eyes of the general population. In Somalia, 57 An acceptance approach is defined as 'actively building and cultivating good relations and consent as part of a security management strategy with local communities, parties to the conflict, and other relevant stakeholders and obtaining their acceptance and consent for the humanitarian organisation's presence and its work' (Egeland et al., 2011).

for example, the government has made public statements that undermine the reputation of humanitarian organisations. For example, between 2007 and 2008, some members of the TFG heavily criticised NGOs in the Somali media, with the former Prime Minister, Ali Mohamed Gedi, accusing humanitarian organisations of being corrupt, of smuggling weapons, of profiting from deals with warlords and Islamists and having their own governance agenda in the country (Fletcher, 2007). In Afghanistan, the government has also openly criticised aid organisations, accusing them of corruption and undermining the authority of the government, in part to deflect attention from its own deficiencies (Donini, 2006). In DRC, the government has accused humanitarian agencies of refusing to work with regional and local governments, setting up parallel government services for their own gain (HPG and Stimson interviews, 2011). These perceptions of the host government, and their attempt to influence the perceptions of local populations, were prevalent in these contexts irrespective of the establishment of UN integration arrangements.

4.4.2 The impact of integration arrangements on perceptions of humanitarian actors

Positive impacts

Whilst the study team did not find examples of UN integration arrangements improving perceptions of humanitarian actors, some UN mission and agency communications staff recognised the need to mitigate the risk of negative impacts on humanitarian space through emphasising the distinction between the UN mission's role and objectives and those of UN agencies in public information and outreach. In the three main case studies, UN mission communications staff have sought greater collaboration with UN agencies on the nature and timing of public information activities so as to manage possible tensions relating to message content and priorities and, where appropriate, to ensure that messages are complementary. Communications staff in all three missions asserted that it was standard practice, when contacted by journalists about humanitarian or development issues, to immediately redirect enquiries to the appropriate UN agency. thereby reinforcing the distinction between agencies and the mission. In UNAMA, communications staff also supported agencies by sharing expertise and assets, and encouraging agencies to undertake more communications work of their own to channel messages to local populations, rather than the traditional focus on providing information for donors and other international stakeholders.

In DRC it was noted that, while it was important for the MONUSCO-run Radio Okapi to run programming of interest to communities so as not to appear as a MONUSCO propaganda initiative, more could be done to raise awareness of the diversity within the UN system in order to distinguish between humanitarian and other actors. In Somalia, UN-sponsored radio programmes have been reintroduced in Mogadishu and have a wide audience. These programmes could be used as a vehicle to raise public awareness of the distinctions between the various UN actors and activities. The UN Support Office

for AMISOM (UNSOA)⁵⁸ (which is separate from UNPOS and the UNCT) has worked with private companies to undertake surveys of Somalis in Mogadishu to better understand their perceptions of AMISOM. Other actors may undertake similar surveys when security allows.

Negative impacts

Several respondents, including national NGOs and government officials, asserted that some national stakeholders, including local communities and non-state armed groups, understand the difference between humanitarian actors (UN and NGOs) and UN peacekeeping or political components. In Somalia this was believed to relate to the fact that many Somalis have experience of engaging with or even working for UN agencies over the last 20 years (HPG and Stimson interviews, 2011). In this regard, respondents highlighted the example of al-Shabaab, when it ordered the withdrawal of UNPOS from Baidoa in 2009 but allowed UNICEF and OCHA to remain. Several UN agencies in Afghanistan also pointed to their long-term engagement with communities in the country, or during the period when they were refugees in neighbouring countries, and felt confident that this relationship helped beneficiary communities to identify them as humanitarian actors.

This distinction was deemed to be under threat through greater association with the UN mission. While UN humanitarian actors are generally seen to be associated with the UN mission by virtue of being part of the UN, highly visible collaboration between UN humanitarian and political/peacekeeping components can reinforce this perception. For UN agencies, this association is particularly problematic where the UN mission is engaging in specific acts that are likely to prove controversial with national actors, such as issuing public reports on human rights or civilian protection, supporting elections or contested peace processes or actively engaging in the conflict. Being perceived as part of the UN's political or peacekeeping agenda was of particular concern to UN and non-UN humanitarian actors in Afghanistan, DRC and Somalia because the UN missions in these contexts have a mixed record and in some instances are deemed to be supporting a particular actor in the conflict. In Afghanistan, the Islamic Emirate of Afghanistan responded to a recent UNAMA statement on civilian protection by asserting that 'such propaganda and biased reporting only encourages the invading forces to increase their transgressions, which in turn damages the image of the UN [emphasis added]' (Zabihullah Mujahid, 2011). No distinction is made between the UN mission and UN agencies. In DRC, national NGOs noted that MONUC/MONUSCO's engagement in proactive military operations from 2005 onwards had undermined the previously positive perception of the mission's role,59 and 58 UNSOA is a DFS support office, not a DPKO- or DPA-led political or peacekeeping mission. It is the only office of its kind and is tasked with supporting AMISOM and liaising with UNPOS.

59 It should be noted that, prior to 2005, MONUC was seen by some actors as having lost its credibility because it was unable to protect itself or its areas of operation against major assaults by non-state armed actors. The more robust use of force was for self-defence and for the protection of civilians in Eastern DRC.

linked this to widespread rumours that the UN had ulterior motives for engaging in DRC.

Some UN agencies in DRC were concerned that the use of MONUSCO military escorts, required to access populations in many areas, undermined their perceived independence and neutrality since 'the same MONUSCO contingent will bring ammunition to the FARDC one day and escort a UN agency the next. This creates a problem of perception for agencies' (HPG and Stimson interviews, 2011). One key issue highlighted by both NGOs and UN agencies in Afghanistan was the relocation of some UNAMA and UN agency staff to local ISAF bases during major security incidents, ⁶⁰ which they felt demonstrated to the population and the Taliban the close relationship between the UN and ISAF.

In Afghanistan, there has also been some concern that UNAMA political staff have sought to use humanitarian 'successes' to further political objectives at the local level, negatively affecting the perception that humanitarian actors are neutral and independent. Some UNAMA staff seemed to accept this, admitting that humanitarian information was at times useful in relation to their political dialogue with the Taliban: 'they want to talk about more than just politics', as one respondent noted.

The issue of perception was a significant concern among both UN and NGO humanitarian staff interviewed for this study. Many felt that UN integration arrangements are in tension with the widely recognised humanitarian objective of ensuring distinctiveness from other actors in order to gain access to populations in need. However, there has been little discussion in UN integrated policy fora on how to assess and and analyse perceptions for planning and evaluation or to otherwise mitigate or overcome these tensions in practice.

4.5 Humanitarian advocacy

The research team documented a number of examples where UN integration arrangements have successfully augmented humanitarian advocacy on key issues, including access and the protection of civilians. There are also some examples where the UN mission leadership or senior staff have sought to limit or have undermined humanitarian advocacy when it was deemed to have a negative impact on political imperatives. These cases mainly related to individual UN mission staff, and the research team did not find evidence of any widespread practice in this regard. These incidents have however undermined the relationship between UN political/peacekeeping components and UN and non-UN humanitarian actors in particular contexts and have, to a degree, reinforced negative views of UN integration more broadly.

60 For example, in the immediate aftermath of an attack on the UN compound in Mazar e Sharif in April 2011, some UN staff were required to move temporarily to the nearest ISAF base.

4.5.1 Challenges to humanitarian advocacy

Advocacy on behalf of populations in need is a key component of any humanitarian response, whether through the media, public statements or quiet diplomacy. However, the extent to which humanitarian actors can undertake advocacy aimed at influencing key national or international stakeholders is often subject to a range of limitations, including the capacity, ability and willingness to undertake such efforts, particularly with respect to the HC. In some cases host states have imposed or encouraged self-imposed restrictions on public advocacy by both the UN and non-UN humanitarian actors. Coordinated advocacy by the humanitarian community is also often weak – the diversity of humanitarian actors, mandates and priorities often means that it is difficult to reach consensus on public messages, particularly on sensitive issues such as the protection of civilians and humanitarian access. These factors were prevalent in many of the contexts reviewed for this study.

4.5.2 The impact of UN integration arrangements on humanitarian advocacy
Positive impacts

In a number of contexts reviewed for this study, humanitarian advocacy was strengthened by the strategic use of the different components of the UN integrated presence. For example, despite some reservations about UNAMA's leverage on other issues (discussed below), its advocacy on protection of civilians demonstrates how the combined capacity of the various components of the UN family, under strong leadership, can take a principled stance in support of the Afghan people and successfully influence key stakeholders. The regular reports and press releases on civilian casualties, as well as the quiet diplomacy that has accompanied more public advocacy, have consistently highlighted the responsibility of all armed actors to minimise the impact of the conflict on civilians as required by International Humanitarian Law (IHL), and their shortcomings in this regard. Respondents explained that integrated reporting lines and policy for mmade it possible to pursue a multi-layered approach that utilised the comparative advantages of the various components and levels of the UN integrated presence (SRSG, UNAMA Human Rights Unit, UN agencies). High-level advocacy with ISAF in particular has had significant success, including in the development of tactical directives on minimising civilian casualties and policies relating to the investigation of civilian casualties and compensation mechanisms (HPG and Stimson interviews, 2011; HPG and UNHCR, 2011).

Recognising UNAMA's added value in this regard, the protection cluster is keen to see greater involvement of the UNAMA Human Rights Unit in its work, including on issues beyond civilian casualties. 61 UNAMA's engagement, it was explained, 61 A number of humanitarian actors have advocated with the UNAMA Human Rights Unit to expand its work to cover other key protection issues, including forced displacement. UNAMA Human Rights Unit has, however, been reluctant to do so because of capacity constraints and consideration of where its added value lies.

was important both for its technical and analytical contribution, and for the advocacy capacities it offers through the mission leadership with the government, ISAF and other national and international actors (HPG and Stimson interviews, 2011). In a similar vein, UN Mine Action staff specifically asked the recently-arrived DSRSG/RC/HC to issue a press release condemning the killing of two national mine action officers, using his DSRSG title (UNAMA, 2011). MACCA staff explained that citing his role as the DSRSG gave greater weight to the statement: 'we wanted to send a strong political message that this was unacceptable' (HPG and Stimson interviews, 2011). These examples offer positive practice that should be considered in more detail with a view to sharing lessons learnt.

In Somalia, complementary advocacy has been undertaken by UNPOS leadership on some humanitarian issues. One senior member of the humanitarian community recalled that it was helpful during the Djibouti process in 2008 that both the RC/HC and the former SRSG were delivering the same message to the TFG on the importance of the independence of humanitarian action (HPG and Stimson interviews, 2011). In this regard, the SPG in Somalia (created in 2010) was felt to be an important mechanism in which all components of the UN could be kept informed of key advocacy messages and strategies, and where necessary the sequencing of messages could be debated, ensuring more informed and transparent decision-making. Similarly, humanitarian actors credited the UNMIS DSRSG/ RC/HC with ensuring that the UN position during the Darfur ceasefire negotiations in 2004/5 and in the AU-led negotiations on the DPA in 2005/6 promoted important humanitarian messages, including the requirement for all conflict parties to respect and ensure respect for IHL generally, and the rights of IDPs and other vulnerable groups in particular.

Given that political or peacekeeping components are not always best placed or willing to undertake humanitarian advocacy, the dual reporting line of DSRSG/RC/HCs to the SRSG in country and the ERC at headquarters is essential. In Somalia, the advantages of maintaining a direct channel through which to pass advocacy messages were evident in the example provided below, where the SRSG and RC/HC differed on the need for the UN to speak out on protection of civilians.

Integration arrangements are also believed to have strengthened opportunities for advocacy within the mission. In DRC, the UN humanitarian agencies and their partners, with the support of MONUSCO Civil Affairs, generally felt that they were able to influence the way that MONUSCO prioritised its military and political capacities in support of protection of civilians in parts of Eastern DRC. This influence was possible through the formalised integrated protection mechanisms including the protection matrix, SMG-P and SMG-PP, with improved protection outcomes as a result; in North Kivu, for example, MONUSCO was deployed in a high proportion of the areas that the humanitarian community had identified as 'must areas' (e.g. requiring an immediate deployment of

troops to protect the civilian population). Interviewees from both the humanitarian community and the mission (civilian and military) asserted that the tools and mechanisms created had improved protection responses to populations at risk. They also asserted that these experiences had strengthened mutual understanding of the various players' differing priorities and the challenges faced by humanitarian and mission actors in relation to their respective roles in civilian protection. Even where the final decision regarding the deployment of mission resources was not in line with the requests made, some humanitarian actors involved in the process felt that their concerns had at least been given due consideration. These tools and mechanisms offer positive practice that could be built upon, and may be relevant to other contexts.

More recently, several respondents in Afghanistan also referred to the potential for UN humanitarian actors to influence the position of UNAMA with regard to reconciliation efforts and, following advocacy by the humanitarian UN, the successful rejection by the SRSG of ISAF's attempts to link the humanitarian response with the Transition. This example illustrates the importance of the UN adopting a coherent advocacy position on key issues, taking a collective principled stance in the face of significant pressure from member states. Despite these positive examples, the advantages that UN integration offers in terms of augmenting the 'humanitarian voice' have not been fully exploited and it is evident that both UN mission and UN and non-UN humanitarian actors are at times reluctant to cooperate on these issues.

The examples in Afghanistan, Somalia and DRC are promising and demonstrate that, with a degree of trust and confidence, good leadership and effective processes and frameworks in place, such efforts can be highly effective. These contexts also demonstrate how important humanitarian experience in mission leadership is in determining whether UN integration supports or hinders advocacy efforts. Most of the positive examples provided were in part attributed to the humanitarian sensitivities of the SRSGs or DSRSGs concerned, as well as the effective use of other critical leadership capacities (e.g. a strong OCHA head of office; Force Commanders and Deputy Force Commanders open to working with civilian components (if not directly with humanitarians)). All of the DSRSG/RC/HCs interviewed for this study highlighted that their position within the UN mission structure ensured that they had additional capacity, knowledge and leverage within and external to the mission, which was crucial to effective advocacy on humanitarian issues. This was supported by SRSGs, Force Commanders, civilian staff and some UN humanitarian staff. However, most also acknowledged that the advantages of the DSRSG/RC/HC role were only brought to bear effectively when the individual in the position had the skills to manage competing priorities and exploit opportunities. Since the capacities of senior UN leaders are likely to continue

62 A small number of interviewees commented that greater transparency was needed to explain to the protection cluster why certain decisions that were taken at mission HQ were not in line with requests made.

to vary despite efforts to strengthen skills and competencies, establishing formal mechanisms and reporting lines can help to protect humanitarian concerns and ensure, despite changes in leadership, that integration arrangements support rather than hinder humanitarian advocacy.

Negative impacts

In some instances, individual mission leaders have sought to restrict humanitarian actors from speaking out on issues of concern at a time and in a manner of their choosing. In Somalia, there were serious concerns regarding adherence to IHL by Ethiopian forces and other conflict parties between 2006 and 2008. At that time, UN and non-UN humanitarian actors felt that this issue was being played down by the UNPOS leadership, who seemed to condemn atrocities caused by insurgents but did not sufficiently acknowledge or publicly denounce those committed by Ethiopian and TFG forces (Bradbury, 2010; HPG and Stimson interviews, 2011). One senior member of the UNCT explained that the former SRSG sought to prohibit public advocacy by UN agencies on this issue; as a result, humanitarian messages on the protection of civilians had to be channelled through the ERC and the Special Rapporteur on the situation of human rights defenders so as not to hinder working relations at the country level (HPG and Stimson interviews, 2011). Having a separate RC/HC with a direct reporting line to the ERC meant that the message was passed on, even if not at the country level.

There are also examples where the UN mission leadership has been reluctant to speak out on humanitarian issues, even when these were of a serious nature and required a more senior UN response, or where they had additional leverage with the target audience. Existing policy does not imply that integrated arrangements will necessarily result in decisionmaking that benefits humanitarian stakeholders, and in this case humanitarian advocacy. However, the following examples illustrate weaknesses in integrated arrangements or decisionmaking that undermined advocacy efforts by the humanitarian community. In 2010, UNPOS leadership was deemed to have been largely silent on the protection of civilians in relation to intensified fighting between AMISOM and TFG forces and al-Shabaab, which was resulting in high numbers of civilian casualties, many of them attributed to AMISOM by human rights organisations (see for example HRW, 2010). The lack of advocacy on this issue by UNPOS and other actors, and the overall deficiencies in the application of the rule of law, led several analysts to dub Somalia an 'accountability free zone' (Bradbury, 2010; Menkhaus, 2010). Whilst there was some attempt by UNPOS to influence AMISOM's behaviour through quiet diplomacy, there was a strong perception, both inside and outside of Somalia, that human rights abuses were being tolerated because of geopolitical interests in the country (HPG and Stimson interviews, 2011; Menkhaus, 2008). This view was compounded when the former SRSG denied allegations of abuse and accused the Somali media of inciting hatred when reporting on an incident in which AMISOM allegedly targeted

civilians in retaliation for a roadside bombing (HRW, 2009). Persistent media reporting and documentation by human rights groups since 2008 have led to greater public recognition in the UN of this issue and more active attempts by the UN, through training and secondment of technical staff, to ensure that AMISOM adheres to its obligations under international humanitarian law (HPG and Stimson interviews, 2011). However, this issue may have been dealt with more swiftly and effectively if the UNPOS leadership had weighed in earlier.

In DRC, MONUSCO had been reluctant to support humanitarian advocacy on the impact of operations by the LRA on civilians in the north-east of the country. Some respondents expressed concern that, despite UN humanitarian reporting on the issue, including through integrated mechanisms, MONUSCO was not responding either operationally or in terms of pressing the government and the FARDC to intervene to protect civilians (HPG and Stimson interviews, 2011).⁶³ Whilst this did not preclude advocacy by humanitarian actors, they asserted that their efforts were unlikely to be effective if not supported by MONUSCO since the mission had a far more influential relationship with the FARDC and the DRC government and they were unlikely to take the issue seriously if MONUSCO did not concur with the humanitarian community. These stakeholders believed that the operational impact was significant (no additional protection was afforded to affected communities), and asserted that the experience had undermined faith in the mission's commitment to the protection of civilians.

In Afghanistan, a number of respondents asserted that UNAMA's role in supporting the international community and the Afghan government has meant that it has, in the past, been reluctant to highlight the deteriorating security and humanitarian situation since this would cast a negative light on the overall international intervention in the country. A number of UN agency, NGO and other respondents referred to previous difficulties in gaining public acknowledgement by the mission of the unfolding humanitarian situation, including increasing displacement of civilians (HPG and Stimson interviews, 2011), and asserted that this had weakened their position in advocating with donors and influencing donor policy. Given reluctance within the donor community, many of whom are parties to the conflict, a coherent voice from the UN integrated presence was imperative.⁶⁴

The extent to which the UN mission can be an effective advocate on humanitarian issues is largely determined by its relationship with advocacy targets and the extent of its leverage over them. For example, the ability of UNPOS to 63 MONUSCO military staff argued that humanitarian reports were inaccurate because they did not have sufficient intelligence data. Interviews also highlighted that some key analysts and decision-makers in Kinshasa may not see the LRA as a major threat to the stability of the DRC and as such not as high a priority as maintaining stability in the east of the country. 64 This was part of the rationale for the HCT's call for the separation of the HC function from the DSRSG; the HCT argued that an independent HC could act as a stronger advocate for the rights of civilians affected by the conflict to receive humanitarian assistance.

influence the TFG over humanitarian access in the current famine response has been undermined by the presence of non-traditional donors, who present a ready source of funding for government programmes without the conditions or qualifications that UN agencies, funds and programmes normally require (HPG and Stimson interviews, 2011). Several humanitarian actors argued that UNAMA would not be an effective advocate on some issues because it simply does not

have political leverage over key stakeholders in Afghanistan; one respondent noted that 'the UN is a dwarf here, politically small, and has very little influence'.⁶⁵

65 It should be noted that respondents' opinions on the size and influence of UNAMA varied. Many humanitarian actors commented on its large size/footprint and some felt that UNAMA had an overbearing presence in Afghanistan, especially in comparison to UN agencies or INGOs. Nevertheless, most agreed that UNAMA had little leverage, particularly in relation to ISAF or other major regional influences.

Chapter 5 Contextual factors impacting on humanitarian space

The previous chapters have focused on the development and implementation of UN integration arrangements, and the impact these arrangements have had on the five areas of humanitarian space. This chapter outlines some of the wider contextual factors influencing humanitarian space in the cases reviewed in this study. Although existing guidance indicates that UN integration arrangements should be appropriate to the context in which they are operating, it does not articulate what variables present in the context should be taken into consideration when assessing how UN integration arrangements could positively or negatively impact upon humanitarian space.

Across the different cases reviewed in this study, the research team found a number of common issues in the wider context that should be taken into account when designing UN integration arrangements in order to protect humanitarian space. These common issues are divided into three categories: the conflict and political environment; the historical role and mandate of the UN; and challenges to humanitarian space related to how the humanitarian system itself operates. Although dealt with separately, these issues interact with and influence each other.

5.1 Conflict and the political environment

5.1.1 The type and level of conflict

The conflicts considered in this study vary greatly and it is not possible to neatly categorise them by the label 'conflict' and 'post-conflict'. Each has multiple patterns of violence that change and interact over both time and geography. Each of the conflict situations reviewed in this study has entered periods of relative stability prompted by a peace agreement or an international intervention. However, these periods of 'stability' have often been characterised by high levels of violence and displacement, and in some cases have given way to renewed or intensified hostilities.

The type and level of the conflict, and how it is analysed by the UN system and others, has a bearing on the extent to which UN integration arrangements affect humanitarian space. Thus, UN integration arrangements in Afghanistan were based on a more positive analysis of the conflict than many humanitarian actors considered realistic. There was no provision for a separate humanitarian identity for the UN system, and both the RC/HC and OCHA were fully integrated into UNAMA. Even as hostilities intensified from 2006 the general analysis of the situation remained focused on the transition to recovery

and development, and the original arrangements remained in place for several years. In contrast, a shared recognition in Somalia among UNPOS and the UNCT that the conflict is ongoing and frequently in flux has led to more limited structural integration arrangements, with the objective of safeguarding humanitarian space.

5.1.2 State and non-state actors

The ability of humanitarian actors to provide assistance and protection to affected populations depends crucially on the strategies and objectives of state and non-state armed actors, particularly their willingness or capacity to adhere to international humanitarian and human rights law. UN integration arrangements should be considered in light of what impact they may have on this relationship, and on the ability of humanitarian organisations to operate and be seen as operating in a manner that does not favour one actor over another.

The host state

The strategies and objectives of the host state, including in relation to humanitarian actors, vary over time and relate closely to its legitimacy and credibility. A national government may be the product of an inclusive peace process, and may have a measure of popular support and international legitimacy. Alternatively, it may have emerged as a result of an international intervention or a partial peace agreement that excluded key powerbrokers. Despite international recognition and support in this context, such a government may have little credibility with the general population.

Concerns about national and international credibility may influence the extent to which a government is willing to respect humanitarian principles. A host state may seek to play down humanitarian concerns and emphasise recovery and development to dramatise the benefits of peace, raise revenue or protect their image, as has happened in the DRC, Darfur and Somalia. In an attempt to avoid scrutiny of violations of international humanitarian and human rights law, host state governments may also restrict humanitarian access, as was the case in Darfur, where the Sudanese government used complex bureaucratic arrangements to restrict movement and punish humanitarian actors undertaking activities related to the protection of civilians and conflict-related sexual violence. They may also seek to exert control over humanitarian assistance in order to increase their own legitimacy and bolster support from local populations; using the rhetoric of counter-terrorism, governments may also criminalise any contact, including humanitarian engagement, with non-state armed actors (Pantuliano et al., 2011).

In Afghanistan, the government suffers from a lack of capacity and legitimacy and corruption is widespread (Barakat et al., 2008). There is a common perception that the UN-backed presidential poll in 2009, in which Karzai was re-elected, was marred by irregularities. Meanwhile, the government is failing to meet its responsibilities to its citizens with regard to the provision of basic services and the rule of law (HPG and Stimson interviews, 2011). In Somalia, the TFG lacks widespread representation, suffers from internal divisions and corruption and is largely confined to the capital, Mogadishu (ICG, 2011; HPG and Stimson interviews, 2011). It has sought to control humanitarian assistance in order to boost its own limited legitimacy and undermine that of its opponents, and has at times made public statements that undermine the reputation of aid organisations (see Chapter 4.4).

In DRC and Liberia, national elections have brought opposition groups into peace agreements and have conferred a level of legitimacy on both governments, particularly in the eyes of the international community. However, the government in DRC still lacks the capacity to govern and control the whole of its territory and remains in conflict with some national and regional armed groups. The FARDC is implicated in sexual violence and other human rights abuses, further undermining the government's legitimacy. The authorities depend on UN peacekeeping operations to protect civilians and on the international humanitarian community to deliver basic services, though here too the government has been critical of humanitarian agencies, accusing them of refusing to work with regional and local governments and setting up parallel services for their own gain (HPG and Stimson interviews, 2011).

UN integration arrangements should take into consideration how the government is perceived in order to identify how to position the UN integrated presence and arrangements publicly and privately in a way that does not undermine humanitarian space. This is of particular importance given that UN missions and UN development agencies are regularly mandated to support capacity-building with the government. Similarly, if the host state government is failing to respect IHL or is opposing the activities of humanitarian actors, integrated arrangements should identify the potential risks and benefits to mitigate these obstacles.

Non-state armed actors

Non-state armed actors in the contexts studied have varying ideologies, objectives and tactics. Some aim to capture state power or to force its reform, while others seek to de-legitimise the state or to cause or maintain its dysfunction. Their motivations may be political, ideological and/or economic, and they often lack the will or the capacity to respect IHL. Where humanitarian organisations are considered to be operating contrary to the objectives and ideology of these

groups, they are likely to be at risk of attack or denied access. In other cases, for example in Afghanistan and Somalia, non-state armed actors may seek to show that the state and its supporters (including intervening forces) cannot protect civilians, including humanitarian actors (Hammond, 2008). Many have tried to use humanitarian assistance to support their military objectives, including demonstrating their authority and punishing communities deemed to be supporting the state. Groups looking to increase their popular legitimacy may be more open to engagement with humanitarian actors and more willing to support access. Thus, the strategies and objectives of non-state actors have a significant impact on humanitarian space; certain UN integration arrangements may create or exacerbate these challenges or potentially enhance opportunities for engagement.

The Taliban in Afghanistan espouse a radical Islamist ideology and aim to remove the current government. They have mainly targeted government and ISAF personnel but are also implicated in attacks against UN agencies and NGOs. They have systematically targeted civilians as part of their military strategy to discredit the government, undermine international military forces and gain publicity for their cause. Some largely criminal groups also reportedly use 'the threat of continued instability as a bargaining tool to increase their influence' and undermine the already weak central government (ANSO, 2011). However, as noted earlier elements of the Taliban leadership are becoming more interested in possible political negotiations and the need to increase popular support as a credible authority. This has given rise to greater sensitivity over their perceived adherence to international humanitarian law, including allowing access for humanitarian organisations.

The TFG's main opposition in Somalia, al-Shabaab, is believed to be internally divided. Elements linked to foreign fighters pursue a hard-line, global and radical Islamist ideology, while others are more pragmatic and nationally-focused, and thus more willing to engage in access negotiations with humanitarian organisations (HPG and Stimson interviews, 2011). The group lacks widespread public support, in part due to its poor human rights record. It promotes a strong anti-American and anti-Western discourse and has shown hostility to any entity, foreign or national, deemed to be supporting the TFG and its forces and/or Western governments (Bradbury, 2010; HPG and Stimson interviews, 2011). This has led to abductions, interrogations and threats against some humanitarian organisations and their staff. In some areas, al-Shabaab has demanded that humanitarian assistance be coordinated through its local relief committees in an effort to boost support among local communities.

In DRC many armed groups are influenced by or originate from neighbouring countries and have shown a significant disregard for civilian security. Most however are believed to be motivated by economic gain rather than political aspirations (HPG and Stimson interviews, 2011). Likewise in CAR and

Darfur, some armed actors do not espouse recognisable political or ideological agendas and attack civilians and humanitarian actors primarily for their assets and resources.

The capability of non-state armed groups is also relevant since it partly dictates the level of violence in an area, and whether the groups can understand and adhere to international human rights and humanitarian law. In Afghanistan respondents noted that ISAF military offensives against the Taliban have eliminated many of their higher-level military commanders, leaving younger, less experienced fighters to take their place. These younger militants often have less awareness or interest in engagement with humanitarian actors or the provision of assistance to communities under their control. Similar concerns were relayed in DRC and Darfur, where peace agreements or military offensives changed the character of the conflict and resulted in the splintering of armed groups and increased competition for economic resources to support military efforts.

5.1.3 The geopolitical context

UN integration arrangements should also take into account the manner in which the geopolitical context and the agendas of international political actors impact humanitarian space. Afghanistan and Somalia are both on the frontline of the 'global war on terror' and international forces are engaged as conflict parties. The attacks in the US on 9/11 put so-called fragile states at the centre of international politics, with many governments concerned by the potential threats that stem from these contexts, notably terrorism and organised crime. In practice, this has meant greater attention and engagement through a mix of political, military, development and humanitarian assistance, with the objective of mitigating or eliminating these threats. These so-called stabilisation strategies have often explicitly used humanitarian assistance in support of political objectives, undermining adherence to humanitarian principles (Collinson et al., 2010). In particular, these strategies have sought to explicitly support the national authorities and isolate non-state armed actors militarily, financially and politically.

In Afghanistan, the international agenda has involved the deployment of NATO troops to undertake counter-insurgency operations, the provision of political and economic support to the government and extensive investment in promoting development. US and other military forces have also explicitly used humanitarian assistance as a means to contribute to 'force protection' and to gather intelligence (Donini, 2011), supporting the view that humanitarian organisations are part of the wider international political strategy. In Somalia, the international focus has been on strengthening the TFG with political, military and economic assistance, and at times carrying out direct counter-terror operations with the aim of defeating al-Shabaab. The counter-terrorism agenda in Somalia has impacted on humanitarian space as humanitarian actors have found it difficult to operate in areas under the control of proscribed 'terrorist' organisations, as they risk violating legislation in donor countries if their assistance benefits these groups.

Donor governments have also been less willing to provide humanitarian funds or to support humanitarian dialogue in these circumstances (Pantuliano et al., 2011).

In the DRC international engagement stems from concerns about regional stability, the scale of violence against civilians and opportunities to exploit mineral wealth. Unlike Afghanistan and Somalia, responsibility for stemming the violence and supporting the transition to peace has been given primarily to the UN. Likewise in Darfur, although there are some links to international counter-terrorism efforts international engagement since 2004 has been motivated by large-scale violence against civilians, a high-profile advocacy campaign in the US and concerns that the conflict in Darfur would undermine the Comprehensive Peace Agreement (CPA) between North and South Sudan. The recent increase in international interest in CAR has stemmed from concerns at the destabilising effects of the Darfur conflict and the movement of the LRA from Uganda into CAR. International interest in Liberia, particularly from the US, was related to the role that former Liberian leader Charles Taylor had played in destabilising the Mano River region of West Africa and the systematic and widespread violence against civilians that marked the conflict that ensued, including the use of sexual violence against women.

5.2 The historical role and mandate of the UN

The way the UN has acted in various contexts in the past is highly relevant to how it is perceived today, and to the impact of UN integration arrangements on humanitarian space. The UN (political/peacekeeping actors and specialised agencies, funds and programmes) often has a long history of engagement in the contexts in which it intervenes. This legacy has a significant impact on current levels of acceptance and support from international and national actors.

The credibility of the political UN in Somalia has been undermined by its actions in the past. In the early 1990s, the UN through UNOSOM embarked on an ambitious attempt to promote political reconciliation and state-building. The UN became increasingly seen as a partisan entity embroiled in a complex political process and waging a difficult battle against various warlords (Menkhaus, 2010). This ultimately forced the withdrawal of UNOSOM II in March 1995. Current support for the TFG needs to be understood in this context. Many Somalis are resentful of the UN's history of partisan engagement, which has been pursued without widespread consultation and is based on shifting mandates depending on the international political imperatives of the time (Hammond and Vaughan Lee, forthcoming 2011).

In Afghanistan, trust and confidence in the UN has been undermined by its support for the government and ISAF forces. It promoted a 'peace now, justice later' approach, which in practice accepted the inclusion of warlords in government and downplayed accountability for perpetrators

of past human rights abuses. Consequently, the UN is seen as a key protagonist in a partisan strategy that supported new political authorities rather than serving the interests of the Afghan people. UN backing for the contested presidential election result in 2009 has only reinforced this perception and further undermined the UN's credibility in the country.

5.2.1 The UN's mandate and mission

The UN's mandate, and the manner in which it is implemented on the ground, varies in each of the contexts studied. The mandate is determined by the UN Security Council, which in turn is influenced by the geopolitical context. UN mission mandates and how they are implemented will have a significant impact on how the mission is perceived by national and international stakeholders, and needs to be factored into any analysis of UN integration arrangements and humanitarian space. In contexts where the UN mission is mandated to support the host state, peace agreements or electoral processes which have limited credibility amongst national stakeholders, certain UN integration arrangements may affect the ability of UN humanitarian actors and their partners to maintain perceptions of neutrality and impartiality.

It is important to note that these mandates are adopted by the members of the UN Security Council and in line with the UN Charter - invoking the sovereign equality of all UN Members. In practice, this has mainly ensured an emphasis on supporting the efforts of the respective governments in each context, despite concerns about their legitimacy. Consequently, and as discussed in Chapter 4, where conflict is ongoing and non-state armed actors have been excluded or have opted out of the peace process tensions have emerged between UN political and military actors and UN humanitarian actors on UN integration arrangements. This is due to the difficulty the UN mission faces in positioning itself as an impartial (in the humanitarian meaning) actor and/or legitimate peace broker. In many of the contexts studied, the UN mission has or is perceived to have taken sides in support of the government and against some opposition groups. This is in contrast to the need for UN humanitarian actors to adhere to the humanitarian principle of neutrality, which requires them to provide humanitarian assistance without engaging in hostilities or taking sides in controversies of a political, religious or ideological nature.

The scope of mission mandates and their implementation also have a bearing on humanitarian space considerations. Mandates are often a long list of complex tasks, and in some instances include tasks which clearly overlap with the existing mandates of UN offices or agencies. As one respondent noted, Security Council mandates are usually a 'shopping list' of what Security Council members want rather than a strategic review of needs, and it is incumbent on the leadership of the mission to identify and manage competing priorities. Where political/peacekeeping mandates overlap with the mandates of UN humanitarian actors, tensions and competition have

resulted in some instances. For example, as a legacy from the original mandate, the latest iteration of UNAMA's mandate provided in Security Council Resolution 1974 states that UNAMA and the SRSG should 'coordinate and facilitate the delivery of humanitarian assistance' (UN, 2011b). This clearly overlaps with OCHA's humanitarian coordination role; since the reopening of an OCHA office in Afghanistan in late 2009 tensions have arisen between UNAMA and OCHA staff in some sub-office locations as a result. There are, however, recognised synergies on some humanitarian tasks, such as the prevention of sexual violence, support to children affected by armed conflict and the return, reintegration and resettlement of displaced persons. As noted by UNHCR, 'there are important links between the issues and populations of concern to UNHCR and the objectives of integrated missions' (UNHCR, 2009).

5.3 Challenges related to the humanitarian system

External factors – the political and security environment, respect for international humanitarian law by the main actors – crucially affect the ability of humanitarian organisations to respond effectively and safely to protection and assistance needs. However, internal factors related to the nature and operation of the humanitarian system itself can also have a significant bearing in this regard and should be taken into account when assessing the impact of UN integration arrangements on humanitarian space.

5.3.1 Inconsistent adherence to humanitarian principles

Humanity, neutrality, independence and impartiality are fundamental principles underpinning humanitarian action. In practice, however, adherence to these principles is often inconsistent. Some humanitarian organisations accept funding from conflict parties, advocate for military intervention and sometimes fail to provide assistance to particular groups in need. These actions, evident in the three main case studies to varying degrees, are likely to influence how humanitarian actors are perceived, as will variations in the standards, quality and effectiveness of assistance.

5.3.2 Multi-mandated agencies and organisations

Most major humanitarian organisations (UN and NGOs) also engage in recovery, peace-building and development programming, such as capacity-building and community reconciliation. The risks facing 'multi-mandate' agencies have generated particular debate within the humanitarian community (see, for example, HPN, 2011). The guiding principles of development practice place greater emphasis on supporting governments, national ownership and state capacity-building, objectives which are not always consistent with humanitarian principles, or which can at times create tensions between development and humanitarian principles. This has been a contentious issue in Afghanistan, where organisations with a purely humanitarian mandate have been critical of the role of multi-mandate organisations and have

called on them to choose, in active conflict contexts, between providing relief and development assistance — with the latter seen as tantamount to taking sides and as undermining neutrality (Hofman and Delauney, 2010).

5.3.3 Competition and divisions within the humanitarian system

A large and diverse array of actors and networks are engaged in international humanitarian response, and coordinating them and reaching consensus on key issues is often a significant challenge. While they have different objectives and characteristics and undertake varying forms of action, they are seen as part of a loosely configured 'system' on the basis of broadly shared values and goals and their connection to a variety of interlinked funding and coordination structures. In practice, however, the system is characterised by high levels of competition (HPG, 2011b). Whilst common standards and codes of conduct have been developed, their application is often weak. In Somalia, for example, despite efforts to develop and agree on common standards, humanitarian organisations often do not adhere to them in practice, making it easier for the authorities and non-state armed actors to manipulate

and extort assistance — diverting relief aid, collecting taxes and expelling organisations. Such acts rarely solicit a united response, largely because one organisation usually fills the gap left by another, or is willing to meet demands for fees that other organisations reject (HPG and Stimson interviews, 2011). Likewise, there is no common humanitarian position on the use of military assets (including UN peacekeeping assets) as a last resort in contexts such as Liberia and DRC.

5.3.4 The humanitarian system as a Western enterprise
Despite claiming to be based on universal values and goals, the origins and identity of the humanitarian community are predominantly Western. Most humanitarian organisations have their headquarters in the West, and the vast majority of humanitarian funding comes from Western states (Harvey et al., 2010). This, coupled with attempts to incorporate humanitarian assistance into Western-led stabilisation campaigns, particularly in Iraq and Afghanistan, has entrenched the view that humanitarian organisations are extensions of Western power – which some groups consider hostile. This is used as a justification for some attacks against humanitarian workers.

Chapter 6 Conclusions and recommendations

6.1 Conclusions

This study was commissioned to analyse and document the impacts of UN integration arrangements on humanitarian space, particularly in the five priority areas of security, access, engagement with non-state armed actors, perceptions of humanitarian workers and humanitarian advocacy. The aim was to identify positive and negative practices and establish a shared understanding of concerns related to UN integration and humanitarian space. Within that framework, this final chapter summarises the main conclusions of the report and makes recommendations towards the improved management of the relationship between UN integration and humanitarian space.

The benefits and risks of UN integration in relation to humanitarian space have been intensely debated for many years. Although there are differences in the way that HQ and field staff of lead departments, UN and non-UN humanitarian actors view integration, a central finding of this study is that in general positions on UN integration remain polarised. The difficulty in reconciling these different positions lies in the fact that some UN humanitarian staff are deeply sceptical that in practice UN integration can benefit humanitarian action and claim there has been little evidence to suggest otherwise, and many NGOs are opposed to UN integration on principle, arguing that, in conflict situations in particular, UN integration arrangements blur the distinction between humanitarian and political action, subordinate humanitarian priorities to political prerogatives and therefore place humanitarian action at significant risk. Many humanitarian staff interviewed, UN and non-UN alike, tended to emphasise the most negative experiences, such as Somalia and Afghanistan, as evidence in this regard. Conversely, many in the UN political and peacekeeping community have tended to emphasise positive experiences of UN integration, particularly in DRC and Liberia, and the significant progress made in policy development and practice in recent years. They also question some humanitarian concerns on the basis that no real evidence has been provided to substantiate them.

A climate of mistrust and negativity has thus prevailed and the entrenched nature of the positions of the supporters and detractors of UN integration is undermining the spirit in which UN integration is meant to be pursued, its effective implementation in practice and the objectives it seeks to achieve. Almost two decades after the search for greater coherence and integration began, the debate on its impact on humanitarian space remains polarised.

6.1.1 UN integration in practice

The concept of integration within the UN system has changed significantly since its introduction in the late 1990s. This

evolution has included an acknowledgement that tensions sometimes emerge between the UN's responsibilities related to humanitarian action and its support to peacekeeping and peacebuilding. The Secretary-General's Decision of 2008 on UN integration sought to address these tensions by emphasising the need for flexibility in the form that UN integration arrangements should take in different contexts. The Secretary-General's Decision of 2008 also emphasised the need for these arrangements to 'allow for the protection of humanitarian space, to take full account of humanitarian principles, and to facilitate effective humanitarian coordination with all humanitarian actors'. The policy also states that integration arrangements 'can yield significant benefits for humanitarian operations'. However, whilst there is consensus within the UN system on the importance of coherence in maximising the individual and collective impact of the UN system, there are still serious concerns within some UN humanitarian agencies and among many NGOs regarding some of the structural arrangements put in place to achieve it (including the triple-hat role of the DSRSG/RC/HC and the integration of the OCHA office into the mission).

Integration arrangements have at times been designed to support humanitarian space, such as the separation of the RC/HC roles in Darfur and Somalia, or have resulted in decisions that protected humanitarian space. In some cases integrated arrangements have yielded benefits for humanitarian actors. For example, a number of respondents credited the unique role that DSRSG/RC/HCs can and have played in advancing humanitarian priorities in some of the cases reviewed. However, these positive experiences have often been obscured by negative experiences resulting from inconsistent implementation of the policy. In the contexts reviewed for this study, the extent to which the design, planning, implementation and review of integration arrangements have taken account of humanitarian principles and allowed for the protection of humanitarian space has been inconsistent. This has created or exacerbated tensions between the various actors within the UN system, and between the UN and the wider humanitarian community.

The inconsistent implementation of UN integration policy as it relates to humanitarian space stems from a number of factors. These include a limited understanding and awareness of the policy and guidance among humanitarian and political/peacekeeping staff, a lack of ownership of the policy by some UN agency and OCHA staff, a lack of understanding of the operational importance of humanitarian principles amongst some staff of lead departments, a lack of clear minimum standards related to humanitarian space issues in existing guidance, a lack of transparency and accountability in

decision-making and insufficient commitment and investment in the concept and its implementation across the UN system.

Understanding and awareness of the policy on UN integration, and the provisions relating to the protection of humanitarian space, were poor amongst UN and NGO staff in the contexts studied. This is not a new observation, and there are evident deficiencies in the dissemination of policy and guidance. In some field contexts, a number of UN agency and OCHA staff did not acknowledge or were unaware that the policy was system-wide, that their own headquarters had been involved in its elaboration or that it had been endorsed by their principals. Some UN mission staff were unaware of the safeguards relating to humanitarian space in the policy, or that humanitarian principles have operational relevance.

The main requirement of UN integration policy and guidance is strategic integration based on a shared vision, closely aligned goals and a strategic partnership between the UN mission and the UNCT. However, debates on integration arrangements have been dominated by the question of whether to integrate the RC/HC and/or OCHA functions into the mission structure, at the expense of efforts to support strategic integration; in practice achieving strategic integration, including the necessary buy-in from different stakeholders in the UN integrated presence, has been inconsistent.

An absence of clear guidance on how to address humanitarian space issues in UN integrated presences has contributed to the lack of understanding of the policy with respect to humanitarian principles, and subsequently inconsistent implementation in this regard. Recent IMPP guidance does not adequately specify how arrangements can be designed to help protect humanitarian principles, or how non-UN humanitarian stakeholders should engage in these discussions.

Throughout both the design and implementation of integrated presences, there have been instances where the level of transparency has been insufficient regarding decisions that impact upon humanitarian space. There were instances in most of the country case studies where decisions taken by the leadership at the UN Secretariat or in UN agency HQs differed from agreements arrived at (often through integrated processes) by the leadership of the integrated UN presence in the field. Whilst this may not be surprising given ongoing challenges in the relationship between HQ and the field, the rationale behind the decision or the process that led to it was often not adequately communicated to country-level stakeholders, increasing suspicions that humanitarian priorities were being subordinated by the political leadership even when this was not the case.

The study also found examples where UN political, peacekeeping and humanitarian staff at various levels did not comply with UN integration policy as it relates to humanitarian principles, the protection of humanitarian space and the

facilitation of effective humanitarian coordination. Ineffective performance management and accountability mechanisms for UN staff are not related to UN integration per se. However, the lack of accountability for non-compliance with UN integration policy, including as it relates to humanitarian action, has failed to ensure corrective action or prevent the recurrence of decision-making that is inconsistent with this policy. It has also contributed to the sense of mistrust amongst many UN and non-UN humanitarian staff.

In some instances, planning processes for UN integration arrangements were successful (after much negotiation) at including and taking into account the concerns of humanitarian actors relating to the protection of humanitarian space and effective humanitarian coordination. In Darfur and Afghanistan, advocacy by UN humanitarian actors and their non-UN partners ultimately resulted in agreement to ensure a separate OCHA office and, in the case of Darfur, a separate RC/HC as well. In addition, ISF processes in Somalia, Afghanistan and the CAR helped to build confidence and greater mutual awareness of the respective objectives of UN humanitarian, political and peacekeeping components.

In order for UN integration to be successful, it will require a major shift in working culture, with clear senior-level commitment and the allocation of appropriate human and financial resources. However, across the UN system (lead departments, UN agencies and OCHA) there remains insufficient investment in and commitment to the implementation of the UN integration policy, including with respect to the protection of humanitarian space. Dedicated staffing capacity particularly at UN headquarters (of UN agencies, OCHA and lead departments) to support the development and implementation of integration policy is weak. Representation of OCHA and some UN agencies in critical highlevel policy or operational discussions relating to integration is inconsistent and often lacking in seniority. In addition, there has been limited investment in the training and sensitisation of UN agency, OCHA and lead department staff in the field and HQ at all levels on the importance of integration for strategic objectives, and how concerns relating to humanitarian space can be addressed.

Existing HQ-level mechanisms such as the I(M)TFs, the ISG and the Policy Committee are not consistently used, and as a result have not always proved effective as transparent dispute resolution mechanisms when disagreements arise in the field relating to issues of humanitarian space.

6.1.2 The impact of UN integration arrangements on humanitarian space

In line with the terms of reference, this study considered the impact of UN integration arrangements on humanitarian space, based on the experience and examples collected at headquarters and in the field. This research indicates that UN integration arrangements have had both positive and negative impacts on the five priority areas of humanitarian space. There

are however differences in impact, both positive and negative, for UN humanitarian actors (UN agencies and OCHA) and for NGOs and other non-UN humanitarian actors. Impact is also related to the context, including the political and conflict environment, and to the understanding of the concept of UN integration amongst staff and its implementation.

The impact on UN humanitarian agencies is qualified in part by their status and mandates — they are UN entities and cannot therefore be neutral and independent in the manner of the ICRC, for example, even in non-integrated UN presences or countries with no UN political or peacekeeping presence. For NGOs and other non-UN humanitarian actors, the positive and negative impacts are less pronounced than for UN agencies because they are not part of the UN system per se.

The research team found examples where UN integrated arrangements had created or exacerbated risks to humanitarian space. However, there were also examples of UN integration arrangements taking into account humanitarian principles and yielding benefits for humanitarian operations. It is important to note that the primary risks to humanitarian space were contextual, such as the status and nature of the conflict, the nature of armed actors, the behaviour of host governments, the policies of other member states including relating to funding and comprehensive approaches and the characteristics of the humanitarian community itself, such as adherence to humanitarian principles and the lack of collective and coherent responses to these broader challenges to humanitarian space. The positive and negative impacts of UN integration arrangements should be understood in relation to these broader characteristics, which differ in each context. The impacts of UN integration arrangements on the ability of UN and non-UN humanitarian actors to operate in a principled and effective manner should be comprehensively assessed in all contexts, and the risks of certain country-level arrangements, particularly highly visible or structural arrangements, should be weighed in relation to the potential benefits to humanitarian operations.

To the extent that motivations for attacks on humanitarian workers can be identified, the research team was not able to find examples where there was a clear link between UN integration arrangements and attacks on humanitarian personnel of UN or non-UN entities. These findings are based on data and analysis provided by security experts (UN and non-UN) and assessments, which indicate that the primary risks to the security of humanitarian workers relate to multiple and often overlapping economic, criminal and political factors. However, UN integration arrangements that increase the visible association of the political or peacekeeping mission with UN humanitarian agencies may, in certain circumstances, pose an additional risk to the security of humanitarian personnel. This was the case for example in DRC when MONUC became a party to the conflict, and in Afghanistan and Somalia, where the UN mission mandate and activities are strongly contested by one or more of the conflict parties. In these environments threats to the UN mission increase, and through increased association can extend to UN humanitarian agencies and, to some degree, their partners. The design and review of UN integration arrangements, as well as decisions relating to the strategies, programmes and activities of the whole UN presence, should be based on an appropriate evaluation of this risk in addition to all the other risk factors prevalent in a particular context.

There are a number of instances where UN integration arrangements, in particular the DSRSG/RC/HC role and integrated coordination mechanisms or structures, have facilitated the use of mission civilian and military assets to support increased humanitarian access. In Darfur, DRC and Liberia, UN humanitarian actors and some of their NGO partners have benefited from area security patrolling and the use of transportation assets provided by the mission. However, access to civilian and military assets was not always consistent or desirable and greater efforts are required to ensure that mission military assets are used only as a last resort.

UN integration arrangements and UN operational security management are linked through the DO function. Some experiences on the ground, particularly in integrated UN peacekeeping missions, suggest that this link may have contributed to a more risk-averse approach to managing security, which in turn affects the ability of UN humanitarian actors to engage with non-state armed actors and other stakeholders to negotiate access to populations in need. However, it remains unclear to what extent the risk-averse approach is due to operational security management policies and practices as against UN integration arrangements; this issue requires further exploration.

The research team did not find evidence of a consistent practice of political interference in humanitarian engagement with nonstate armed actors. However, the research team documented some examples where the leadership or individual staff of UN political or peacekeeping missions had sought to limit humanitarian engagement with certain groups regarded as 'spoilers'. In one instance there was an operational impact, but even where this was not the case these experiences undermined the relationship between the mission and the UNCT and NGO partners, and have contributed to negative views of integration amongst many humanitarian actors more broadly. The examples documented also highlight the need to strengthen the skills and competencies of senior UN managers with respect to the operational importance of humanitarian principles, the need for greater accountability for poor performance in this regard and more effective use of the DSRG/RC/HC's dual reporting line to both the ERC and SRSG.

Evidence on the extent to which UN integration arrangements influence perceptions of humanitarian workers is limited as the research team was unable to undertake a comprehensive survey amongst local communities, state officials and armed

groups of how they perceived humanitarian actors because the necessary budget, time and security conditions were not available within the scope of this study. Whilst perceptions are extremely dynamic and surveys can only provide a snapshot in time, regular monitoring of perceptions is important to inform security management, access, humanitarian engagement, advocacy strategies and, in particular, decision-making on the most appropriate integration arrangements in a particular context.

Integration coordination mechanisms and structures made feasible complementary advocacy efforts by the various components of the UN integrated presence. In a number of instances, this advocacy has been used effectively to reinforce humanitarian messages on key issues such as the protection of civilians and humanitarian access. There are also a number of examples of how integration arrangements have increased the influence of UN humanitarian actors in decision-making processes inside the UN integrated presence, as evidenced in relation to protection of civilians in the DRC. Experiences in Afghanistan, DRC, Liberia and the CAR regarding complementary advocacy are promising and demonstrate that, with a degree of trust and confidence, strong leadership and effective mechanisms for developing joint strategies, consensual efforts can be highly effective.

There are examples where UN mission staff have either sought to limit humanitarian advocacy or had undermined advocacy efforts of humanitarian actors. This was not widespread but has, in some instances, had operational impact and has affected relations between the mission and the UNCT and its partners.

Context and risk analysis is fundamental to developing effective humanitarian response strategies. As demonstrated in DRC, CAR and Liberia, UN integration arrangements that strengthen exchange of information and analysis between humanitarian and political/peacekeeping components can facilitate a more comprehensive context and risk analysis by the humanitarian community and ensure more informed decision-making by the whole UN integrated presence on issues pertinent to humanitarian space. In practice, however, opportunities to exchange information and analysis were often limited by a general lack of trust and confidence between the mission and the UNCT and its partners in many of the contexts reviewed.

This lack of trust has wider implications. The Secretary-General's 2008 Decision on integration indicates that integration arrangements should 'facilitate effective humanitarian coordination with all humanitarian actors'. However, as noted earlier, the relationship between many in the NGO community and the UN system has been characterised by suspicion and a lack of trust resulting from objections to the concept on principle, a lack of understanding of the policy and poor implementation of UN integration in practice. There has been insufficient constructive dialogue between NGOs and

the UN on this issue. As a result, some NGOs have begun withdrawing from UN humanitarian coordination mechanisms in Afghanistan, and have threatened to do so in Somalia. This could have serious operational implications for UN agencies, which rely on NGO partners for delivery in many contexts. It may also undermine the humanitarian reform process – which has sought to strengthen partnerships and coordination within the humanitarian community.

6.1.3 Managing the relationship between UN integration and humanitarian space

Integration is the modus operandi of the UN system in crisis contexts where there is a UN peacekeeping or political mission and a UN Country Team presence. Noting the evidence of both positive and negative impacts of UN integration arrangements on humanitarian space, there is evidently a need to more effectively manage the tensions between humanitarian and political/peacekeeping priorities. A number of factors must be considered in this regard.

First and foremost, UN integration arrangements should be determined by the context, as reflected in UN integration policy since 2006 and repeatedly reiterated (including most recently in the SG Decision of May 2011). The nature, dynamics and stage of the conflict, the geopolitical context and the history of UN engagement all have a bearing on how UN integration arrangements affect humanitarian space. All of these factors should inform the design, implementation and review of UN integration arrangements. While recent mission planning processes have taken the context into account during the design of integration arrangements, the analysis should be improved and broadened to include the factors this study has found to be particularly relevant.

The Secretary-General's Decision of 2008 emphasised the strategic partnership between the field mission and UN Country Team. This approach, of working towards the achievement of a jointly agreed vision, has benefits in both post-conflict and conflict contexts. Country-level arrangements, including strategic coordination or more formal structures, developed to support implementation of this vision should be determined by a comprehensive assessment of the context and risks, including as they relate to the achievement of the UN's humanitarian objectives.

In high-risk environments where the UN political or peacekeeping mandate and activities are challenged or contested, violent conflict is highly likely or ongoing and actors are able and willing to distinguish between humanitarian and other entities, greater caution in establishing certain integrated structures is required. Particular structural arrangements, such as the integration of OCHA into the mission or the creation of the triple-hat DSRSG/RC/HC function, are not likely to be appropriate in such environments since a more distinct identity for UN humanitarian programming and coordination may be necessary to ensure more effective operations. In more

stable environments, where the UN's political or peacekeeping mandate and activities are not generally challenged by armed actors on the ground, structural arrangements such as DSRSG/RC/HCs and joint programmes can harness the efforts of the UN family towards peacebuilding and peace consolidation. These structural arrangements do not, however, negate the importance of a shared strategic vision for the UN presence: this is essential in ensuring a more informed and coherent approach to the UN's objectives and to maximise the collective and individual impact of the UN presence towards peace consolidation. The primary emphasis should be on developing shared objectives and establishing SPGs, JPUs and mechanisms for shared analysis and regular and open communication and information exchange.

Second, in contexts where there is significant humanitarian need, the mandate, scope and nature of the political and peacekeeping mission should be informed by humanitarian considerations. Mandates provided by the Security Council can blur the distinction between political/peacekeeping and humanitarian responsibilities within the UN integrated presence. Coordinated sensitisation of member states is needed to ensure that the language used in mandates supports rather than undermines the distinction between the UN's humanitarian and political or peacekeeping objectives and to minimise overlap between mission and UN agency or OCHA functions.

Where there are appropriate shared objectives between humanitarian, political and peacekeeping components, such as the protection of civilians and support to durable solutions for displaced populations, the need for a coherent and complementary approach is evident. Shared objectives of this nature provide a common platform on which to build confidence and identify the respective contributions that each component of the UN integrated presence can make in realising those objectives. As noted in the recent Secretary-General's report on civilian capacity in the aftermath of conflict, it is important to ensure that, where there are shared objectives, the division of labour is based on the respective competencies of the various components of the UN, thereby avoiding duplication of effort and resources.

Third, effective leadership at all levels of the UN system is crucial to the success of integrated arrangements. Decisions and risks must be informed, shared and supported by stakeholders from the Secretary-General and Under-Secretary Generals, heads of agencies, funds and programmes, down through all levels of leadership at headquarters and in the field. In particular, senior UN staff operating in UN integrated presences (both in missions and UN agencies) should have the appropriate skills and competencies to lead or support the humanitarian response, including the ability to manage competing priorities. Noting the scale and nature of the tasks being asked of SRSGs and DSRSG/RC/HCs and the weaknesses of many senior managers in understanding both

the operational relevance of humanitarian principles and how to manage them in relation to other mission priorities, informal and formal mechanisms should be put in place to support senior mission staff.

Fourth, guidance should clarify how integration arrangements should take account of humanitarian principles and allow for the protection of humanitarian space. Greater clarity is necessary on minimum requirements relating to humanitarian space issues in integration arrangements. The upcoming revision of the IMPP should more explicitly and clearly define how decision-making processes can be more inclusive and what type of integration arrangements can help to protect humanitarian space. More consistent and strategic engagement from humanitarian actors in the design, implementation, monitoring and review of integration arrangements is also necessary to ensure more informed decision-making. Greater sensitisation of non-humanitarian UN staff on the operational relevance of humanitarian principles may also help mitigate tensions arising at both HQ and field levels.

6.2 Recommendations

6.2.1 Capacities, awareness-raising and accountability

- The ISG should consider how additional dedicated capacity can be created to support more consistent implementation of context-specific UN integration policy and guidance, including on issues related to humanitarian space.
- 2. The ISG should develop a more streamlined package of policy and guidance and a more comprehensive dissemination strategy for all UN staff. This should include greater clarity on how integration arrangements can protect humanitarian space and good practices to illustrate this. The guidance package should also specify what dispute resolution mechanisms are in place for disagreements arising at HQ and in the field, and how these mechanisms should be utilised. Lead departments, agencies, funds and programmes (in particular the members of the ISG) should ensure comprehensive dissemination of this guidance and related training for all levels of staff at HQ and in the field, including pre-departure briefings for staff deploying to UN integrated presences for the first time.
- The scenario-based exercises for in-mission integrated planning and training which are currently under development should include scenarios that help participants to identify and manage tensions between humanitarian and other mission objectives.
- 4. As UN integration is an institutional priority, lead departments and UN agencies should make it clear to all staff that this is the modus operandi in the relevant contexts. This should be reflected in internal communications and training. In line with the practice for senior DPA, DPKO and OCHA managers in UN integrated contexts, promotion of and compliance with the policy should be integrated into the terms of reference of relevant senior UN agency staff (e.g. country directors and their deputies) serving in UN integrated presences. This

- includes compliance with the provisions on humanitarian principles and protecting humanitarian space.
- 5. The accountability and performance evaluation-related aspects of the SG Decision of May 2011 should be implemented by all ISG members, thereby ensuring more robust accountability for non-compliance with the UN integration policy, including as it relates to the protection of humanitarian space.
- 6. The IASC, through global cluster leads, should develop and disseminate a guidance template on the interaction between UN integrated presences and relevant clusters (e.g. protection, emergency telecommunications, logistics) to be adapted, where relevant, at the field level in UN integrated presences.

6.2.2 Confidence-building

- 7. The ISG should consider how its members can help build confidence and trust between the humanitarian (UN and non-UN) and political/peacekeeping communities, both at the HQ level (New York, Geneva and Rome) and in the field. This should include extending a standing invitation for an NGO representative to join the ISG principals' meetings. The ISG and IASC should also consider mechanisms for greater engagement and information exchange, including thematic or country-specific briefings by lead departments in IASC meetings and joint field workshops in UN integrated contexts.
- Lead departments must ensure consistent engagement with the UNCT and HCT in each country context in the design, planning, implementation and review of UN integrated presences.

6.2.3 Leadership

- 9. Lead departments and OCHA should ensure that staff in senior mission management posts in UN integrated presences, particularly DSRSG/RC/HCs, have the necessary skills and competencies (e.g. as outlined in the HC competency framework) to effectively manage competing humanitarian and political or peacekeeping priorities. Where missions have mandated responsibilities which relate to humanitarian objectives, for example protection of civilians, mission leaders should be selected taking into account, among other factors, competencies related to these objectives. Similarly, other key leaders, including Force and Deputy Force Commanders, heads of UN agencies and in particular the head of OCHA should have the experience and training to work effectively in UN integrated presences.
- 10. Existing initiatives, including DSRSG and RC/HC retreats and peer networks, should be strengthened to ensure more effective mentoring and greater exchange of experiences and advice between senior managers, including current and former staff serving in leadership posts.

6.2.4 UN integration arrangements

11. The provision in the SG's 2008 Decision on integration stating that the context is the determining factor for

- UN integration arrangements must be more consistently implemented in practice. This should be facilitated through a more comprehensive and inclusive assessment of the context and the various risk factors prevalent in it, including in relation to humanitarian space. Such assessments should take place during initial planning and throughout the duration of the integrated presence in order to ensure appropriate adaptation to changes in the mission mandate and/or the context on the ground. The revised IMPP guidance should include frameworks that can assist planners and decision-makers to identify and assess risk factors that integrated arrangements should seek to prevent or mitigate.
- 12. Revised guidance on integration should also reflect the fact that highly visible integration arrangements, including integration of the RC/HC and OCHA functions, can become an additional risk factor for humanitarian space in particular circumstances, namely when violent conflict is ongoing, a UN peacekeeping or political mission's mandate and activities are opposed or contested by one of the parties to the conflict and that party is able and willing to distinguish between humanitarian and political international actors.
- 13. In all circumstances, adequate mechanisms and processes should be established to facilitate strategic coordination, communication and exchange of information and analysis within the UN system, including on context and risk analysis, security and other operational issues. Agreed confidentiality protocols that clarify what information/analysis can and cannot be shared should be established. In addition, standing capacities that facilitate information gathering, analysis and dissemination across and beyond the UN system (a JMAC or similar structure) should be established in each integrated context to support more comprehensive and informed decision-making across the UN integrated presence, including in support of humanitarian considerations.
- 14. IMTFs should be used more consistently, effectively and transparently for arbitration and dispute resolution on country-specific issues. Although the ISG should continue to focus primarily on thematic issues related to integration, it should be used as an alternative mechanism for dispute resolution when an IMTF cannot resolve the issue or the Policy Committee is unable to address it in a timely manner.

6.2.5 Security Council mandates and mission components

15. The ISG, in consultation with non-UN humanitarian actors, should identify and agree on appropriate terminology for Security Council mandates relating to humanitarian objectives. Once identified, the relevant ISG members should undertake more coherent advocacy with Security Council members to ensure consistent use of appropriate terminology. The ISG should also review relevant components within UN integrated missions (e.g. related to humanitarian coordination or the return of displaced populations) and provide guidance to Member States on related budgetary issues, with a view to minimising

overlapping functions and the duplication of resources with UN humanitarian agencies.

6.2.6 Security of humanitarian workers

- 16. Current guidance on UN operational security management should be reviewed with the aim of ensuring that UN integration arrangements are taken into consideration in security risk assessments, analysis and mitigation strategies. The risk of association should be considered for both UN agencies and NGOs.
- 17. UNDSS and NGO Security Focal Points (including through the Saving Lives Together initiative) should ensure more regular interaction and exchange of information and analysis, particularly in relation to the potential risks for non-UN humanitarian actors of association with the UN integrated presence. Given concerns regarding confidentiality and the inappropriate use of information, confidentiality protocols should be developed between OCHA and UN agencies and the UN political/peacekeeping components.

6.2.7 Humanitarian access

- 18. The Department of Field Support-led Support Working Group of the ISG should step up efforts to develop templates and procedures that allow for greater interoperability and sharing of assets, including to non-UN partners, where appropriate and in line with existing guidance on the use of military assets.
- 19. In line with existing guidance on the use of military escorts, a comprehensive risk assessment (by all relevant stakeholders) should be undertaken prior to use of UN military escorts to understand the potential short- and longer-term risks relating to perceptions of humanitarian workers.

6.2.8 Engagement with non-state armed actors

20. Senior UN leadership at HQ and field level should uphold the ability of humanitarian actors (both UN agencies and NGOs) to engage with all parties to a conflict for humanitarian purposes. The HC should ensure that other mission leaders, including SRSGs and DSRSGs (political), are kept abreast of humanitarian engagement strategies, so as to inform their own engagement strategies and to facilitate appropriate sharing of analysis. Within the UN integrated presence, the DSRSG/RC/HC (or RC/HC) should

- reinforce the importance of humanitarian engagement through internal meetings, policies and guidance, and through leading by example.
- 21. Under the leadership of the HC, the HCT, in consultation with senior UN mission leadership, should develop a strategy in each UN integrated presence to engage non-state armed actors, outlining roles and responsibilities and adhering to principles of 'do no harm'.

6.2.9 Perceptions of humanitarian workers

- 22. Regular surveys should be undertaken of how local communities and, where feasible, non-state armed actors perceive different categories of international actors, including humanitarian workers, and to what extent these perceptions are influenced by association with the UN political or peacekeeping mission. In conjunction with other data, survey findings should be used to inform security, humanitarian access, advocacy and humanitarian engagement strategies. Where appropriate, and in line with existing guidance, these should be undertaken with integrated mission actors, such as joint mission analysis centres, joint planning units and civil affairs sections.
- 23. HCTs in UN integrated contexts should ensure greater investment in public information and outreach to local populations aimed at increasing awareness/sensitising communities to humanitarian principles, objectives and ways of working. This should be carried out in consultation with and, when appropriate, in coordination/collaboration with communications staff from the UN mission.

6.2.10 Humanitarian advocacy

- 24. Under the leadership of the HC, HCTs in UN integrated contexts should develop humanitarian advocacy strategies and decide on the mechanisms for delivering those messages. Where the comparative advantage is clear, and in agreement with the DSRSG/RC/HC (or RC/HC) and HCT, other UN mission leadership (e.g. the SRSG) should privately and where appropriate publicly support humanitarian advocacy.
- 25. The dual reporting line of the DSRSG/RC/HC to the ERC for his/her HC role should be utilised more consistently and effectively to facilitate an additional channel for humanitarian messages.

Bibliography

ANSO (2011) Quarterly Data Report, Q4 2010. Afghan NGO Safety Office, January. Available at www.anso.org.af.

Barakat, S., A. Giustozzi, C. Langton, M. Murphy, M. Sedra and A. Strand (2008) DFID *Understanding Afghanistan: Strategic Conflict Assessment.* Recovery and Development Consortium.

Bradbury, M. (2010) *State-building, Counterterrorism, and Licensing Humanitarianism in Somalia.* Feinstein International Center Briefing Paper.

Centre for Humanitarian Dialogue (2003) *Politics and Humanitarianism: Coherence in Crisis?*.

Collinson, S, S. Elhawary and R. Muggah (2010) *States of Fragility: Stabilisation and Its Implications for Humanitarian Action.* HPG Working Paper.

De Coning, C. (2007) 'The Implications of the Integrated Missions Concept for Training in United Nations and African Union Peace Operations', *Peacekeeping This Month*, African Peace Support Trainers Association, 17 July. Available at http://www.apsta-africa.org/news/article17072007.php#_edn6.

Donini, A. (2006) *Humanitarian Agenda 2015: Afghanistan Country Study.* Feinstein International Center.

Donini, A. (2011) 'Between a Rock and a Hard Place: Integration or Independence of Humanitarian Action?', *International Review of the Red Cross*, 93(881), March.

DRC Humanitarian Action Plan (2009) Available at http://reliefweb.int/node/342046.

DRC Humanitarian Action Plan (2010) Available at http://www.rdc-humanitaire.net/index.php?option=com_content&view=article&id=127:humanitarian-action-plan-2010&catid=24:plan-daction-humanitaire&Itemid=68.

DRC Humanitarian Action Plan (2011) Available at http://www.rdc-humanitaire.net/index.php?option=com_content&view=article&id=780:humanitarian-action-plan-2011&catid=24:plan-daction-humanitaire<emid=68.

Duffield, M. (2001) Global Governance and the New Wars: the Merging of Development and Security. London: Zed Books.

Duffield, M., P. Gossman and N. Leader (2001) *Review of the Strategic Framework for Afghanistan*. Afghan Research and Evaluation Unit.

Dunn, C. (2011) Aid to Somalia Fraught with Legal Uncertainty and Bureaucratic Tangles. Corporate Counsel, 12 August.

Egeland, J., A. Harmer and A. Stoddard (2011) *To Stay and Deliver: Good Practice for Humanitarians in Complex Security Environments.* OCHA Policy Development and Studies Branch.

Eide, E. B., A. T. Kasperson, R. Kent and K. von Hippel (2005) *Report on Integrated Missions: Practical Perspectives and Recommendations*. UN ECHA Core Group.

Fast, L. (2010) 'Mind the Gap: Documenting and Explaining Violence Against Aid Workers', *European Journal of International Relations* (*EJIR*), 16 (3): 365–389.

Fiawosime, A. (2005) 'An Integrated Approach to Peace Support Operations: Overview of UN and International Humanitarian Agencies in Liberia', in F. Aboagye and A. M. S. Bah (eds), A Torturous Road to Peace: The Dynamics of Regional, UN and International Humanitarian Interventions in Liberia. Johannesburg: Institute for Security Studies.

Fletcher, M. (2007) 'We Don't Have Civil Servants. We Have Guns', *The Times*, 27 April. Available at http://www.timesonline.co.uk/tol/news/world/africa/article1712030.ece.

Gowan, R. (ed.) (2010) *Review of Political Missions 2010*. New York: Center on International Cooperation.

Johnstone, I. (2010) 'Emerging Doctrine for Political Missions', in Gowan (ed.), *Review of Political Missions*.

Hammond, L. (2008) 'The Power of Holding Humanitarianism Hostage and the Myth of Protective Principles', in M. Barnett and T. G. Weiss (eds), *Humanitarianism in Question: Politics, Power, Ethics.* New York: Cornell University Press.

Hammond, L. and H. Vaughan Lee (forthcoming 2012) *Humanitarian Space: A Somalia Case Study*, HPG Working Paper.

Harakat Al-Shabaab Al-Mujahideen (2009) Department of Political Affairs and Regional Administrations. Press Release, 20 July. Available at http://patronusanalytical.com/files/Al_Shabaabs_NGO_liaison_office_announces_closure_of_UN_offices_in_Somalia.php.

Harmer, A. (2008) 'Integrated Missions: A Threat to Aid Worker Security?', *International Peacekeeping*, 15(4).

Harvey, P., A. Stoddard, A. Harmer and G. Taylor, with V. DiDomenico and L. Brander (2010) *The State of the Humanitarian System: Assessing Performance and Progress.* London: ALNAP.

Hofman, M. and S. Delauney (2010) 'Afghanistan: A Return to Humanitarian Action', *Médecins Sans Frontières*. Special Report, 11 March. Available at http://www.doctorswithoutborders.org/publications/article.cfm?id=4311&cat=special-report.

HPG (2010) *Humanitarian Space: Concept, Definitions and Uses.* HPG Roundtable Meeting Summary. Available at http://www.odi.org.uk/events/documents/2655-meeting-summary.pdf.

HPG (2011a) *Counter-Terrorism and Humanitarian Action*. HPG Roundtable Meeting Summary. Available at http://www.odi.org.uk/events/documents/2659-meeting-summary.pdf.

HPG (2011b) *The Humanitarian System: How Does it Affect Humanitarian Space?* HPG Roundtable Meeting Summary. Available at http://www.odi.org.uk/events/documents/2657-meeting-summary.pdf.

HPG and SOAS (2011) *Politicisation and Securitisation of Assistance: Challenges to Humanitarian Space in Somalia.* Available at http://www.odi.org.uk/events/documents/2658-meeting-summary.pdf.

HPG and Stimson Center (2011) *The Search for Coherence: UN Integrated Missions and Humanitarian Space.* Roundtable Summary. Available at http://www.odi.org.uk/events/documents/266o-meeting-summary.pdf.

HPG and UNHCR (2011) *Better Protected? Stabilisation Strategies and the Protection of Civilians*. Roundtable Meeting Summary. Available at http://www.odi.org.uk/events/documents/2718-meeting-summary.pdf.

HRW (2009) 'Somalia: New Violence Highlights Need for Independent Inquiry: Top UN Official Should Retract Irresponsible Statements About Somali Media'. Human Rights Watch, 5 February. Available at http://www.hrw.org/news/2009/02/05/somalia-new-violence-highlights-need-independent-inquiry.

HRW (2010) Harsh War, Harsh Peace: Abuses by al-Shabaab, the Transitional Federal Government, and AMISOM in Somalia. Human Rights Watch, 18 April.

Humanitarian Outcomes (2011a) Aid Worker Security Database. Available at https://aidworkersecurity.org.

Humanitarian Outcomes (2011b) Aid Worker Security Report 2011: Spotlight on Security for National Aid Workers: Issues and perspectives.

Humanitarian Practice Network (2010) *Operational Security Management in Violent Environments*, GPR 8 (revised). London: HPN.

Humanitarian Practice Network (2011) 'Humanitarian Action in Afghanistan and Pakistan: Special Feature', *Humanitarian Exchange*, 49.

IASC (1994) *Terms of Reference for the Humanitarian Coordinators*. Inter-Agency Standing Committee (IASC Principals 10th Session, December).

IASC (2003) Revised Terms of Reference for the Humanitarian Coordinators. Inter-Agency Standing Committee (Endorsed 11 December).

IASC (2005) *ICVA – The Humanitarian Coordinator System: Issues for Discussion*. Inter-Agency Standing Committee (IASC Principals 33rd Session December).

IASC (2006) Guidance Note on Using the Cluster Approach To Strengthen Humanitarian Response. Inter-Agency Standing Committee.

IASC (2008) Operational Guidance on the Concept of the 'Provider of Last Resort'. Inter-Agency Standing Committee (Endorsed by the IASC Working Group on 20 June).

IASC (2009) Terms of Reference for the Humanitarian Coordinators (Endorsed by the 73rd IASC Working Group on 4 May).

ICRC (2008) Enhancing Protection for Civilians in Armed Conflict and Other Situations of Violence. September.

International Crisis Group (2011) *Somalia: The Transitional Government on Life Support.* Africa Report No. 170, 21 February.

International Federation of Red Cross and Red Crescent Societies and ICRC (1996) 'Annex VI: The Code of Conduct for the International Red Cross and Red Crescent Movement and NGOs in Disaster Relief', *International Review of the Red Cross*, No. 310. Available at http://www.icrc.org/eng/resources/documents/publication/p1067.htm.

Leader, N. (2000) *The Politics of Principle: Ihe Principles of Humanitarian Action in Practice.* HPG Report 2. London: ODI.

Macrae, J. and N. Leader (2000) *Shifting Sands: The Search for 'Coherence' Between Political and Humanitarian Responses to Complex Emergencies.* HPG Report 8. London: ODI.

Menkhaus, K. (2008) *Somalia: A Country in Peril, a Policy Nightmare*. Enough Strategy Paper.

Menkhaus, K. (2010) 'Stabilisation and Humanitarian Access in a Collapsed State: The Somali Case', *Disasters*. Vol. 34 Special Issue: 340–41, October.

Metcalfe, V., E. Martin and S. Pantuliano (2011) *Risk in Humanitarian Action: Towards a Common Approach?*. HPG Commissioned Paper. London: ODI.

Minear, L. (1997) 'Introduction to Case Studies', in N. Azimi (ed.) *Humanitarian Action and Peace-keeping Operations: Debriefing and Lessons.* London: Kluwer Law International.

OCHA (2003) Glossary of Humanitarian Terms in Relation to the Protection of Civilians in Armed Conflict. United Nations Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs.

OCHA (2008) Civil-Military Guidelines and Reference for Complex Emergencies. United Nations and the Inter-Agency Standing

Committee. United Nations Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs Policy Development and Studies Branch.

OCHA (2009) *Policy Instruction: OCHA's Structural Relationships within an Integrated UN Presence*. UN Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs, 1 May.

OCHA (2011) *Central African Republic: Access Monitoring Report*, Draft, 3 Month Report. United Nations Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs, March–May.

OCHA (2011a) Democratic Republic of Congo: Insecurity and Displacement (as of 31 March 2011). Available at http://reliefweb.int/sites/reliefweb.int/files/resources/SS_2011_COD_0420.pdf.

Ould-Abdallah, A. (2009) 'Why the World Should Not Let Somalia Go To the Dogs', *Kenyan Daily Nation*, 25 June.

Pantuliano, S. and K. Mackintosh, with V. Metcalfe and S. Elhawary (2011) *Counter-Terrorism and Humanitarian Action: Tensions, Impacts and Ways Forward.* HPG Policy Brief 43. London: ODI.

Somalia NGO Consortium (2010) 'A Joint NGO Statement on UN Integration in Somalia'. Somalia NGO Consortium.

Stoddard, A., A. Harmer and K. Haver (2006) *Providing Aid in Insecure Environments: Trends in Policy and Operations*. HPG Report 23. London/New York: ODI/CIC.

Stoddard, A., A. Harmer and V. DiDomenico (2009) *Providing Aid in Insecure Environments: 2009 Update*. HPG Policy Brief 34. London: ODI.

Ulich, O. (2010) 'Integration: Recent Developments and Persistent Misperceptions' *Humanitarian Exchange*, No. 46, March.

UN (1991) General Assembly Resolution 182 – Strengthening of the Coordination of Humanitarian Emergency Assistance of the United Nations. A/RES/46/182, 19 December.

UN (1996) Haiti – UNMIH. Department of Public Information. Available at http://www.un.org/Depts/DPKO/Missions/unmih_b.htm.

UN (1997) Renewing the United Nations: A Programme for Reform. Report of the Secretary-General. A/51/950, 14 July.

UN (1999) Security Council Resolution 1267. S/RES/1267, 15 October.

UN (2000a) *Report of the Panel on United Nations Peace Operations*. A/55/305 – S/2000/809, 20 October.

UN (2000b) Note of Guidance on Relations between Representatives of the Secretary General, Resident Coordinators and Humanitarian Coordinators, 30 October.

UN (2001a) Namibia – UNTAG. Available at http://www.un.org/en/peacekeeping/missions/past/untagFT.htm#Structure.

UN (2001b) Security Council Resolution 1386. S/RES/1386, 20 December.

UN (2003a) Security Council Resolution 1509. S/RES/1509, 19 September.

UN (2003b) Security Council Resolution 1510. S/RES/1510, 13 October.

UN (2005a) General Assembly Resolution 59/276, Questions Relating to the Programme Budget for the Biennium 2004–2005. A/RES/59/276, 17 January.

UN (2005b) *In Larger Freedom: Towards Development, Security and Human Rights for All.* Report of the Secretary-General, 21 March.

UN (2005c) *Note of Guidance on Integrated Missions.* Issued by the Secretary-General on 9 December.

UN (2006a) Revised Note of Guidance on Integrated Missions, dated 17 January 2006 and released under a Note from the Secretary-General on 9 February 2006.

UN (2006b) Integrated Missions Planning Process (IMPP): Guidelines Endorsed by the Secretary-General on 13 June 2006.

UN (2006c) Delivering as One: Report of the UN Secretary-General's High-level Panel on UN System-wide Coherence in the Areas of Development, Humanitarian Assistance, and the Environment. A/61/583, 20 November.

UN (2007) Security Council Resolution 1744. S/RES/1744, 21 February.

UN (2008) Decisions of the Secretary-General – 25 June meeting of the Policy Committee. Decision No. 24/2008, 26 June.

UN (2009a) Security Council Resolution 1863. S/RES/1863, 16 January.

UN (2009b) Report of the Secretary-General on the Protection of Civilians in Armed Conflict. S/2009/277, 29 May.

UN (2009c) United Nations Integrated Mission Planning Process Guidelines: Role of the Headquarters – Integrated Planning for UN Field Presences.

UN (2009d) Security Council Resolution 1906. S/RES/1906, 23 December.

UN (2010a) United Nations Integrated Mission Planning Process Guidelines: Role of the Field – Integrated Planning for UN Field Presences, January.

UN (2010b) Security Council Resolution 1917. S/RES/1917, 22 March.

UN (2010c) Report of the Secretary-General on the Protection of Civilians in Armed Conflict. S/2010/579, 11 November.

UN (2011a) *Decisions of the Secretary-General* — *Follow-up to the 16 December Meeting of the Policy Committee* (4 May Meeting of the Policy Committee). Decision No. 2011/10 — Integration, 4 May.

UN (2011b) Security Council Resolution 1974. S/RES/1974, 22 March.

UN (2011c) *Report of the Secretary-General on Somalia*. S/2011/277, 28 April.

UN (2011d) Security Council Resolution 1991. S/RES/1991, 28 June.

UN (2011e) Security Council Resolution 2003. S/RES/2003, 29 July.

UN (2011f) Security Council Resolution 2010. S/RES/2010, 30 September.

UN (2011g) Report of the Secretary-General on the United Nations Organization Stabilization Mission in the Democratic Republic of the Congo. S/2011/656, 24 October.

UNAMA (2011) 'UNAMA and MACCA Condemn the Killing of Deminers'. United Nations Assistance Mission in Afghanistan, 11 July. Available at http://unama.unmissions.org/Default.aspx?tabid=178 3&ctl=Details&mid=1882&ItemID=14405.

UN DPKO (2006) *Joint Operations Centers and Joint Mission Analysis Centers.* DPKO Policy Directive, 1 July.

UN DPKO DFS (2008) *United Nations Peacekeeping Operations Principles and Guidelines.* UN Department of Peacekeeping Operations and Department of Field Support, 18 January.

UNHCR (2009) *UNHCR's Engagement with Integrated UN Missions: Report of a Lessons Learned Workshop.* UN High Commissioner for Refugees.

UN News Centre (2003) *Iraqi Bombing Panel Finds UN Security Systems Dysfunctional, In Need of Reform,* 22 October. Available at http://www.un.org/apps/news/story.asp?Cr=iraq&Cr1=&News ID=8640.

UN News Centre (2010) Ban and Security Council Condemn Attack on UN Compound in Afghanistan, 23 October. Available at http://www.un.org/apps/news/story.asp?NewsID=36547&Cr=Afghan&Cr1=&Kw1=Attack+on+UN+compound&Kw2=Afghanistan&Kw3=.

United Nations Organisations in the DRC (2011) Briefing Note 'UN System-wide Efforts To Practice Integration in the DRC'.

various NGOs (2008) 'The Need for an Independent OCHA in Afghanistan', Open letter from 19 NGOs to Mr. Bo Asplund, d. SRSG-RRR, Resident Representative for the UNDP and Humanitarian Coordinator, 4 April.

Weir, E. (2006) Conflict and Compromise: UN Integrated Missions and the Humanitarian Imperative. KAIPTC Monograph No. 4.

Woodward, S. (2003) 'Economic Priorities in Peace Implementation', in J. Stedman, D. Rothchild and E. Cousens (eds) *Ending Civil Wars: Volume II. Evaluating Implementation of Peace Agreements*. Boulder, CO: Lynne Reinner.

Zabihullah Mujahid (2011) Spokesperson, Islamic Emirate of Afghanistan, 1 May. Accessed at www.shahamat-english.com.

Annex 1

Secretary-General Decision No. 2008/24 - Integration



TO: Members of the Policy Committee

DATE: 26 June 2008

 A: Participants at the 25 June Policy Committee meeting (see distribution list)

REFERENCE:

THROUGH:

S/C DE:

FROM: The Secretary-General

DE

SUBJECT: Decisions of the Secretary-General - 25 June meeting of the Policy Committee

OBJET:

Decision No. 2008/24 - Integration

i. Building on existing guidance, the Secretary-General reaffirms integration as the guiding principle for all conflict and post-conflict situations where the UN has a Country Team and a multi-dimensional peacekeeping operation or political mission/office, whether or not these presences are structurally integrated. A list of situations where the principle should be applied is attached. The following are endorsed as defining elements of integration:

a. The <u>main purpose</u> of integration is to maximize the individual and collective impact of the UN's response, concentrating on those activities required to consolidate peace.

- b. To achieve this main purpose at the country level, there should be an effective <u>strategic partnership</u> between the UN mission/office and the Country Team, under the leadership of the SRSG (or ERSG), that ensures that all components of the UN mission/office and the Country Team operate in a coherent and mutually supportive manner, and in close collaboration with other partners.
- c. The <u>country level arrangements</u> should reflect the specific requirements and circumstances and can take different structural forms. In all cases they should include (i) a shared vision of the UN's strategic objectives, (ii) closely aligned or integrated planning, (iii) a set of agreed results, timelines and responsibilities for the delivery of tasks critical to consolidating peace, and (iv) agreed mechanisms for monitoring and evaluation.
- d. An integrated approach and integration arrangements can yield significant benefits for humanitarian operations. Integration arrangements should take full account of recognized humanitarian principles, allow for the protection of humanitarian space, and facilitate effective humanitarian coordination with all humanitarian actors.
- ii. To ensure that the elements listed in recommendation (i)(c) are in place, all integrated UN presences should have a shared analytical and planning capacity, as well as an integrated strategic framework that should be reflected in and draw on all other UN planning, programming and budget instruments. (Action: all integrated UN presences, supported by relevant HQ entities)
- iii. Lead departments will maintain Headquarters level task forces for each integrated UN presence to ensure coherent and consistent support and policy guidance. The PBSO will support the lead departments, as appropriate, particularly in relation to countries before the PBC. The task forces will include relevant Secretariat departments and offices, agencies, funds and programmes and consider all issues that have strategic significance or programmatic impact for the UN presence in the relevant country. They will meet at the Director level as needed. (Action: DPKO, DPA)

UNITED NATIONS . INTEROFFICE MEMORANDUM

NATIONS UNIES · MÉMORANDUM INTÉRIEUR

PAGE 2

- iv. An Integration Steering Group, convened by DPKO, consisting of the key UN entities and meeting at the ASG level at least on a quarterly basis, should help ensure implementation and progress on integration related issues. Initial follow-up recommendations will be presented to the Policy Committee by December 2008. (Action: DPKO)
- v. DPA, in coordination with relevant UN Country Teams and UN entities at headquarters, will review current arrangements in countries with DPA led missions/offices and agree on steps to implement the above and other relevant guidance, as necessary, by the end of 2008. (Action: DPA)

cc: Deputy Secretary-General

Mr. Nambiar

Mr. Kim

Mr. Pascoe

Mr. Guéhenno

Mr. Holmes

Ms. Arbour

Mr. Akasaka

Mr. Sha

Mr. Michel

Mr. Dervis

Mr. Duarte

Mr. Guterres

Ms. Venemen

Ms. Sheeran

Ms. McAskie

Mr. Orr

UNITED NATIONS . INTEROFFICE MEMORANDUM

NATIONS UNIES + MÉMORANDUM INTÉRIEUR

PAGE 3

Annex

List of current countries/areas where the principle of integration should be applied

Africa

Burundi (BINUB)
Central African Republic (BONUCA/MINURCAT)
Chad (MINURCAT)
Cote d'Ivoire (UNOCI)
DRC (MONUC)
Guinea-Bissau (UNOGBIS)
Liberia (UNMIL)
Sierra Leone (UNIOSIL)
Somalia (UNPOS)
Sudan (UNMIS/UNAMID)
Uganda (Office of the Special Envoy)

Middle East

Iraq (UNAMI) Israel/oPt (UNSCO) Lebanon (UNSCOL)

Asia

Afghanistan (UNAMA) Nepal (UNMIN) Timor-Leste (UNMIT)

Europe

Kosovo (UNMIK)

Americas

Haiti (MINUSTAH)

¹ The following countries/areas with UN peacekeeping mission are not included since the relevant missions are not multidimensional, as required by decision (i): Ethiopia and Eritrea (UNMEE), Georgia (UNOMIG), Cyprus (UNFICYP), Pakistan and India (UNMOGIP), and Western Sahara (MINURSO). Also not included are countries with Special Representatives/Envoys that do not have a presence at the country level, e.g. Myanmar, or countries where the UN has some political involvement but no formal political mission/office/envoy (e.g., Kenya). Lastly, political offices with a regional mandate are not included (e.g., Central Asia and West Africa).

Annex 2 Terms of Reference

Study on Integration and Humanitarian Space

Background

The Secretary-General's June 2008 Policy Committee Decision on Integration reaffirmed integration as a guiding principle for all conflict and post conflict situations where the UN has a Country Team and a multi-dimensional peacekeeping operation or political mission/office. The decision specifically stated that "an integrated approach and integration arrangements can yield significant benefits for humanitarian operations", and that "integration arrangements should take full account of recognized humanitarian principles, allow for the protection of humanitarian space, and facilitate effective humanitarian coordination with all humanitarian actors".

While humanitarian actors recognize that the challenges to humanitarian space are many and varied, when it comes to integration, there continue to be serious concerns for humanitarian operations in four key areas: (i) the impact of integration on the security of humanitarian workers (ii) the impact of integration on access to and of beneficiaries and the ability of humanitarians to interact with non-state armed groups (in some instances labeled as "terrorist" groups); (iii) the related issue of how integration arrangements may influence the perception of humanitarian actors by beneficiaries, state, non state-actors, etc.; (iv) humanitarian advocacy or the 'humanitarian voice' in integration contexts.

Additional areas of concern are the impact of integration on the functioning and effectiveness of humanitarian leadership, humanitarian coordination arrangements and information exchange, particularly with regard to non-UN humanitarian actors.

In its meeting of 12 March 2010, the Integration Steering Group (ISG) considered the issue of "Humanitarian Space and Integration" and agreed on the need for an analytical study aimed at assessing the positive or negative impact of specific integration arrangements on humanitarian space.

Objectives of the Study

The proposed study will aim to:

- Analyse HQ and field practices in an effort to document the positive and/or negative impacts of integration arrangements on humanitarian space, particularly in the priority areas of security, access, negotiations with non-state actors, perception, humanitarian advocacy, coordination, information management and leadership;
- Identify practices whereby integrated approaches have yielded significant benefits to humanitarian operations

- and conversely where they have negatively impacted humanitarian operations;
- Establish a shared understanding of concerns related to integration and humanitarian space;
- Makerecommendations towards the improved management of the positive and negative impacts of integration arrangements on humanitarian space considerations.

Methodology

The study will begin with a desk review of existing documentation on the issue of integration and humanitarian space (e.g. country analysis, policies, studies and lessons learned,⁶⁹ evaluations, after action reviews, end of assignment reviews, etc.)

The review, which will be undertaken by the focal point departments (DPKO, DPA and OCHA), in collaboration with ISG members and in consultation with key stakeholders (UN, international organizations, NGOs, etc.) will aim to develop the study's research questions.

On the basis of the desk review and the research questions, an external and independent Study Team will be commissioned to undertake an analytical study of the issue. The study phases will include stakeholder consultations, focused interviewing and four field reviews of integrated UN presences.

With regard to field reviews, these will include peacekeeping and special political missions' contexts and aim to cover different integration arrangements (i.e. structural and non-structural) and represent the scope of humanitarian space challenges. Possible countries for review include Afghanistan, DRC, Haiti, Lebanon, OPT, Somalia and Sudan.

Outputs/Products

The exercise will culminate in the preparation of a study to be submitted to the ISG, and other relevant stakeholder fora, presenting challenges and considerations related to integration and humanitarian space.

The study will propose strategic approaches and practical modalities to safeguard the ability of humanitarian actors to deliver effectively on their humanitarian mandates and missions in contexts where the concept of integration applies.

In particular, the study will aim to provide system-wide analysis, guidance or compilation of good practices and lessons learned on initiatives, mechanisms, procedures, arrangements or policies that have supported addressing humanitarian space concerns in relation to integration.

69 The study will review and aim to build on existing analysis, for example the Independent Study for the Expanded UN ECHA Core Group (May 2005).

Management of the Study

Under the aegis of the ISG, the study will be jointly managed by DPKO's Policy Evaluation and Training Division, DPA's Policy and Mediation Division and OCHA's Policy Development and Studies Branch. The management team will work in close coordination with the ISG Focal Point Group. OCHA will also

ensure close collaboration with the IASC Focal Points on Integration and the IASC Core Group on Humanitarian Space.

An external consultant team will be selected to carry out the review. The report will be submitted to the ISG and relevant stakeholder foras and disseminated publicly.



